
 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

SEPTEMBER 5, 2023 - 7:00 P.M. 

(810) 629-8631 
 

CALL TO ORDER – PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – 7:00 P.M. 
 

ROLL CALL 

 

PUBLIC HEARING - Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Special Assessment 

The purpose of the public hearing is to explain and answer questions pertaining to the 

Roll and to hear objections to the Roll. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA – OR CHANGES 
 

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA  

1. Regular Board Meeting Minutes – August 15, 2023 

2. Clerk’s Warrants and Bills – August 30, 2023 
 

COMMUNICATION 
 

PUBLIC REMARKS 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

NEW BUSINESS 

1. Discussion with Planning Commission about the Master Plan and solar moratorium. 

2. Resolution confirming the Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Special 

Assessment Roll. 

3. Request of the Clerk to attend the MTA Clerk’s Professional Development Retreat. 
 

MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS 
 

PUBLIC REMARKS 
 

CLOSED SESSION- to amend a previous judgment. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 
 

Supervisor Mike Cunningham             Clerk Pam Moughler 
 

Please note: Anyone wishing to address the Township Board may do so during Public Remarks. The 

Tyrone Township Board of Trustees has established a policy limiting the time a person may address the 

Township Board at a regular or at a special meeting during the Public Remarks section of the agenda to 

three minutes. The Board reserves the right to place an issue under the New Business section of the 

agenda if additional discussion is warranted or to respond later either verbally or in writing through an 

appropriately appointed Township Official. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or 

services should contact the Tyrone Township Clerk at (810) 629-8631 at least seven days prior to the 

meeting. 



CONSENT AGENDA 
 

1. Regular Board Meeting Minutes – August 15, 2023 
2. Clerk’s Warrants and Bills – August 30, 2023 

 
 



 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 1 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

Supervisor Cunningham called the meeting of the Tyrone Township Board to order with the 

Pledge of Allegiance on August 15, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. at the Tyrone Township Hall.  

 

ROLL CALL 

Present: Supervisor Mike Cunningham, Clerk Pam Moughler, Treasurer Jennifer Eden, Trustees 

Herman Ferguson, Kurt Schulze, Zach Tucker, and David Walker. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING – Police & Fire Protection Special Assessment 

The purpose of the public hearing was to hear and consider comments and objections to the cost 

estimates and the creation of the special assessment district. Supervisor Cunningham opened the 

public hearing at 7:01 p.m. Todd Lane (Mabley Hill Rd.) objected. Brett Hammond, Scott 

Dietrich, Richard Sirna, John McIntosh, and Jannette Ropeta, and Michael Scheiven did not 

oppose the special assessment, but made general comments regarding manufactured home parks, 

enforcement of traffic speeds and website/email. The Supervisor closed the public hearing at 

7:35 p.m. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING – Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Special Assessment 

The purpose of the public hearing was to hear any objections to the proposed project. Supervisor 

Cunningham opened the public hearing at 7:35 p.m. Two general comments were made. There 

was no opposition. The Supervisor closed the public hearing at 7:37 p.m. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA – OR CHANGES 

Trustee Walker moved to approve the agenda as presented. (Trustee Tucker seconded.)  The 

motion carried; all ayes.  

 

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Regular Board Meeting Minutes – August 1, 2023 

2. Treasurer’s Report – July 31, 2023 

3. Clerk’s Warrants and Bills – August 9, 2023 

 

Trustee Walker moved to approve the consent agenda as presented.  (Trustee Ferguson 

seconded.)  The motion carried; all ayes.   

 

COMMUNICATIONS 

1. Livingston County Sheriff Report- July 31, 2023 

2. Fire Service Report- August 9, 2023 

 

Trustee Schulze moved to receive and place on file Communications #1-2 as presented. (Trustee 

Tucker seconded.)  The motion carried; all ayes. 



 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 2 

 

 

PUBLIC REMARKS 

Katy Michalski, field representative for Elissa Slotkin (7th District of Michigan) introduced 

herself and invited residents to contact the State Representative’s office with any concerns. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

None. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

1. Resolution to adopt distribution of levy upon land in Police and Fire Protection 

Special Assessment District. 

 

RESOLUTION #230803 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP, LIVINGSTON COUNTY 

 

POLICE AND FIRE PROTECTION 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. X0082 

 

DISTRIBUTION OF LEVY UPON LAND IN 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

 

WHEREAS, the Tyrone Township Board, after due and legal notice, held a public hearing upon 

a proposed assessment roll prepared by the Supervisor and assessing officer of the Township for 

the purpose of defraying the expenses of the special assessment district; and 

 

WHEREAS, that public hearing was preceded by proper notice in the Tri-County Times and the 

Livingston County Press & Argus newspapers of general circulation in the Township, and by 

first-class mail notice to each property owner of record within the district and upon the 

assessment roll; and 

 

WHEREAS, comments were received from those present at the public hearing concerning the 

assessment roll and an opportunity was given to all present to be heard on the matter; and 

 

WHEREAS, a record of those present to protest, and of written protests submitted at or before 

the public hearing was made a part of the minutes of the hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has duly inspected the proposed assessment roll and 

considered all the comments and proposed amendments thereto and has found the proposed 

assessment roll to be correct, just and reasonable: 



 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 3 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

 

1. The assessment roll submitted by the Supervisor and assessing officer of the Township shall 

hereafter be designated as POLICE AND FIRE PROTECTION SPECIAL ASSESSMENT 

DISTRICT NO. X0082 and shall hereby be confirmed as the assessment roll for the district. 

 

2.  The term of the Special Assessment District is five years. The assessments in the district shall 

be as follows: a) vacant parcels, $100.00; b) parcels with residential structures, $175.00; c) 

parcels containing structures or trailers with multiple units, $275.00, plus an additional $150.00 

per unit; and (d) all other parcels, $275.00. 

 

3.  Future due installments of an assessment against any parcel of land may be paid to the 

Township Treasurer any time in full with interest accrued through the month in which the final 

installment is paid in accordance with the Michigan Public Act 33 of 1951, as amended.  If any 

installment of a special assessment is not paid when due, then the installment shall be considered 

to be delinquent and there shall be collected, in addition to interest as provided in this section, a 

penalty at the rate of 1 percent for each month, or fraction of a month, that the installment 

remains unpaid before being reported to the Township Board for reassessment upon the 

Township tax roll, also in accordance with PA 33. 

 

4.  The assessments made in the special assessment roll are hereby ordered and directed to be 

collected by the Township Treasurer, and the Township Clerk shall deliver the special 

assessment roll to the Treasurer with his warrant attached, commanding the Treasurer to collect 

the assessments in accordance with the direction of the Township Board and PA 33. 

 

5.  All resolutions and parts of resolutions in conflict with the provisions of this resolution be and 

the same are hereby rescinded. 

 

RESOLVED BY:  Trustee Tucker 

SUPPORTED BY:  Trustee Walker 

 

VOTE: Cunningham, yes; Walker, yes; Eden, no; Tucker, yes; Schulze, yes; Ferguson, yes; 

Moughler, yes. 

 

ADOPTION DATE:  August 15, 2023 

 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CLERK 

 

The undersigned, being the duly qualified and acting Clerk of Tyrone Township, Livingston 

County, Michigan, hereby certifies that (1) the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a 

resolution adopted by the Township Board at a regular meeting, held on August 15, 2023, at 

which meeting a quorum was present and remained throughout, (2) the original thereof is on file  



 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 4 

 

in the records in my office, (3) the meeting was conducted, and public notice thereof was given, 

pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act (Act No. 267, Public Acts of 

Michigan, 1976, as amended) and (4) minutes of such meeting were kept and will be or have 

been made available as required thereby. 

 

Pamela Moughler 

Township Clerk 

 

 
2. Resolution to approve the Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance project and 

direct the preparation of the special assessment roll. 

 

RESOLUTION #230804 

TOWNSHIP OF TYRONE, LIVINGSTON COUNTY 

 

PARKIN LANE SEASONAL ROAD MAINTENANCE PROJECT 2023 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING PROJECT DETAILS AND DIRECTING THE  

PREPARATION OF THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENT ROLL 



 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 5 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Township has determined to proceed with the 

establishment of contracted seasonal snow clearing, road salting, and general road maintenance 

of Parkin Lane in the Township as described in Exhibit A (the “Project”); 

 

WHEREAS, prior to the first public hearing on the Project, the Board of Trustees of the 

Township received petitions requesting that the Board of Trustees of the Township proceed with 

the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Township has tentatively determined to use special 

assessments to raise the funds to pay the costs of the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Township held a public hearing on the Project and the proposed Special 

Assessment District for the Project on August 15, 2023; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

1. The Board of Trustees of the Township approves the completion of the Project and 

approves the plans and cost estimates for the Project, which are on file with the Township Clerk 

and which are identified as “Plans and Cost Estimates for the Parkin Lane Seasonal Road 

Maintenance Project (2023).” 

2. The Board of Trustees of the Township determines that the petitions for the Project 

submitted to the Board of Trustees were sufficient to satisfy the requirements under Act No. 188, 

Michigan Public Acts of 1954, as amended; for initiating an improvement project.   

 

3. The Board of Trustees of the Township determines that the Special Assessment District 

for the Project shall consist of the parcels identified in Exhibit B.  The term of the Special 

Assessment District shall be through the end of the snow season of 2034. 

4. The Township Supervisor is directed to prepare a proposed Special Assessment Roll for 

the Special Assessment District identified in Exhibit B.  The Special Assessment Roll shall 

describe all the parcels of land to be assessed with the names of the respective record owners of 

each parcel, if known, and the total amount to be assessed against each parcel of land.  When the 

Township Supervisor completes the Special Assessment Roll, he shall affix his certificate to the 

roll, which certificate shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit C to this resolution. 

5. All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with this resolution are hereby rescinded. 

A vote on the foregoing resolution was taken and was as follows: 

RESOLVED BY:   Trustee Schulze 

SUPPORTED BY:   Trustee Tucker 



 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 6 

 

 

VOTE:  Eden, yes; Tucker, yes; Walker, yes; Ferguson, yes; Cunningham, yes; Schulze, yes; 

Moughler, yes. 

 

ADOPTION DATE:  August 15, 2023 
 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CLERK 
 

The undersigned, being the duly qualified and acting Clerk of Tyrone Township, Livingston 

County, Michigan, hereby certifies that (1) the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a 

resolution adopted by the Township Board at a regular meeting, held on August 15, 2023, at 

which meeting a quorum was present and remained throughout, (2) the original thereof is on file 

in the records in my office, (3) the meeting was conducted, and public notice thereof was given, 

pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act (Act No. 267, Public Acts of 

Michigan, 1976, as amended) and (4) minutes of such meeting were kept and will be or have 

been made available as required thereby. 

 

Pamela Moughler 

Township Clerk 

 

__________________ 

Exhibit A 

Description of the Project 

__________________ 

 

The project (the “Project”) will consist of the establishment of contractors for seasonal 

snow clearing, road salting, and general maintenance of Parkin Lane in Tyrone Township. 

__________________ 

 

Exhibit B 

Description of the Special Assessment District 

__________________ 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

PARKIN LANE SEASONAL ROAD MAINTENANCE PROJECT (2023) 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

 

The Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Project (2012) Special Assessment District (the 

“Special Assessment District”) has been formed to specially assess the properties benefited from 

the Project.  The Project will consist of the establishment of contractors for seasonal snow 

clearing, road salting, and general maintenance of Parkin Lane in the Township.  The proposed  



 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 7 

Special Assessment District is described as follows: All properties located along Parkin Lane in 

Tyrone Township.  The Special Assessment District includes the properties shown in the Special 

Assessment District on the map attached as Appendix I and includes the specific properties that 

are identified by the following permanent parcel numbers: 

4704-02-300-001 

4704-02-300-019 

4704-02-300-020 

4704-02-300-021 

4704-02-300-024 

4704-02-300-025 

4704-02-300-026 

4704-02-300-027 

4704-02-300-030 

4704-02-300-031 

4704-02-300-033 

4704-02-300-035 

4704-02-300-036 

4704-02-300-037 

4704-02-300-039 

4704-02-300-040 

4704-02-300-041 

4704-02-300-042 

4704-02-300-044 

4704-03-400-010 

4704-03-400-015 

4704-03-400-019 

4704-03-400-020 

4704-03-400-021 

4704-03-400-023 

4704-03-401-001 

4704-03-401-002 

4704-03-401-003 

4704-03-401-005 

4704-03-401-006 

4704-03-401-007 

 

 

APPENDIX I 

Map of Special Assessment District 

 



 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 8 

 

  



 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 9 

 

 
 

 

3. Resolution to acknowledge the filing of the special assessment roll, schedule a 

hearing, and direct the issuance of statutory notices and ratify previous actions 

for the Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Project. 

 

RESOLUTION #230805 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP, LIVINGSTON COUNTY 

PARKIN LANE SEASONAL ROAD MAINTENANCE PROJECT 2023 

RESOLUTION ACKNOWLEDGING THE FILING OF THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENT ROLL, 

SCHEDULING A HEARING, DIRECTING THE ISSUANCE OF STATUTORY  

NOTICES AND RATIFYING PREVIOUS ACTIONS 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Township has determined to proceed with the 

establishment of contractors for the seasonal snow clearing, road salting, and general road 

maintenance of Parkin Lane in the Township as described in Exhibit A (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Township has tentatively determined to use special 

assessments to raise the funds to pay the costs of the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Special Assessment District for the Project has been determined by the Board of 

Trustees of the Township;  

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Township has directed the Township Supervisor to 

prepare the proposed Special Assessment Roll; and  

WHEREAS, the Township Supervisor has prepared the Special Assessment Roll entitled 

“Special Assessment Roll for the Tyrone Township Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance 

Project (2023)” (the “Proposed Roll”) and has filed the Proposed Roll with the Township Clerk; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

1. The Board of Trustees of the Township acknowledges that the Township Supervisor has 

filed the Proposed Roll with the Township Clerk. 

2. The Board of Trustees of the Township acknowledges that the Township Supervisor has 

certified that (a) the Proposed Roll was prepared in accordance with the direction of the Board of 



 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 10 

 

Trustees of the Township and (b) the Proposed Roll was prepared in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Michigan.  

3. In accordance with Act No. 188, Michigan Public Acts of 1954, as amended, and the 

laws of the State of Michigan, there shall be a public hearing on the Proposed Roll. 

4. The public hearing will be held on September 5, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. at the Tyrone 

Township Offices, 8420 Runyan Lake Road, Fenton, Michigan. 
 

5. The Township Clerk is directed to mail, by first class mail, a notice of the public hearing 

to each owner of or party in interest in property to be assessed, whose name appears upon the last 

Township tax assessment records.  The last Township tax assessment records means the last 

assessment roll for ad valorem tax purposes which has been reviewed by the Township board of 

review, as supplemented by any subsequent changes in the names or addresses of such owners or 

parties listed thereon.  The notice to be mailed by the Township Clerk shall be similar to the 

notice attached as Exhibit B and shall be mailed by first class mail on or before August 25, 2023. 

 

6. The Township Clerk is directed to publish a notice of the public hearing in a newspaper 

of general circulation within the Township.  The notice shall be published twice, once on August 

27, 2023 and once on September 3, 2023.  The notice shall be in a form substantially similar to 

the notice attached as Exhibit B. 

 

7. All previous actions taken to date of the Board of Trustees of the Township and of the 

Township officials with respect to the Project are hereby ratified and approved. 

 

8. All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with this resolution are hereby rescinded. 

 

A vote on the foregoing resolution was taken and was as follows: 

 

RESOLVED BY:   Trustee Walker 

SUPPORTED BY:   Trustee Ferguson 

 

VOTE:  Cunningham, yes; Ferguson, yes; Schulze, yes; Tucker, yes; Eden, yes; Walker, yes; 

Moughler, yes. 

 

ADOPTION DATE:  August 15, 2023 

 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CLERK 

 

The undersigned, being the duly qualified and acting Clerk of Tyrone Township, Livingston 

County, Michigan, hereby certifies that (1) the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a 

resolution adopted by the Township Board at a regular meeting, held on August 15, 2023, at  



 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 11 

 

which meeting a quorum was present and remained throughout, (2) the original thereof is on file 

in the records in my office, (3) the meeting was conducted, and public notice thereof was given, 

pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act (Act No. 267, Public Acts of 

Michigan, 1976, as amended) and (4) minutes of such meeting were kept and will be or have 

been made available as required thereby. 

  

Pamela Moughler 

Township Clerk 

__________________ 

 

Exhibit A 

Description of the Project 

__________________ 

 

The project (the “Project”) will consist of the establishment of contractors for seasonal snow 

clearing, road salting, and general road maintenance of Parkin Lane in Tyrone Township. 

__________________ 

Exhibit B 

 

Form of Notice of Public Hearing Upon Special 

Assessment Roll for the Tyrone Township 

Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Project (2023) 

Special Assessment District 

__________________ 

 

Tyrone Township 

Livingston County, Michigan 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING UPON SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENT ROLL FOR THE TYRONE TOWNSHIP PARKIN LANE  

SEASONAL ROAD MAINTENANCE PROJECT (2023)  

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN: 

(1) The Township Board of Tyrone Township, Livingston County, Michigan (the 

“Township”) in accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan, has determined to levy 

special assessments against lands in the TYRONE TOWNSHIP PARKIN LANE SEASONAL 

ROAD MAINTENANCE PROJECT (2023) SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT (the 

“District”) that will be benefited by the establishment of contractors for the seasonal Parkin Lane 



 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 12 

 

in the Township.  The District consists of the properties identified on the map below and is more 

specifically identified by the following property identification numbers: 

 

4704-02-300-001 

4704-02-300-019 

4704-02-300-020 

4704-02-300-021 

4704-02-300-024 

4704-02-300-025 

4704-02-300-026 

4704-02-300-027 

4704-02-300-030 

4704-02-300-031

4704-02-300-033 

4704-02-300-035 

4704-02-300-036 

4704-02-300-037 

4704-02-300-039 

4704-02-300-040 

4704-02-300-041 

4704-02-300-042 

4704-02-300-044 

4704-03-400-010 

4704-03-400-015

 4704-03-400-019 

4704-03-400-020 

4704-03-400-021 

4704-03-400-023 

4704-03-401-001 

4704-03-401-002 

4704-03-401-003 

4704-03-401-005 

4704-03-401-006 

4704-03-401-007

 

(2) The proposed special assessment roll for the District (the “Roll”) has been prepared and 

is now on file in the office of the Township Clerk and is available at such office for public 

examination during the hours the Township Office is regularly open to the public for business. 

(3) The Township Board will conduct a public hearing beginning at 7:00 p.m., local time, on 

September 5, 2023, at the Tyrone Township Offices, 8420 Runyan Lake Road, Fenton, 

Michigan, to explain and answer questions pertaining to the Roll and to hear objections to the 

Roll.  Any person objecting to the Roll must file his or her objections before the close of the 

public hearing or within such additional time (if any) as the Township Board may grant. 

(4) The owner or other person having an interest in property that is specially assessed is 

entitled to file a written appeal with the Michigan Tax Tribunal within 30 days after confirmation 

of the Roll.  However, appearance and protest at the public hearing are required by law in order 

to appeal the special assessment to the Michigan Tax Tribunal.  An owner or other party in 

interest or his or her agent may (i) appear in person at the hearing to protest the assessment or (ii) 

file an appearance and protest by letter before the close of the hearing.  The Township Board will 

maintain a record of the persons who appear and protest at the hearing.  If the hearing is 

terminated or adjourned for the day before a party is provided the opportunity to be heard, a 

party whose appearance was so recorded shall be considered to have protested the special 

assessment in person. 

This notice is given by order of the Tyrone Township Board.     

   

Dated: August 15, 2012                                  Pamela Moughler 

                  Tyrone Township Clerk 



 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 13 

Map of Special Assessment District 

 

 



 

 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 

APPROVED MINUTES – AUGUST 15, 2023 – PAGE 14 

 

4. Write off of uncollectible fire service charge. 

 

Trustee Tucker moved to write off the uncollectible amount of $1361.00 fire service charge.  

(Treasurer Eden seconded.)  The motion carried; all ayes. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS 

None. 

 

PUBLIC REMARKS 

Two residents made comments. 

 

CLOSED SESSION- Pursuant to MCL 15.268 to meet with counsel to address litigation and 

settlement issues in the matter of Tyrone Four LLC v Tyrone Twp, pending in the Livingston 

County Circuit Court. 

RESOLUTION #230806 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP, LIVINGSTON COUNTY 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

Trustee Schulze resolved to go into closed session pursuant to MCL 15.268 to meet with counsel 

to address litigation and settlement issues in the matter of Tyrone Four LLC v Tyrone Township 

pending in the Livingston County Circuit Court. (Trustee Tucker seconded.)  

 

Roll call: Ferguson, yes; Cunningham, yes; Schulze, yes; Eden, yes; Walker, yes; Tucker, yes; 

Moughler, yes. 

 

The board convened in closed session at 8:02 p.m. 

 

* * * * *Closed Session Minutes* * * * * 

 

The board reconvened in open session at 8:17 p.m. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Trustee Tucker moved to adjourn.  (Trustee Ferguson seconded.)  The motion carried; all ayes.  

The meeting adjourned at 8:17 p.m. 



CHECK REGISTER FOR TYRONE TOWNSHIP 1/2Page: 08/30/2023 09:20 AM
User: PMOUGHLER
DB: Tyrone

CHECK DATE FROM 08/11/2023 - 08/30/2023

AmountVendor NameVendorAppCheckBankCheck Date

Bank 001 STATE BANK COMMON ACCOUNT

233.53 AT&T MOBILITYAT&T MOBILAP2366800108/15/2023
1,834.50 BAUCKHAM, THALL, SEEBER,

KAUFMAN...
04AP2366900108/15/2023

10,677.89 BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF
MICHIGAN

297AP2367000108/15/2023
124.00 VC3 INC.172AP2367100108/15/2023
300.00 VIERS, SAMANTHAVIERS SAMAP2367200108/15/2023
75.00 BEARDSLEY, CONNIEBEARDSLEYCAP2367300108/22/2023

4,252.50 CARLISLE/WORTMAN ASSOCIATES, INCCWAAP2367400108/22/2023
129.98 CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS108AP2367500108/22/2023

8,950.00 HARTLAND CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS706AP2367600108/22/2023
196.28 RICOH USA INCRICOH LEASAP2367700108/22/2023

1,030.00 VOYA INSTITUTIONAL TRUST COMPANYVOYAAP2367800108/22/2023
1,026.60 AFLACAFLACAP2367900108/29/2023

686.25 CHASE CARD SERVICECHASE CARDAP2368000108/29/2023
469.36 CONSUMERS ENERGY41AP2368100108/29/2023
51.00 GRIFFIN PEST SOLUTIONS, INCGRIFFINAP2368200108/29/2023

162,194.01 LIVINGSTON COUNTY ROAD COMMISS93AP2368300108/29/2023
1,000.00 PFM FINANCIAL ADVISORS LLC115AP2368400108/29/2023
2,881.50 SPICER GROUPSPICERAP2368500108/29/2023

196,112.40 Total of 18 Disbursements:
0.00 Less 0 Void Checks:

196,112.40 Total of 18 Checks:

Bank 022 STATE BANK - PUBLIC SAFETY checking

5,904.00 HARTLAND AREA FIRE DEPARTMENT176AP137902208/15/2023
V990.00 LIVINGSTON CTY DAILY PRESS &

ARGUS
235AP138002208/15/2023

154.00 ROSATI,SCHULTZ,JOPPICH&AMTSBUECH
LER

121AP138102208/15/2023
V1,029.50 LIVINGSTON DAILY PRESS & ARGUSPRESS&ARGUAP138202208/29/2023

990.00 LIVINGSTON DAILY PRESS & ARGUSPRESS&ARGUAP138302208/29/2023

7,048.00 Total of 3 Disbursements:
2,019.50 Less 2 Void Checks:

9,067.50 Total of 5 Checks:

Bank 101 FLAGSTAR-SEWER DEBT-CKG

7,431.10 LIVINGSTON COUNTY DRAIN COMM.24AP120110108/29/2023

7,431.10 Total of 1 Disbursements:
0.00 Less 0 Void Checks:

7,431.10 Total of 1 Checks:

Bank 108 TAX FUND FLAGSTAR 

35,178.60 FENTON SCHOOLS806AP334110808/22/2023
21,588.56 GISDGISDAP334210808/22/2023
18,995.76 HARTLAND CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS706AP334310808/22/2023
27,167.78 LESALESAAP334410808/22/2023
29,325.31 LINDEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS945AP334510808/22/2023

415,308.73 LIVINGSTON COUNTY TREASURER871AP334610808/22/2023

547,564.74 Total of 6 Disbursements:
0.00 Less 0 Void Checks:

547,564.74 Total of 6 Checks:

Bank 203 TRUST & AGENCY 701 CKG

5,534.00 TYRONE HISTORICAL SOCIETY663AP205520308/22/2023

5,534.00 Total of 1 Disbursements:
0.00 Less 0 Void Checks:

5,534.00 Total of 1 Checks:



CHECK REGISTER FOR TYRONE TOWNSHIP 2/2Page: 08/30/2023 09:20 AM
User: PMOUGHLER
DB: Tyrone

CHECK DATE FROM 08/11/2023 - 08/30/2023

AmountVendor NameVendorAppCheckBankCheck Date

763,690.24 Report Total of 29 Disbursements:

2,019.50 Less 2 Void Checks:
765,709.74 Report Total of 31 Checks:



NEW BUSINESS #1 
 

Discussion with Planning Commission about the Master 
Plan and solar moratorium. 

 



Introduction Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 1-1 

INTRODUCTION 
1.1 PURPOSE OF A MASTER PLAN  

Planning is a process that involves the conscious selection of policy choices related 

to land use, growth, and physical development. The decisions Tyrone Township 

makes over the next several years will significantly impact the character and quality 

of life as the Township moves into the future. 

The Township is located at the northern edge of development in Southeastern 

Michigan. Development pressures are likely to increase as development spreads. 

People are attracted to the Township’s rolling hills, attractive vistas, and rural 

character. 

Township residents have long expressed concern about maintaining rural character. 

This Master Plan is intended to protect and preserve the qualities that residents value 

most. It recognizes that growth and other pressures will create needs that must be 

addressed. 

This Master Plan states the goals and identifies the objectives and strategies related 

to land use and development that the Township will pursue to achieve its goals. 

 

1.2 HOW THE MASTER PLAN IS USED 

The Master Plan is a general statement of the goals and objectives for land use and 

development, providing a single, comprehensive view for the community’s future. In 

addition, the Master Plan serves many functions and is to be used in a variety of 

ways, including, but not limited to, the following: 

➢ The Master Plan serves as an aid in daily decision making. The goals and 

objectives defined in the Master Plan guide the Planning Commission, 

Township Board, and other bodies in their determinations related to zoning, 

subdivision, capital improvements, and other matters related to land use 

and development. It provides a stable, long-term basis for decision making 

and a balance of land uses specific to the Township’s character. 

➢ The Master Plan provides the statutory basis upon which zoning decisions 

are made. The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (PA 110 of 2006) requires that 

zoning ordinances be based on a plan intended to promote the public 

health, safety, and general welfare. It is important to note that the Master 

Plan does not replace other Township ordinances. 

➢ The Master Plan attempts to coordinate public improvements and private 

developments.  For example, public investments like roads, sewer, water, 

or other infrastructure improvements, should be located in areas identified 



Introduction Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 1-2 

in the Master Plan as resulting in the most significant benefit to the 

Township and the community. 

➢ Finally, the Master Plan serves as an educational tool, providing citizens, 

property owners, developers, and adjacent communities a clear indication 

of the Township’s direction for the future. 

In summary, the Tyrone Township Master Plan is the only officially adopted document 

that sets forth a comprehensive agenda for achieving goals and objectives related to 

land use and development. It is a long-range statement of general goals and 

objectives aimed at the unified and coordinated development of the Township in a 

manner that compliments the goals of nearby communities, wherever possible. It 

helps to develop a balance of orderly change in a thoughtful and intentional way. It 

provides the basis for all zoning and land use decisions. 

 

1.3 AUTHORITY TO PREPARE A MASTER PLAN 

Tyrone Township’s authority to prepare a master plan is established in the Michigan 

Planning Enabling Act (PA 33 of 2008), which states: 

(1) A local unit of government may adopt, amend, and implement a master 

plan as provided in this act. 

(2) The general purpose of a master plan is to guide and accomplish, in the 

planning jurisdiction and its environs, development that satisfies all of 

the following criteria: 

a) Is coordinated, adjusted, harmonious, efficient, and economical. 

b) Considers the character of the planning jurisdiction in terms of such 

factors as trends in land use and population development. 

c) Will, in accordance with present and future needs, best promote 

public health, safety, morals, order, convenience, prosperity, and 

general welfare. 

d) Includes, among other things, promotion of or adequate provision 

for 1 or more of the following: 

i. A system of transportation to lessen congestion on streets and 

provide for safe and efficient movement of people and goods by 

motor vehicles, bicycles, pedestrians, and other legal users. 

ii. Safety from fire and other dangers. 

iii. Light and air. 

iv. Healthful and convenient distribution of population. 



Introduction Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 1-3 

v. Good civic design and arrangement and wise and efficient 

expenditure of public funds. 

vi. Public utilities such as sewage disposal and water supply and 

other public improvements. 

vii. Recreation. 

viii. The use of resources in accordance with their character and 

adaptability. 

The Planning Enabling Act also states: 

(2) A master plan shall also include those of the following subjects that 

reasonably can be considered as pertinent to the future development of 

the planning jurisdiction: 

a) A land use plan that consists in part of a classification and allocation 

of land for agriculture, residences, commerce, industry, recreation, 

ways and grounds, subject to subsection (5), public transportation 

facilities, public buildings, schools, soil conservation, forests, 

woodlots, open space, wildlife refuges, and other uses and 

purposes.  If a county has not adopted a zoning ordinance under 

former 1943 PA 183 or the Michigan zoning enabling act, 2006 PA 

110, MCL 125.3101 to 125.3702, a land use plan and program for 

the county may be a general plan with a generalized future land 

use map. 

The Planning Enabling Act also requires the Planning Commission to “make careful 

and comprehensive surveys and studies of present conditions and future growth of 

the municipality.” 

 

1.4 HISTORICAL CONTEXT 

This Master Plan represents Tyrone Township’s most-recent master plan. The 

previous Master Plan was adopted in 2012. 

The Planning Commission reviewed that Master Plan in November 2019 and 

determined it was generally still adequate yet noted several changes for future 

master plans. 

Due to constantly changing communities, conditions, and infrastructure, the 

information in a master plan becomes outdated over time. As conditions change, so 

do the opportunities and expectations for the future. It is essential to periodically 

review and update this Master Plan and reevaluate its core vision and strategies for 

implementation. 



Introduction Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 1-4 

The Planning Enabling Act requires the review of master plans at least once every 

five years. 

 

1.5 PLANNING PROCESS 

The process used to develop this Master Plan consists of three main phases, described 

below. 

➢ Where are we now? The first phase involves a comprehensive survey and 

study of existing conditions in the community and surrounding area, 

including community character, social characteristics, housing 

characteristics, economics, land use, transportation, and community 

facilities. These conditions are inventoried, updated, and mapped to 

document current status.  A community-wide survey and visioning sessions 

are conducted to gather opinions and preferences from residents and 

property owners. 

➢ Where do we want to be?  The second phase involves developing goals, 

objectives, and strategies outlining the community’s vision for what it wants 

to be. 

➢ How do we get there?  The final phase involves identifying specific steps 

and policies for the Township to pursue to achieve the community’s vision, 

including updating the future land use map to illustrate the desired 

orientation of land uses within the Township. 

[End of Introduction Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 



Community Character Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 2-1 

2.1 Overview 

Tyrone Township is located in the northeastern corner of Livingston County.  It 
borders Fenton Township and the City of Fenton in Genesee County to the north; 

Rose Township in Oakland County to the east; Hartland Township to the south; and 
Deerfield Township to the west. 

The Township is roughly 15 miles south of Flint, home to Kettering University and the 

University of Michigan Flint.  It is approximately 25 miles north of Ann Arbor, home 
to the University of Michigan.  Lansing and Michigan State University are roughly 45 

miles to the west.  Detroit is southeast, roughly 55 miles. 

The Township is slightly larger than 36 square miles, with 35.4 square miles of land 
and 1.2 square miles of surface water, including lakes and rivers. 

The Township is defined by its unique natural, rural character blend and proximity to 
major urbanized areas.  US-23, a divided, limited-access highway, runs north/south 

through the Township, connecting Flint and Ann Arbor.  I-96, which runs 
southeast/northwest, connecting Detroit and Lansing, is roughly 12 miles south of 
the Township. Approximately 10 miles north of the Township, US-23 merges with I-

75, which connects Flint and Detroit. This geography is highlighted in the map shown 
on page 2-2. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Community Character Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 2-2 

 

 



Community Character Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 2-3 

Attractive natural and rural features as well as easy access to urban areas have made 

the Township a popular bedroom community for those willing to exchange a longer 
daily commute for the natural, rustic character of the community.  The landscape 

features rolling hills, country roads, working farms, woodlands, wetlands, rivers and 
lakes.  Low-density single-family dwellings are found throughout the Township, with 
more-intensive development in the northeast near the City of Fenton and around the 

lakes. 

Because of these attractive features and access, the Township has experienced 

increasing development pressure.  While Tyrone’s population of 11,986 people is 
relatively modest, it is a significant increase over the past two decades of 41.6 
percent (from 2000).  The most recent SEMCOG projections predict an increase in 

the Township’s population to 12,486 people by 2045. 

Predicted population increases and reduced household sizes will create pressure to 

develop more land areas for residential uses and supporting businesses and industry. 

 

2.2 History and Development 

Tyrone Township was first settled in 1834 by 

George Dibble, George Cornell, and William 
Dawson. In the following two years, almost 
150 more settlers arrived and bought most of 

the available land in the Township, with many 
of them originating from upstate New York. 

The Township's name was proposed by 
Jonathan L Wolverton, who suggested it due 
to the presence of several early residents 

from County Tyrone in Ireland. 

The first school, church, and postal services 

were established in 1838, 1844, and 1852, 
respectively. Tyrone was officially established 
as a township in 1887. 

The Township’s history, as in most of 
Livingston County, has been rooted in 

agriculture.  In the 1800s, agriculture and 
related industries dominated the economy.  

The Township’s main agricultural products 
included hay, grains, sheep, dairy cattle, 
horses, and apples. 

The Township's emphasis on agriculture led 
to the development of large, widely spaced 

lots and few concentrated settlements. Although areas like Haller's Corners, 
Parshallville, Hill Top Orchards, and the original Townhouse site (Tyrone Center) 
showed potential as community centers, none ever became urban areas with local 

governments. As a result, the Township remains dispersed and lacks a central 
downtown area. 



Community Character Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 2-4 

In the last 50 years, residential growth has mainly occurred in the northern part of 

the Township, close to the City of Fenton, around the lakes, and along major roads. 
The region near Fenton has transformed from rural to suburban with large lots. 

Despite being primarily rural, agriculture is no longer a significant focus. Presently, 
the Township serves as a rural residential area for commuters who work in urbanized 
regions. 

 

2.3 Open Space/Rural Character 

Tyrone Township is known for its charming rural atmosphere and beautiful natural 
open spaces, including rolling hills, meadows, woodlands, and wetlands.  

The residential development areas are mostly comprised of five and ten acre lots with 
houses in the front and wooded areas in the back. The residents value preserving the 

Township's natural and rural character. According to the community survey, 45% of 
respondents identified the Township’s natural areas as a reason they were attracted 
to living in Tyrone Township. 

 

2.4 Lakes Influence 

Tyrone Township is within the Shiawassee River watershed and is home to several 

inland lakes, including Lake Tyrone, Lake Shannon, Runyan Lake, and Hoisington 
Lake.  Except for Hoisington Lake, relatively dense residential areas have developed 

around the lakes, creating an “Up North” environment that is extremely attractive 
and desirable for residents. 

The lakes can also provide recreational opportunities for residents, although limited 

access sites may limit the options for those who do not live along the lakes. 

Due to the nature of the lakes and the surrounding areas, they are vulnerable to 

environmental challenges, such as siltation and nutrient loading.  Although the lack 
of public boat launches along the Township’s lakes reduces these likelihoods, all lakes 
in Michigan are at risk of invasive species. 

Maintaining the water quality of the Township’s lakes is vital for health and preserving 
the value of these unique natural features and residential areas. 

In the community survey, 28% of respondents identified the Township’s lakes or 
rivers as a reason they were attracted to the community. 

 

2.5 US-23 Corridor Influence 

US-23 is a critical transportation corridor in Michigan and the Great Lakes Region, 
moving goods and people between Michigan and Ohio.  It links Flint, Ann Arbor, and 
Toledo.  Its northern end connects with I-75 and northern Michigan’s east coast.  Its 

southern end connects with I-75 and northern Ohio providing access to several 
east/west Interstates. As southeastern Michigan has grown, US-23 has functioned as 

an external loop around the western side of the heavily developed metropolitan 



Community Character Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 2-5 

Detroit area. Currently, the route is undergoing the installation of Flex Lanes in each 

direction to allow for additional vehicle capacity during peak travel hours. This work 
is estimated to be completed in 2026.  

It is an essential roadway in Tyrone Township, connecting the community to 
employment, shopping, services, dining, recreation, and entertainment.  According 
to Michigan Department of Transportation traffic counts, the two-way annual average 

daily traffic on US-23 north of White Lake Road is 39,147 vehicles per day (2021); 
between Center Road and White Lake Road is 61,364 vehicles per day (2021). This 

is an increase of 35 percent or 16,027 vehicles a day from 2011. South of Center 
Road is 49,805 vehicles per day (2021), which is an increase of 12 percent or 5,622 
vehicles a day from 2011.  Traffic volumes are higher on heavily traveled holidays. 

The Township recognizes the importance of US-23 in the daily lives of residents.  It 
provides critical external connections and opportunities.  However, it also brings 

noise, air pollutants, visual intrusions, and traffic safety concerns. 

The Township recognizes the need to carefully plan for the best use of the US-23 
corridor so that it will continue to serve the needs of residents and businesses. 

 

2.6 City of Fenton Influence 

The City of Fenton has a population of 12,050 (2020) and is located in the 
southeastern corner of Genesee County, sharing a border with Tyrone Township.  It 

is characterized by slow and steady growth, good schools, a strong downtown, and 
intense economic development along the US-23 corridor.  It also serves as a bedroom 

community to Flint and Oakland County. 

Although Fenton is not located within the Township, it profoundly affects its 
development patterns.  Existing land use maps show that most of the more intense 

housing development is in the northern one-third of the Township, near Fenton.   

Reasons for increased development in this area include proximity to fire protection 

services and shopping and retail opportunities.  Downtown Fenton has many small 
retail stores and services.  Several large retailers, such as Home Depot, Target, 
Tractor Supply Company, and Walmart, are located along US-23.  The City is also 

home to several destination restaurants, such as The Laundry, Fenton Winery & 
Brewery, and Fenton Hotel Tavern & Grille. 

Fenton has a large industrial area east of US-23 between Owen Road and Silver Lake 
Road. The proximity of these services and the fact that many Tyrone residents 

commute past this area may limit similar business opportunities within the Township. 

Tyrone residents frequently attend festivals and events in Fenton, such as Freedom 
Festival, Jinglefest, and the annual downtown Trick-or-Treat. 

 

 

 

 



Community Character Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 2-6 

2.7 City of Linden Influence 

The City of Linden has a population of 3,981 (2020) and is located in southern 

Genesee County, roughly 1.5 miles north of western Tyrone Township.  Linden is 
characterized by slow and steady growth, quality schools, and historic downtown with 
local shops and small businesses. 

Although Linden is not located within Tyrone Township, the northwestern portion of 
the Township is within Linden Community Schools. The school district and general 

proximity exposes Township residents to Linden shopping and service opportunities, 
including small businesses, fast food, convenience stores, medical services, 
veterinarians, and hardware. These residents may find it more convenient to visit 

these stores and develop shopping patterns that may impact the potential for similar 
business opportunities in the Township. 

 

2.8 Hartland Township Influence 

Hartland Township has a population of 15,256 (2020) and is located along Tyrone 
Township’s southern border.  It is characterized by steady growth, quality schools, 

and a central shopping district along the M-59/US-23 corridor, which has experienced 
significant growth since 2000. These factors, as well as the proximity of fire protection 
services along the border, will continue to have an impact on the Township’s future 

development patterns. 

Several large retailers, such as Kroger, Meijer, Target, Rural King, and numerous 

fast-food restaurants, are located along M-59.  Hartland also has a popular farmers’ 
market. The proximity of these services and the fact that many Tyrone residents 
commute past this area may limit similar business opportunities within the Township. 

The Hartland Village area also serves as an asset for the Township, especially the 
historic Music Hall. 

Hartland and Tyrone Township are partners in the Livingston Regional Sewer System. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Community Character Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 2-7 

2.9 Parshallville Influence 

Parshallville, located in the southwestern part of 

Tyrone Township and the northwestern portion of 
Hartland Township, began to develop in the mid-
1800s. Although not incorporated, this 

community’s strength has been its ability to 
maintain its bucolic, pastoral look and feel 

through the preservation of historic structures 
and resistance to modern development pressures.  

The community has been able to capitalize on its 

New England-style small-town charm, drawing 
weekend visitors.  Attractions include scenic views 

of the mill pond and Tom Walker’s Grist Mill, one 
of Michigan's last water-powered grist mills. 

Parshallville’s charm and proximity to Lake 

Shannon have attracted residents to this area of 
the Township. Existing land use maps show that 

Lake Shannon is surrounded by residential 
development.  This has created a second small 
population center in the otherwise dispersed Township. 

 

[End of Community Character Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 

 



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-1 

 

3.1 Overview 

The population of Tyrone Township has continued to grow.  According to the 2020 
Census, the Township’s population is 11,986 people.  Understanding population and 

demographic conditions and trends are important to properly plan for the Township’s 
future. 

Several important recent population trends in the Township are: 

➢ The population has continued to grow; 

➢ The population growth has slowed in recent years; 

➢ The population growth is above average of surrounding communities 
and the County; 

➢ The population has grown older; 

➢ The number of residents aged 19 and under has decreased; 

➢ The median age of residents is higher than that of the State and 

Livingston County. 

 

3.2 General Population 

Tyrone Township’s population in 2020 of 11,986 people represents an increase of 

41.6 percent from 2000 and an increase of 19.6 percent from 2010. 

Graphs 3.2.1 and 3.2.2 below show the Township’s population change since 1960 
and the population as well as population density for the Township and Livingston 

County since 1960.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-2 

 

Graph 3.2.1: Population in Tyrone Township and Livingston County 1960-

2020 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Graph 3.2.2: Population Density in Tyrone Township and Livingston County 
1960-2020 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

0

25,000

50,000

75,000

100,000

125,000

150,000

175,000

200,000

1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020

Tyrone Township Livingston County

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020

Tyrone Livingston County



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-3 

 

The population density of the Township has increased over the last 50 years, from 

42.3 to 332.9 people per square mile.  This increase has been at a similar but slightly 
slower rate than that of Livingston County. 

The Township experienced its largest percentage increase in population between 
1960 and 1970, when its population more than doubled from 1,523 to 3,437 people 
(125.7 percent).  The Township experienced its largest numeric increase between 

1970 and 1980, when its population increased by 2,640 people. 

The Township experienced its slowest growth between 1980 and 1990.  The 

population increased 12.8 percent during this period. 

Despite the slow economy of the 2000s, the Township’s population grew by almost 
the same number of people during the 2000-2020 decades as it did during the 1990s. 

This data is outlined in Table 3.2 located in the Social Analysis Article Appendix. 

Table 3.2.2 shows the population of the Township, surrounding communities, and 

Livingston County since 1980. 

 

Table 3.2.2: Population in Tyrone Township and Surrounding Communities 

1980-2020 

 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 
Percent 

Change 

Oceola Township 4,175 4,825 8,362 11,936 14,623 +250.3% 

Hartland Township 6,034 6,860 10,996 14,663 15,256 +152.8% 

Deerfield Township 2,611 3,000 4,087 4,170 5,765 +120.8% 

Holly Township1 8,486 8,852 10,037 11,362 18,003 +112.1% 

Tyrone Township 6,077 6,854 8,459 10,020 11,986 +97.2% 

City of Linden 2,174 2,407 2,861 3,991 4,142 +90.5% 

Argentine Township 4,180 4,651 6,521 6,913 7,091 +69.6% 

City of Fenton 8,098 8,434 10,582 11,756 12,050 +48.8% 

Fenton Township 11,744 10,073 12,968 15,552 16,843 +43.4% 

Rose Township 4,465 4,926 6,210 6,250 6,188 +38.6% 

Highland Township 16,958 17,941 19,169 19,202 19,172 +13.1% 

Livingston County 100,289 115,645 156,951 180,967 193,866 +93.3% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

1) Includes Holly Township and the Village of Holly. 

 



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-4 

 

A comparison with surrounding communities since 1980 shows that the Township’s 

population growth of 97.2 percent is slightly above average and larger than the 
population growth of the County. 

The Township’s population growth of 19.6 percent from 2010 to 2020, however, is 
amongst the highest of surrounding communities, behind only Holly Township (58.4 
percent), Deerfield Township (38.2 percent), and Oceola Township (22.5 percent) 

and significantly greater than the population growth for the County (7.1 percent). 

The most recent projections from the Southeast Michigan Council of Governments 

(SEMCOG) predict an increase in the Township’s population to 12,486 people by 2045, 
a 4.1 percent increase in population from 2020.  This would be a much slower rate 
of growth than experienced by the Township since at least 1960. 

 

3.3 Age Distribution 

The age distribution of Tyrone Township’s residents has changed.  Understanding 

these changes helps determine what types of services may be needed. 

The Township’s median age has increased from 42.4 to 43.4 years from 2010 to 

2020. 

The Township has fewer people in the family-forming years compared to the State 
and County.  The Township also has a significantly larger portion of its population in 

mature families.  Roughly one quarter of the Township’s residents are less than 20 
years old, which is generally consistent with the County.  However, the higher 

concentration of mature families suggests that there will be a lower birth rate in the 
Township compared to other communities in the future. 

Graph 3.3.1 below shows the age distribution in Tyrone Township since 2000.  Table 

3.3.1 is located in the Social Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-5 

 

Graph 3.3.1: Age Distribution in Tyrone Township Since 2000 

 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

The most significant increase was in the 65 years and over age group, which 
increased by 45.5 percent, from 1,199 to 1,743 people.  Another significant increase 
was in the 45 to 64 years age group, which increased 15.1 percent, from 3,382 to 

3,893 people.  The 20 to 44 years age group increased 11.4 percent, from 2,534 to 
2,825 people 

The most significant decrease was in the under 5 years old age group, which 
decreased 13.7 percent from 510 to 440 people.  The 5 to 19 years age group 
decreased 6.0 percent from 2,395 to 2,249 people. 

 

Graph 3.3.2 below shows the age distribution in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 

and the State of Michigan.  Table 3.3.2 is located in the Social Analysis Article 
Appendix. 

 

  

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

Under 5 Years: Pre-school

5 to 19 Years: School Age

20 to 44 Years: Family Forming

45 to 64 Years: Mature Families

65 Years and Over: Retirement

2020 2010 2000



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-6 

 

Graph 3.3.2: Age Distribution in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, and 

State of Michigan 2020 

 
(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

3.4 Sex Distribution 

Tyrone Township’s proportional splits in males and females are similar to that of 

Livingston County and the State of Michigan.  The percentage of men in the Township 
is slightly larger than in the County.  The percentage of women in the Township is 
slightly larger than in the County.  However, the difference is statistically 

insignificant. 

Graph 3.4 below shows the sex distribution for Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 

and the State of Michigan.  Table 3.4 is located in the Social Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

Under 5 Years: Pre-school

5 to 19 Years: School Age

20 to 44 Years: Family Forming

45 to 64 Years: Mature Families

65 Years and Over: Retirement

Tyrone Township Livingston County State of Michigan



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-7 

 

Graph 3.4: Sex Distribution in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, and 

State of Michigan 2020 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

3.5 Racial Composition 

Tyrone Township, similar to Livingston County, is relatively homogenous with 

primarily white populations. 

The Township is 97.4 percent white, which is slightly higher than the County, which 

is 96.3 percent white, and significantly higher than the State, which is 78.4 percent 
white.  The State has a higher percentage of African Americans, American Indians, 
Asians, Native Hawai’ians and Pacific Islanders, and Hispanics or Latinos than either 

the Township or the County. 

The racial composition of the Township is generally similar to that of surrounding 

communities and the County.  For example, the City of Fenton is 94.9 percent white; 
Hartland Township is 90.9 percent white; Deerfield Township is 92.8 percent white; 
and Rose Township is 89.4 percent white. 

Hispanics and Latinos are not included in the graph below because the US Census 
records this data separately.  The percentage of Hispanics and Latinos are 3.0 percent 

in the Township, 2.4 percent in the County, and 5.1 percent in the State. 

Graph 3.5 below shows the racial composition for Tyrone Township, Livingston 
County, and the State of Michigan.  Table 3.5 is located in the Social Analysis Article 

Appendix. 

 

 

  

49.3% 50.2% 49.2%

50.7% 49.8% 50.8%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Tyrone Township Livingston County State of Michigan

Male Female



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-8 

 

Graph 3.5: Racial Composition in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, and 

State of Michigan 2020 

 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

3.6 Education 

Tyrone Township generally has higher educational attainment levels than Livingston 

County and the State of Michigan.  The largest difference is in the population that did 
not graduate high school or whose highest level of education is a high school degree.  

The Township has a higher percentage of residents with an associate degree, 
bachelor’s degree, or graduate degree. 

While the percentage of residents with higher education in the Township, County, 

and State all increased from 2010 to 2020, the County and State saw greater 
increases in the percentage of residents with bachelor’s degrees or graduate degrees. 

Graph 3.6 below shows the highest level of educational attainment for those 25 years 
old and older in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, and the State of Michigan.  
Table 3.6 is located in the Social Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

White

Black or African American

American Indian and Alaska Native

Asian

Native Hawai’ian and Other Pacific 

Islander

Some Other Race

Tyrone Township Livingston County State of Michigan



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-9 

 

Graph 3.6: Educational Attainment Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 

and State of Michigan 2010/2020 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

[Balance of page intentionally blank.] 

 

  

0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0% 25.0% 30.0%

Did Not Graduate High School

High School Graduate

Some College

Associate Degree

Bachelor's Degree

Graduate/ Professional Degree

Tyrone Township Livingston County State of Michigan



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-10 

 

Social Analysis Appendix 

 

Table 3.2: Population in Tyrone Township 1960-2020 

Year Population 
Numeric 
Change 

Percent 
Change 

People/ 
Square Mile 

1960 1,523   42.3 

1970 3,437 + 1,914 + 125.7% 95.5 

1980 6,077 + 2,640 +76.8% 168.8 

1990 6,854 + 777 +12.8% 190.4 

2000 8,459 +1,605 +23.4% 235.0 

2010 10,020 +1,561 +18.5% 283.0 

2020 11,986 +1,966 +19.6% 332.9 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

 

Table 3.3.1: Age Distribution in Tyrone Township Since 2000 

Age Group 2000  2010  2020  

Under 5 Years 

Pre-school 
533 6.3% 510 5.1% 440 4.2% 

5 to 19 Years 

School Age 
2,104 24.9% 2,395 23.9% 2,249 21.4% 

20 to 44 Years 

Family Forming 
2,688 31.8% 2,534 25.3% 2,825 26.9% 

45 to 64 Years 

Mature Families 
2,476 29.3% 3,382 33.7% 3,893 30.9% 

65 Years and 

Over 

Retirement 

658 7.8% 1,199 11.9% 1,743 16.6% 

 (Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

 

[Balance of page intentionally blank.] 

 

  



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-11 

 

Table 3.3.2: Age Distribution in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, and 

State of Michigan 2020 

Age Group 
Tyrone 

Township 
 

Livingston 

County 
 

State of 

Michigan 
 

Under 5 Years 

Pre-school 
440 4.2% 9,612 5.0% 568,326 5.7% 

5 to 19 Years 

School Age 
2,689 21.4% 35,474 18.7% 1,859,662 18.7% 

20 to 44 Years 

Family Forming 
2,825 26.9% 53,699 28.2% 3,146,457 31.5% 

45 to 64 Years 

Mature Families 
3,239 30.9% 59,244 31.1% 2,686,621 27.0% 

65 Years and 

Over 

Retirement 

1,743 16.6% 32,803 17.1% 1,712,841 17.1% 

 (Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Table 3.4: Sex Distribution in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, and 

State of Michigan 2020 

 Male  Female  

Tyrone Township 5,171 49.3% 5,325 50.7% 

Livingston County 95,755 50.2% 95,077 49.8% 

State of Michigan 4,911,965 49.2% 5,061,942 50.8% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

 

[Balance of page intentionally blank.] 

 

  



Social Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 3-12 

 

Table 3.5: Racial Composition in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, and 

State of Michigan 2020 

 
Tyrone 

Township 

Livingston 

County 

State of 

Michigan 

White 97.4% 96.3% 78.4% 

Black or African American 0.5% 0.6% 13.8% 

American Indian and 

Alaska Native 
0.3% 0.3% 0.5% 

Asian 0.3% 0.9% 3.1% 

Native Hawai’ian and 
Other Pacific Islander 

0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 

Some Other Race 0.2% 0.3% 1.2% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Table 3.6: Educational Attainment Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 
and State of Michigan 2010/2020 

 
Tyrone Township 

Livingston 

County 
State of Michigan 

 2010 2020 2010 2020 2010 2020 

Did Not 
Graduate High 

School 
5.6% 3.9% 6.4% 4.5% 11.3% 8.7% 

High School 
Graduate 

23.0% 22.4% 27.8% 26.1% 30.9% 28.5% 

Some College 25.3% 23.6% 25.2% 22.8% 24.2% 23.2% 

Associate 
Degree 

11.0% 14.1% 9.5% 10.1% 8.4% 9.6% 

Bachelor’s 

Degree 
23.8% 23.9% 21.1% 24.7% 15.6% 18.3% 

Graduate/ 

Professional 
Degree 

11.2% 12.2% 10.1% 11.8% 9.6% 11.7% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

[End of Social Analysis Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-1 

 

4.1 Overview 

According to the 2020 Census, there were 4,206 households in Tyrone Township.  
Although the character of housing in the Township has been relatively stable, it is 

important to understand changes in household character to anticipate future needs.  
Several important housing conditions and trends in the Township are: 

➢ The number of households continues to increase; 

➢ The growth in the number of households has slowed in recent years; 

➢ The size of households is larger than in surrounding communities; 

➢ The size of households continues to decrease; 

➢ The occupancy rate for dwelling units is generally consistent with 
surrounding communities and the county; 

➢ Housing occupancy rates are relatively high and consistent with the 
County and surrounding communities; 

➢ Most of the housing units are single-family with few duplex or multiple-
family units; 

➢ There are a substantial number of mobile home dwelling units;  

➢ The number of permits issued for new single-family dwellings remains 
strong; and 

➢ The cost of housing continues to increase and has increased significantly 
over the past 10 years. 

 

4.2 Number of Households 

Households are defined by the Census as a group of people living together in a single 
dwelling unit as their usual place of residence. This may include a single family, a 
single person living alone, two or more families living together, or other groups of 

related or unrelated persons sharing living quarters. People not living in a household 
are described as living in “group quarters.” 

The 4,206 households in Tyrone Township in 2020 represents an increase of 45.9 
percent from 2000 and an increase of 19.2 percent from 2010. 

Graph 4.2.1 below shows the number of households in the Township from 1970 

through 2020 as well as the numeric change. Table 4.2.1 is located in the Housing 
Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

 

 



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-2 

 

Graph 4.2.1: Households in Tyrone Township 1970-2020 

 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

The Township experienced its largest numeric increase and percentage increase in 
the number of households between 1970 and 1980, when the number of households 

increased from 897 to 1,756 (95.8 percent). 

The Township experienced its slowest numeric increase in the number of households 
between 1980 and 1990 (455 households). The Township experienced its lowest 

percentage increase in the number of households between 2010 and 2020 (19.2 
percent). 

Graph 4.2.2 below shows the number of households in the Township and surrounding 
communities from1980 through 2020. Table 4.2.2 is located in the Housing Analysis 
Article Appendix. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020

Households Numeric Change



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-3 

 

Graph 4.2.2: Households in Tyrone Township and Surrounding 

Communities 1980-2020 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

From 1980 through 2020, the Township experienced a greater increase in the number 
of households than all but two adjacent communities and experienced a similar 

percentage growth in the number of households as Livingston County.  

 

4.3 Household Size 

The average size of households in Tyrone Township has continued to decrease.  

Decreasing household size has been a national trend for several decades. 

The size of households in the Township has decreased to 2.79 persons in 2020 from 
2.84 in 2010, a decrease of 0.05 persons per household (1.7 percent). 

Understanding these changes may help determine what types of residential options 
may be needed or desirable in the future. 

Graph 4.3.1 below shows the average household size in Tyrone Township, Livingston 
County, and the State of Michigan from 1980 through 2020. Table 4.3.1 is located in 
the Housing Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

 

 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

1980 1990 2000 2010 2020

Tyrone Township Oceola Township Hartland Township Deerfield Township

Holly Township City of Linden Argentine Township City of Fenton

Fenton Township Rose Township Highland Township



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-4 

 

Graph 4.3.1: Household Size in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, and 

State of Michigan 2020 

 
(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Although the size of households has been decreasing in the Township, the number of 
persons per household remains significantly higher than that of both Livingston 
County and the State of Michigan. 

Table and Graph 4.3.2 below show the average household size in Tyrone Township 
and surrounding communities along with the percentage change from 1980 through 

2020. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

1980 1990 2000 2010 2020

Tyrone Township Livingston County State of Michigan



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-5 

 

Table 4.3.2: Household Size in Tyrone Township and Surrounding 

Communities 1980-2020 

 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 
Percent 

Change 

Oceola Township 3.28 3.15 3.02 2.93 2.94 -10.4% 

City of Linden 2.89 2.71 2.45 2.51 2.92 1.0% 

Tyrone Township 3.46 3.10 2.93 2.84 2.79 -19.4% 

Hartland Township 3.46 3.09 2.84 2.77 2.74 -20.8% 

Highland Township 3.22 3.02 2.82 2.65 2.69 -16.5% 

Holly Township1 3.02 2.97 2.88 2.62 2.67 -11.6% 

Argentine Township 3.09 3.16 3.18 2.84 2.64 -14.6% 

Rose Township 3.41 3.10 2.88 2.73 2.63 -22.9% 

City of Fenton 2.85 2.55 2.38 2.27 2.60 -8.8% 

Deerfield Township 3.31 3.11 2.95 2.83 2.55 -23.0% 

Fenton Township 3.07 2.81 2.66 2.58 2.54 -17.3% 

Livingston County 2.84 2.84 2.80 2.67 2.59 -8.8% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

1) Includes Holly Township and the Village of Holly. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-6 

 

Table 4.3.2: Household Size in Tyrone Township and Surrounding 

Communities 1980-2020 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Although the Township has experienced one of the larger percentage decreases in 
the size of households between 1980 and 2020, it continues to have a larger 

household size than most of the surrounding communities.   

Graph 4.3.3 below shows the average household size in Tyrone Township and 

surrounding communities based on occupancy type in 2020. Table 4.3.3 is located in 
the Housing Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

1980 1990 2000 2010 2020

Tyrone Township Oceola Township Hartland Township Deerfield Township

Holly Township City of Linden Argentine Township City of Fenton

Fenton Township Rose Township Highland Township



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-7 

 

Graph 4.3.3: Household Size by Occupancy Type in Tyrone Township and 

Surrounding Communities 2020 ACS 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census ACS) 

 

4.4 Housing Occupancy 

Tyrone Township has a total of 3,964 housing units. Of these housing units, 3,737 

(94.3 percent) are occupied and 227 (5.7 percent) are vacant. For the occupied 
housing units, 3,252 (87.0 percent) are homeowner-occupied and 482 (13.0 percent) 

are renter-occupied. 

Graphs 4.4.1A and 4.4.1B below show housing occupancy for Tyrone Township, 
Livingston County, and the State of Michigan. Table 4.4.1 is located in the Housing 

Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5

City of Fenton

Holly Township

Fenton Township

Argentine Township

Hartland Township

Livingston County

Deerfield Township

Rose Township

City of Linden

Highland Township

Tyrone Township

Oceola Township

Overall Household Size Renter-Occupied Household Size

Owner-Occupied Household Size



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-8 

 

Graph 4.4.1A: Occupied and Vacant Housing in Tyrone Township, 

Livingston County, and State of Michigan 2020 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Graph 4.4.1B: Homeowner and Renter Occupancy in Tyrone Township, 
Livingston County, and State of Michigan 2020 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

The Township has a higher percentage of occupied housing units than Livingston 
County and a significantly higher percentage of occupied housing units than the 

State. 

The Township has a higher percentage of homeowner-occupied housing units than 

both Livingston County and the State. It has significantly lower percentage of rental-
occupied housing units than the State. 

Graph 4.4.2A and 4.4.2B below show housing occupancy for Tyrone Township and 
surrounding communities. Table 4.4.2 is located in the Housing Analysis Article 
Appendix. 

 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

State of Michigan

Livingston County

Tyrone Township

Occupied Housing Units Vacant Housing Units

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

State of Michigan

Livingston County

Tyrone Township

Homeowner-Occupied Renter-Occupied



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-9 

 

Graph 4.4.2A: Occupied and Vacant Housing in Tyrone Township and 

Surrounding Communities 2020 

 

 (Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Graph 4.4.2B: Homeowner and Renter Occupancy in Tyrone Township and 
Surrounding Communities 2020 

 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Oceola Township

City of Linden

Tyrone Township

Hartland Township

Highland Township

Holly Township1

Argentine Township

Rose Township

City of Fenton

Deerfield Township

Fenton Township

Livingston County

Occupied Vacant

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Livingston County

Highland Township

Deerfield Township

Fenton Township

Argentine Township

Holly Township

Tyrone Township

Rose Township

City of Linden

Oceola Township

Hartland Township

City of Fenton

Owner-Occupied Renter-Occupied



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-10 

 

Overall housing occupancy in the Township is consistent with the County and is in 

the middle of surrounding communities. The actual occupancy may be higher than 
what is shown, due to seasonal vacation homes in the lake areas. 

Most dwellings (87 percent) in the Township are owner-occupied. This is slightly 
higher than the County and in the statistical middle when compared with surrounding 
communities. 

 

4.5 Housing Unit Types 

Housing units in Tyrone Township are primarily single-family houses, representing 
86.3 percent of all housing units. The next highest number of housing unit type is 

mobile homes, representing 12.3 percent of all housing units. There are very few 
multiple-family housing units in the Township. 

Graph 4.5.1 below shows housing unit types for Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 
and the State of Michigan. Table 4.5.1 is located in the Housing Analysis Article 
Appendix. 

 

Graph 4.5.1: Housing Unit Types in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 

and State of Michigan 2020 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

The Township has a higher percentage of single-family houses and mobile homes 
than both the County and the State. 

Graph 4.5.2 below shows housing unit types for Tyrone Township and surrounding 
communities. Table 4.5.2 is located in the Housing Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

State of Michigan

Livingston County

Tyrone Township

Single-Family Multi-Family Mobile Homes



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-11 

 

Graph 4.5.2: Housing Unit Types in Tyrone Township and Surrounding 

Communities 2020 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

The Township has a higher percentage of single-family housing units and mobile 

homes than most of the surrounding communities. It has the lowest percentage of 
multiple-family dwellings of all surrounding communities, except for Deerfield 

Township. 

In the community survey, 74 percent of respondents either strongly agreed (30 
percent) or agreed (44 percent) that there is a good variety of housing options/types 

in the Township. Conversely to that, 18 percent of respondents strongly disagreed (4 
percent) or disagreed (14 percent) with that statement. 

When asked what types of housing they supported, community survey respondents 
showed the highest level of support for large-lot single-family houses, greater than 
3 acres, with 93 percent of respondents strongly supporting (48 percent) or 

supporting (45 percent). Single-family houses on medium lots, 1.75 to 3 acres, also 
had strong support with 84 percent of respondents strongly supporting (29 percent) 

or supporting (55 percent). Sixty-one percent of respondents strongly supported (13 
percent) or supported (48 percent) single-family houses on lots smaller than 1.75 
acres. 

In the community survey, 73 percent of respondents strongly supported (16 percent) 
or supported (57 percent) accessory dwellings. Sixty-seven percent of respondents 

strongly supported (10 percent) or supported (57 percent) senior housing.  Sixty-
two percent of respondents strongly supported (12 percent) or supported (50 
percent) affordable housing. 

 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Livingston County

City of Linden

Deerfield Township

Rose Township

Argentine Township

City of Fenton

Holly Township

Tyrone Township

Hartland Township

Oceola Township

Fenton Township

Highland Township

Single-family Multiple-family Mobile Homes



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-12 

 

Types of housing less supported by respondents in the community survey include: 

single-family subdivisions, with 43 percent strongly supporting (11 percent) or 
supporting (32 percent); apartments/condominiums, with 26 percent strongly 

supporting (3 percent) or supporting (23 percent); and mobile homes, with 6 percent 
strongly supporting (less than 1 percent) or supporting (6 percent). 

Graph 4.5.3 below shows the support of community survey respondents for various 

types of residential development. 

 

Graph 4.5.3: Community Survey Support for Residential Development 

 

(Source: Tyrone Township Community Survey) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Affordable Housing

Senior Housing

Mobile Homes

Apartments/Condominiums

Accessory Dwellings

Duplex/Two-family

Single-family Subdivision

Single-family Smaller Lot

Single-family Medium Lot

Single-family Large Lot

Strongly support Support Oppose Strongly Oppose Did not answer



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-13 

 

4.6 Mobile Home Park Communities 

Tyrone Township has two mobile home parks, Tyrone Woods and Cider Mill Crossings, 

with an approved total of 1,025 units. 

Tyrone Woods is located on the south side of Hogan Road, between Linden Road and 
Major Road. It has an area of roughly 89 acres and is approved for 403 units, with 

units having an area of between 4,680 and 5,100 square feet. 

Cider Mill Crossings is on the west side of Old US-23, between Parshallville Road and 

Faussett Road. It has an area of roughly 150 acres and is approved for 622 units, 
with units having an area of between 4,850 and 6,660 square feet. 

The Township has a substantial number of mobile home units, as noted above, that 

is greater than all but one adjacent community. 

 

4.7 New Single-Family Dwellings 

Tyrone Township has experienced a steady increase in the construction of new single-

family dwellings, with a significant increase starting in 2015. 

Graph 4.7 below shows the number of building permits issued for new single-family 

dwellings and the numeric change from 2010 through 2021. Table 4.7 is located in 
the Housing Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

Graph 4.7: Permits for New Single-Family Dwellings 2010-2021 

 

(Source: Livingston County Building Department) 

 

-20

-10

0

10

20

30

40

50

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

New Permits Numeric Change



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-14 

 

The number of permits issued for single-family dwellings the past three years has 

remained relatively stable. It is less than the preceding three years but remains 
higher than 2012 and earlier years. 

In the community survey, 61 percent of respondents described the level of residential 
development over the past 10 years as “about right,” 32 percent described it as “too 
much,” and 11 percent described it as “too little.” 

 

4.8 Housing Sales 

Tyrone Township has experienced a growing number of arm’s length sales for single-

family dwellings, with 142 sales in 2021 and a high of 167 sales 2017. Arm’s length 
sales are between parties that are not related or have some other type of relationship 

that may affect the sales price. In 2021, the median sales price was $360,000 and 
the average sales price was $435,639. 

Graph 4.8.1 below shows the prices for arm’s length sales of dwellings from 2006 

through 2021.  Table 4.8.1 is located in the Housing Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

Graph 4.8.1: Sales Price for Dwellings 2006-2021 

 

(Source: Tyrone Township Assessing) 

 

$0

$50,000

$100,000

$150,000

$200,000

$250,000

$300,000

$350,000

$400,000

$450,000

$500,000

Median Price Average Price



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-15 

 

The median and average sales prices for single-family dwellings in the Township have 

increased steadily since the Great Recession.  The median price is roughly $84,000 
higher than the highest year before the recession (2006) and roughly $192,500 

higher than the lowest year during the recession (2009).  The average price is roughly 
$132,000 higher than the highest year before the recession (2006) and roughly 
$236,800 higher than the lowest year during the recession (2009). 

Depending on the size of the down payment, credit score, and interest rates, a 
household income of between $90,000 and $110,000 per year would be required to 

secure a mortgage for the median to average price single-family dwelling in the 
Township in 2021. 

In the community survey, 67 percent of respondents strongly agreed (22 percent) or 

agreed (45 percent) that there is a good variety of housing price ranges available in 
the Township. 

Graph 4.8.2 below shows prices per acre for arm’s length sales of dwellings from 
2006 through 2021. Table 4.8.2 is located in the Housing Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

Graph 4.8.2: Sales Price for Dwellings per Acre 2006-2021 

 

(Source: Tyrone Township Assessing) 

 

$0

$50,000

$100,000

$150,000

$200,000

$250,000

$300,000

$350,000

$400,000

$450,000

$500,000

Median Price Average Price



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-16 

 

Due to the variety of property sizes with single-family dwellings in the Township, this 

metric has a wide range of highest and lowest prices. Larger sized properties tend to 
have a lower price per acre, and smaller sized properties have a significantly higher 

price per acre. 

After reaching lows in 2008, the median and average prices per acre for single-family 
dwellings have increased. 

Graph 4.8.3 below shows prices per square foot for arm’s length sales of dwellings 
from 2006 through 2021. Table 4.8.3 is located in the Housing Analysis Article 

Appendix. 

 

Graph 4.8.3: Sales Price for Dwellings per Square Foot 2006-2021 

 

(Source: Tyrone Township Assessing) 

 

After reaching lows in 2011, the median and average prices per square foot for single-

family dwellings in the Township has increased and is significantly higher than what 
it was before the Great Recession. 

 

[Balance of page intentionally blank.] 

 

$0

$50

$100

$150

$200

$250

Median Price Average Price



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-17 

 

Housing Analysis Appendix 

Table 4.2.1: Households in Tyrone Township 1970-2020 

Year Households Numeric Change Percent Change 

1970 897   

1980 1,756 + 859 +95.8% 

1990 2,211 + 455 +25.9% 

2000 2,882 +671 +30.4% 

2010 3,528 +646 +22.4% 

2020 4,206 +678 +19.2% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Table 4.2.2: Households in Tyrone Township and Surrounding Communities 
1980-2020 

 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 
Percent 
Change 

Oceola Township 1,270 1,523 2,756 4,057 5,267 +314.7% 

Hartland Township 1,744 2,211 3,696 5,154 5,496 +215.1% 

Tyrone Township 1,756 2,211 2,882 3,528 4,206 +139.5% 

Deerfield Township 789 961 1,386 1,481 1,570 +99.0% 

City of Linden 753 891 1,226 1,523 1,467 +94.8% 

Argentine Township 1,337 1,614 2,293 2,631 2,484 +85.8% 

Rose Township 1,307 1,589 2,144 2,272 2,342 +79.2% 

Holly Township1 2,784 3,151 3,733 4,430 4,771 +71.4% 

City of Fenton 2,748 3,214 4,335 5,067 5,034 +83.2% 

Fenton Township 3,813 3,570 4,883 5,034 6,097 +59.9% 

Highland Township 5,265 5,933 6,786 7,125 7,455 +41.6% 

Livingston County 31,334 38,887 55,384 67,380 74,264 +137.0% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

1) Includes Holly Township and the Village of Holly. 

 

  



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-18 

 

Table 4.3.1: Household Size in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, and 

State of Michigan 1980-2020 

Year Tyrone Township Livingston County State of Michigan 

1980 3.46  2.84  3.39  

1990 3.10 -10.4% 2.84 0.0% 2.94 -13.3% 

2000 2.93 -5.5% 2.80 -1.4% 2.56 -12.9% 

2010 2.84 -3.1% 2.67 -4.6% 2.49 -2.7% 

2020 2.79 -1.7% 2.59 -0.1% 2.45 -1.6% 

 (Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Table 4.3.3: Household Size by Occupancy Type in Tyrone Township and 
Surrounding Communities 2020 ACS 

 
Overall 

Household Size 

Owner-
Occupied 

Household Size 

Renter-Occupied 
Household Size 

Oceola Township 2.94 2.93 2.97 

City of Linden 2.62 2.66 2.25 

Tyrone Township 2.77 2.71 2.82 

Hartland Township 2.54 2.83 2.25 

Highland Township 2.76 2.04 2.40 

Holly Township1 2.19 2.60 1.78 

Argentine Township 2.39 2.65 2.14 

Rose Township 2.61 2.59 3.11 

City of Fenton 2.15 2.40 1.90 

Deerfield Township 2.60 2.89 2.31 

Fenton Township 2.28 2.60 1.96 

Livingston County 2.60 2.69 2.06 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census ACS) 

1) Includes Holly Township and the Village of Holly. 

 

  



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-19 

 

Table 4.4.1: Housing Occupancy in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 

and State of Michigan 2020 

 
Tyrone 

Township 

Livingston 

County 

State of 

Michigan 

Occupied Housing Units 94.3% 93.4% 86.3% 

Vacant Housing Units 5.7% 6.7% 13.7% 

Homeowner-Occupied 87.0% 85.4% 71.2% 

Renter-Occupied 13.0% 14.6% 28.8% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Table 4.4.2: Occupied and Vacant Housing in Tyrone Township and 
Surrounding Communities 2020 ACS 

 Occupied Vacant 
Owner-

Occupied 
Renter-

Occupied 

City of Fenton 97.3% 2.7% 62.7% 37.3% 

Hartland Township 96.1% 3.9% 87.4% 12.6% 

Oceola Township 96.0% 4.0% 88.6% 11.4% 

City of Linden 95.8% 4.2% 91.2% 8.8% 

Rose Township 95.3% 4.7% 95.8% 4.2% 

Tyrone Township 94.3% 5.7% 87.0% 13.0% 

Holly Township1 93.8% 6.2% 73.3% 26.7% 

Argentine Township 88.7% 11.3% 92.9% 7.1% 

Fenton Township 87.3% 12.7% 70.0% 30.0% 

Deerfield Township 87.1% 12.9% 91.8% 8.2% 

Highland Township 34.7% 65.3% 66.2% 33.8% 

Livingston County 94.7%% 5.3% 85.1% 14.9% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census ACS) 

1) Includes Holly Township and the Village of Holly. 

 

  



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-20 

 

Table 4.5.1: Housing Unit Types in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 

and State of Michigan 2020 

 Tyrone Township  Livingston County State of Michigan 

Single-Family 

Homes 
3,520 86.3% 60,747 78.9% 3,326,057 72.2% 

Multi-Family 

Homes 
59 1.4% 14,556 18.9% 1,035,475 22.5% 

Mobile Homes 500 12.3% 1,717 2.2% 248,336 5.4% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

Table 4.5.2: Housing Unit Types in Tyrone Township and Surrounding 
Communities 2020 

 Single family Multiple-family Mobile Homes 

Highland Township 6,647 470 931 

Fenton Township 5,617 657 175 

Oceola Township 4,462 598 96 

Hartland Township 4,419 721 490 

Tyrone Township 3,520 59 500 

Holly Township1 3,124 1,481 553 

City of Fenton 2,987 2,032 144 

Argentine Township 2,486 165 151 

Rose Township 2,435 51 85 

Deerfield Township 1,396 0 203 

City of Linden 1,076 133 323 

Livingston County 77,020 11,710 4,541 

 (Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

1) Includes Holly Township and the Village of Holly. 

 

  



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-21 

 

Table 4.7: Permits for New Single-Family Dwellings 2010-2021 

Year New Permits Numeric Change Percent Change 

2010 8 - - 

2011 14 6 75% 

2012 19 5 36% 

2013 32 13 68% 

2014 24 -8 -25% 

2015 39 15 63% 

2016 29 -10 -26% 

2017 41 12 41% 

2018 41 0 0% 

2019 27 -14 -34% 

2020 23 -4 -15% 

2021 25 2 9% 

(Source: Livingston County Building Department) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-22 

 

Table 4.8.1: Sales Price for Dwellings 2006-2021 

Year Median Price Average Price Highest Price Lowest Price 

2006 $276,000 $303,580 $710,000 $107,000 

2007 $245,000 $273,466 $625,100 $112,000 

2008 $249,000 $272,959 $850,000 $114,900 

2009 $167,450 $198,829 $442,000 $27,000 

2010 $185,000 $213,342 $1,000,000 $35,000 

2011 $172,000 $199,174 $650,000 $35,000 

2012 $208,000 $226,907 $575,000 $37,000 

2013 $207,200 $232,361 $615,000 $75,200 

2014 $235,000 $248,769 $650,000 $25,000 

2015 $240,000 $277,408 $875,000 $92,000 

2016 $271,500 $291,662 $1,300,000 $73,000 

2017 $265,000 $303,352 $800,000 $70,140 

2018 $281,000 $318,130 $1,450,000 $10 

2019 $305,000 $326,345 $735,000 $102,000 

2020 $359,250 $326,345 $735,000 $102,000 

2021 $360,000 $435,639 $1,700,000 $165,000 

(Source: Tyrone Township Assessing) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-23 

 

Table 4.8.2: Sales Price for Dwellings per Acre 2006-2021 

Year Median Price Average Price Highest Price Lowest Price 

2006 $332,579 $419,206 $2,643,312 $9,730 

2007 $308,832 $356,730 $1,222,222 $10,735 

2008 $127,189 $224,709 $1,602,564 $9,704 

2009 $203,000 $246,033 $1,556,604 $5,853 

2010 $160,494 $233,918 $1,222,222 $13,914 

2011 $183,583 $269,258 $2,341,270 $10,534 

2012 $233,491 $299,299 $1,797,030 $12,750 

2013 $183,077 $238,140 $1,609,375 $9,970 

2014 $184,659 $274,749 $1,794,872 $6,905 

2015 $270,014 $315,898 $2,717,391 $10,250 

2016 $264,988 $332,964 $2,051,887 $11,375 

2017 $234,091 $327,034 $2,477,679 $5,380 

2018 $256,410 $338,622 $3,167,539 $10 

2019 $233,193 $350,260 $2,054,140 $17,080 

2020 $329,623 $350,260 $2,054,140 $17,080 

2021 $364,309 $475,877 $6,089,744 $7,296 

(Source: Tyrone Township Assessing) 

 

  



Housing Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 4-24 

 

Table 4.8.3: Sales Price for Dwellings per Square Foot 2006-2021 

Year Median Price Average Price Highest Price Lowest Price 

2006 $138 $151 $334 $86 

2007 $129 $141 $280 $67 

2008 $128 $138 $249 $86 

2009 $100 $104 $223 $22 

2010 $94 $100 $212 $19 

2011 $93 $100 $238 $19 

2012 $106 $111 $325 $43 

2013 $114 $119 $241 $28 

2014 $119 $126 $263 $14 

2015 $125 $132 $303 $53 

2016 $137 $143 $303 $38 

2017 $150 $157 $420 $28 

2018 $144 $155 $429 $0 

2019 $162 $169 $436 $81 

2020 $178 $169 $436 $81 

2021 $196 $209 $801 $106 

(Source: Tyrone Township Assessing) 

 

[End of Housing Analysis Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-1 

 

5.1 Overview 

Several important recent economic trends and conditions in the Township are: 

➢ The median household income and per capita income are significantly 

higher than most surrounding communities, Livingston County, and the 
State of Michigan; 

➢ The percentage of residents living below the poverty level is lower than 

most of the surrounding communities, Livingston County, and the State 
of Michigan; 

➢ Non-farm employment has grown at a slow, steady rate and is projected 
to continue to grow; 

➢ There is a higher percentage of employment in natural resources, 

mining, and construction; information and financial activities; and 
administrative support fields than the region;  

➢ A large majority of the Township’s residents work in other communities; 

➢ Unemployment has generally tracked with the county, state, and 
country, but was less affected than those entities were in 2020; 

➢ There are limited commercial and industrial uses in the Township, and 
surrounding communities have established commercial and industrial 

areas; and 

➢ The Township has experienced a steady increase in governmental 
revenues, primarily due to increase in State revenue sharing. 

 

5.2 Income 

The income level of a community relative to neighboring communities can serve as a 
measure of economic health and vitality. From the local government’s perspective, a 

high level of income tends to provide a strong tax base that can provide quality 
services for residents. From a market perspective, companies make site selection 

decisions based in part on the income in an area. 

Graphs 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 below show the median household income, per capita income, 
and poverty level for Tyrone Township and surrounding communities in 2022.  Table 

5.2 is in the Economic Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

 

 



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-2 

 

Graph 5.2.1: Median Household Income in Tyrone Township and 

Surrounding Communities 2022 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

The Township has a higher median household income and per capita income than all 
but one of the surrounding communities. The median household income is 

significantly higher than several surrounding communities, Livingston County, and 
the State of Michigan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

$0 $20,000 $40,000 $60,000 $80,000 $100,000

City of Fenton

State of Michigan

Deerfield Township

Holly Township

City of Linden

Rose Township

Livingston County

Argentine Township

Highland Township

Hartland Township

Oceola Township

Tyrone Township

Fenton Township

Median Household Income Per Capita Income



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-3 

 

Graph 5.2.2: Poverty Level in Tyrone Township and Surrounding 

Communities 2022 

 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

The federal poverty threshold is the measurement of poverty in America, based on 
several economic factors having to do with total family income. 

The percentage of residents in the Township living below the poverty level is lower 

than all but two of the surrounding communities, but similar to Livingston County, 
and is significantly lower than the State of Michigan. 

 

5.3 Employment 

The occupations held by residents and the nature of jobs available in a community 
can impact the community’s income, educational needs, commuting patterns, and 

opportunities.   

Both Michigan and the United States have experienced a shift from traditional 
manufacturing to service, information, and health care, which is slowly occurring in 

Tyrone Township. 

Understanding the current and projected employment in the Township and region 

can help inform desired commercial and industrial uses. 

Graph 5.3.1 below shows the nonfarm employment in Tyrone Township and the 
percentage of total employment from 2015 through 2045.  Table 5.3.1 is located in 

the Economic Analysis Article Appendix. 

0.0% 2.0% 4.0% 6.0% 8.0% 10.0% 12.0% 14.0% 16.0%

City of Fenton

State of Michigan

Deerfield Township

Holly Township

City of Linden

Rose Township

Livingston County

Argentine Township

Highland Township

Hartland Township

Oceola Township

Tyrone Township

Fenton Township

Poverty Level



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-4 

 

Graph 5.3.1: Nonfarm Employment in Tyrone Township 2015-2045 

(Source: SEMCOG) 

 

The Township has experienced or is anticipated to experience notable growth in 
employment in the natural resources, mining, and construction; information and 
financial activities; professional and technical services; administrative support; and 

healthcare fields. 

The Township has experienced or is anticipated to experience modest growth in the 

transportation, warehousing, and utilities; wholesale trade; retail trade; education; 
leisure and hospitality; and public administration fields. 

The Township has experienced or is anticipated to experience a decrease in 
employment in manufacturing and other services fields. 

Graph 5.3.2 below shows the percentage of total employment in different fields in 

Tyrone Township, Livingston County, and the SEMCOG region from 2015 through 
2045. Table 5.3.2 is located in the Economic Analysis Article Appendix. 

  

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450

Natural Resources, Mining, and Construction

Manufacturing

Transportation, Warehousing, and Utilities

Wholesale Trade

Retail Trade

Information and Financial Activities

Professional and Technical Services

Administrative Support

Education

Healthcare

Leisure and Hospitality

Other Services

Public Administration

2015 2020 2045



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-5 

 

Table 5.3.2: Nonfarm Employment in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 

and SEMCOG Area 2015-2045 

 

 

(Source: SEMCOG) 

 

0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0% 25.0%

Natural Resources, Mining, and Construction

Manufacturing

Transportation, Warehousing, and Utilities

Wholesale Trade

Retail Trade

Information and Financial Activities

Professional and Technical Services

Administrative Support

Education

Healthcare

Leisure and Hospitality

Other Services

Public Administration

2015 Tyrone Township 2015 Livingston County 2015 SEMCOG

2020 Tyrone Township 2020 Livingston County 2020 SEMCOG

2045 Tyrone Township 2045 Livingston County 2045 SEMCOG



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-6 

 

The Township has or is anticipated to have notably higher employment percentages 

than Livingston County or the SEMCOG Region in the natural resources, mining; and 
construction; information and financial activities; and administrative support fields. 

The Township has or is anticipated to have notably lower percentage of employment 
than Livingston County and/or the SEMCOG Region in the professional and technical 
services; education; healthcare; and public administration fields. 

According to the 2019 American Community Survey, there were 5,572 workers in the 
Township.  That year, 4,684 workers left the Township to work in another community, 

142 workers worked in the Township, and 746 workers came from another 
community to work in the Township. 

 

 

In the community survey, 19 percent of respondents indicated that they worked in 

the Township (4 percent) or worked at home (15 percent). Most others worked in 
communities in southeastern Michigan. The highest responses were Fenton (8 

percent), Flint (4 percent), and Ann Arbor, Brighton, and Detroit (3 percent each). 



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-7 

 

Although a majority of the Township’s residents work outside of the community, 25 

percent of respondents in the community survey indicated that proximity to 
employment attracted them to the community. 

 

5.4 Unemployment 

The unemployment rate in Tyrone Township has largely followed that of Livingston 
County, the State of Michigan, and the United States. However, unemployment in 

the Township decreased in 2020 but increased in the County, State, and country. 

After peaking near 12 percent in 2009, the Township’s unemployment rate has 
decreased to 3.4 percent in 2021. 

Graph 5.4 below shows the unemployment rate for Tyrone Township, Livingston 
County, the State of Michigan, and the United States.  Table 5.4 is located in the 

Economic Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

Graph 5.4: Unemployment in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, State of 

Michigan, and the United States 2006-2021 

  

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Tyrone Township Livingston County State of Michigan United States



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-8 

 

After peaking in 2009, unemployment in the Township has dropped below where it 

was before the Great Recession and remains at historically low levels. It is noteworthy 
that unemployment decreased in the Township during Covid-19. 

 

5.5 Commercial Analysis 

Commercial development in a community is directly related to its population, 
household growth, median household income, and competition. It is affected by a 

community’s land use decisions and availability of the necessary facilities and utilities.  
It is affected by a community’s preferences. 

 

Existing Commercial 

Tyrone Township has historically had a very limited number of commercial uses, and 

only a handful of commercial uses exist in the Township. The majority of them sell 
convenience goods, such as gasoline or general convenience goods, that are 
consumed on a daily basis. There are several that market more durable goods, such 

as clothing, appliances, or similar items, that are purchased less frequently and only 
after purchasers have compared prices and quality. 

Significant commercial areas are located immediately to the north of the Township, 
in the cities of Fenton and Linden, and to the south, in Hartland Township, primarily 
along the M-59 corridor. 

Because of these established commercial areas in adjacent communities, the addition 
of large commercial development in the Township is unlikely. There is potential, 

however, for specific commercial uses that serve the convenience needs of local 
residents, draw patrons from other areas, provide recreational opportunities, or take 
advantage of the Township’s location and access to transportation. 

 

Determining Commercial Development Potential 

Typical determination of commercial development demand and potential is a 
multiple-step process, which is outlined below. 

1. Delineate the potential trade area. This is the geographic area from which 

sustainable customers for commercial activities comes from. The boundaries 
of this area are determined by factors such as the nature of the commercial 

activity, accessibility, physical barriers, location of competing commercial 
areas, and drive time and distance limitations. 

2. Determine the trade area sales potential, based on the social and economic 
characteristics of the trade area. 

3. Determine the local allocation of total sales to identify the portion of the trade 

area sales that can be captured by local businesses. 

4. Convert sales potential estimates into floor area demand to identify the floor 

area necessary to support local sales. 



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-9 

 

5. Convert floor area demand into land area demand to identify the acreage 

necessary to support the floor area. 

 

Delineation of Trade Area 

The Township is located within several trade areas, depending on the location in the 
Township and the nature of the good or service. In general, the northern portion of 

the Township is within the City of Fenton and City of Linden trade areas, and the 
southern portion of the Township is within the Hartland Township trade area. 

Previous Master Plans have delineated the Township’s trade area as the Township’s 
boundaries for the purpose of examining the potential demand for various goods and 
services. 

In the community survey, 70 percent of respondents described the level of 
nonresidential development as “about right,” 16 percent described it as “too much,” 

and 8 percent described it as “too little.” 

In the community survey, 67 percent of respondents strongly agreed (24 percent) or 
agreed (43 percent) that there was an appropriate variety of commercial activities in 

the Township. 

The community survey asked also asked the level of support for various types of 

nonresidential development. 

The nonresidential development types with the highest level of support were: 79 
percent of respondents strongly supported (37 percent) or supported (42 percent) 

public recreation. 71 percent of respondents strongly supported (18 percent) or 
supported (53 percent) small or local restaurants. 70 percent of respondents strongly 

supported (11 percent) or supported (59 percent) office uses. 63 percent of 
respondents strongly supported (20 percent) or supported (43 percent) private 
recreation. 53 percent of respondents strongly supported (8 percent) or supported 

(47 percent) local or small retail. 

 

5.6 Industrial Analysis 

Tyrone Township has historically had a very limited number of industrial uses. 

ZF Active Safety, a division of ZF Friedrichshafen AG, operates a manufacturing plant 
on north side of Center Road, just west of US-23. 

The balance of industrial uses is limited to smaller contractors’ yards and similar uses. 

The US-23 corridor has been the anticipated location of any industrial growth, due to 

its proximity to a limited access highway and the availability of sanitary sewer. This 
area, specifically the area west of Old US-23 between Center Road and Hogan Road, 
has been designated as an area for planned industrial, research, and offices since 

1999, which continued in the most recent Master Plan, adopted in 2012. Focusing 
these uses in this area would also provide for greater separation from residential 

uses. 



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-10 

 

Significant industrial areas exist or are planned in communities to the north and 

south. The City of Fenton has a 200-acre industrial park, with access to US-23 at 
both the Owen Road and Silver Lake Road interchanges. Hartland Township’s Master 

Plan calls for 627 acres of planned industrial research and office. 

The need for traditional industrial development has been declining across the United 
States and in southeastern Michigan. These trends will impact the demand for such 

uses in the Township. 

When asked what type of industrial uses they supported, community survey 

respondents had the highest level of support for light industrial (medical laboratories, 
contractors office/yard, auto repair, machine shops), with 54 percent of respondents 
strongly supporting (6 percent) or supporting (47 percent). High-tech industrial 

(software technology, pharmaceutical research, laboratories) also had relatively high 
support, with 50 percent of respondents strongly supporting (8 percent) or 

supporting (42 percent). 

Types of industrial uses less supported in the community survey include: outdoor 
storage, with 40 percent of respondents strongly supporting (1 percent) or supporting 

(39 percent); warehousing, with 33 percent of respondents strongly supporting (2 
percent) or supporting (31 percent); distribution center, with 22 percent of 

respondents strongly supporting (2 percent) or supporting (31 percent); and heavy 
industrial, with 6 percent of respondents strongly supporting (1 percent) or 
supporting (5 percent). 

 

5.7 US-23 Corridor 

Tyrone Township has anticipated increased development pressures along the US-23 
corridor, which led to the adoption of the US-23 Corridor Plan in 1999.  The corridor’s 

location and accessibility, availability of natural gas and sanitary sewer, and the 
area’s growing population and income make it an attractive location for certain types 

of commercial and industrial uses. 

It will be important for the Township to manage growth in an organized manner that 
is consistent with the transportation system and public utilities. 

The Township has identified areas, primarily on the western side of the US-23 
Corridor, for medium density residential, planned industrial services, planned 

commercial services and commercial recreational uses. 

The Township should coordinate capital improvements in this corridor to facilitate the 

desired orderly development. 

 

5.8 Character of Nonresidential Development 

Nonresidential development in Tyrone Township is generally located along Old US-23 

and the intersection of US-23 and Center Road.  Some nonresidential uses, such as 
commercial recreation, public/institutional, and home occupations, are located 
throughout the Township. 



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-11 

 

These uses have generally been located on greenfield, or previously undeveloped, 

sites.  They tend be on individual sites, rather than a planned campus. 

Older uses tend to have little or no landscaping or buffering.  Newer uses have more 

landscaping or buffering, consistent with what one would expect in suburban areas. 

When asked about the character of nonresidential development they supported, 
community survey respondents showed the highest level of support for infill or 

redevelopment, with 68 percent of respondents strongly supporting (12 percent) or 
supporting (56 percent). 

Development focused near the US-23 interchanges, near the City of Fenton, and 
along the US-23 Corridor was generally supported. 

Mixed-use development and suburban/greenfield development were the least popular 

types of nonresidential development. 

 

Graph 5.8: Community Survey Support for Nonresidential Development 

 

 

(Source: Tyrone Township Community Survey) 

 

 

 

Mixed Use

Near City of Fenton

US-23 Interchanges

US-23 Corridor

Scattered

Infill/Redevelopment

Suburban/Greenfield

Strongly support Support Oppose Strongly Oppose Did not answer



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-12 

 

5.9 Township Resources 

Tyrone Township receives funding primarily from property taxes, state revenue 

sharing, and fees and licenses. 

Examination of property values provides an indication of the Township’s economic 
growth or decline and the ability to provide services, as a substantial portion of 

funding for townships comes from millages based on property values. 

Like many rural communities, residential properties represent the significant majority 

of the Township’s state equalized value. This is because the Township has few 
commercial or industrial properties and agricultural land is assessed at a lower rate. 

Graph 5.9.1 below shows the state equalized value of real and personal property in 

the Township from 2006 through 2022. Table 5.9.1 is located in the Economic 
Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

Graph 5.9.1: State Equalized Value 2006-2022 

(Source: Tyrone Township) 

 

After decreasing during the Great Recession, the state equalized value of property in 
the Township has continued to grow and is roughly 34 percent higher than it was in 

2007. 

$0

$100,000,000

$200,000,000

$300,000,000

$400,000,000

$500,000,000

$600,000,000

$700,000,000

$800,000,000

$900,000,000

SEV (Real) SEV (Personal)



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-13 

 

In addition to property taxes, the Township also receives revenues that go to its 

general fund from State revenue sharing, fees, fines, licenses, services, grants and 
other sources. 

The Township collects money for sanitary sewer use and as well as a special 
assessment for police and fire services.  Those funds are dedicated to those activities 
and are not included below. 

Graph 5.9.2 below shows governmental revenues for the Township from 2006 
through 2022.  Table 5.9.2 is located in the Economic Analysis Article Appendix. 

 

Graph 5.9.2: Governmental Revenues Tyrone Township 2006-2022 

 

(Source: Tyrone Township) 

The Township has experienced steady growth in its revenues. 

Revenues from property taxes have not increased at the same rate as the increase 
in state equalized value because of the Headlee amendment, which limits increases 

in taxable value until there is a change in ownership. 

The Township has experienced a significant increase in State revenue sharing. In 

general, the State shares a portion of the sales tax with local units of governments 
based on their population. As a community’s population grows in proportion to other 
communities or sales tax revenues increase, the State revenue sharing increases. 

 

[Page left intentionally blank.]  

$0

$500,000

$1,000,000

$1,500,000

$2,000,000

$2,500,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Property Taxes State Revenue Sharing Fees, Fines, Licenses, Services Other



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-14 

 

Economic Analysis Appendix 

 

Table 5.2: Income and Poverty in Tyrone Township and Surrounding 
Communities 2022 

  

Median 

Household 
Income 

Per Capita 
Income 

Poverty Level 

City of Fenton $53,638 $29,564 10.2% 

State of Michigan $54,938 $30,336 15.0% 

Deerfield Township $59,773 $25,924 7.0% 

Holly Township1 $62,730 $28,858 13.4% 

City of Linden $64,511 $33,872 9.0% 

Rose Township $77,564 $39,788 10.5% 

Livingston County $80,897 $38,399 5.6% 

Argentine Township $81,941 $34,710 6.9% 

Highland Township $88,061 $39,424 6.0% 

Hartland Township $90,000 $38,080 6.1% 

Oceola Township $95,071 $37,329 3.7% 

Tyrone Township $96,222 $44,317 5.5% 

Fenton Township $98,064 $52,657 5.1% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

1) Includes Holly Township and the Village of Holly. 

 

 

  



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-15 

 

Table 5.3.1: Nonfarm Employment in Tyrone Township 2015 - 2045 

 2015 2020 2045 

Natural 

Resources, 

Mining, and 

Construction 

167 10.1% 208 11.8% 214 11.1% 

Manufacturing 354 21.4% 349 19.7% 245 12.7% 

Transportation, 

Warehousing, 

and Utilities 
39 2.4% 43 2.4% 49 2.5% 

Wholesale 

Trade 
24 1.5% 28 1.6% 43 2.2% 

Retail Trade 118 7.1% 124 7.0% 138 7.2% 

Information 

and Financial 

Activities 
341 20.6% 361 20.4% 420 21.8% 

Professional 

and Technical 

Services 
85 5.1% 99 5.6% 147 7.6% 

Administrative 

Support 
165 10.0% 186 10.5% 267 13.9% 

Education 0 0.0% 2 0.1% 4 0.2% 

Healthcare 84 5.1% 89 5.0% 130 6.7% 

Leisure and 

Hospitality 
114 6.9% 112 6.3% 119 6.2% 

Other Services 140 8.5% 141 8.0% 122 6.3% 

Public 

Administration 
22 1.3% 27 1.5% 29 1.5% 

 1,653  1,769  1,927  

 (Source: SEMCOG) 

 

  



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-16 

 

Table 5.3.2: Nonfarm Employment in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 

and SEMCOG Area 2015 - 2045 

 2015 2020 2045 

 TY LIV SEM TY LIV SEM TY LIV SEM 

Natural 

Resources, 

Mining, and 

Construction 

10.1% 8.9% 4.6% 11.8% 9.9% 4.9% 11.1% 8.9% 4.6% 

Manufacturing 21.4% 10.7% 9.5% 19.7% 10.1% 8.9% 12.7% 8.0% 6.5% 

Transportation, 

Warehousing, 

and Utilities 

2.4% 2.7% 3.7% 2.4% 2.5% 3.6% 2.5% 2.5% 3.4% 

Wholesale 

Trade 
1.5% 2.9% 3.6% 1.6% 2.8% 3.6% 2.2% 2.6% 3.4% 

Retail Trade 7.1% 12.3% 9.7% 7.0% 12.1% 9.6% 7.2% 10.3% 7.9% 

Information 

and Financial 

Activities 

20.6% 13.4% 10.6% 20.4% 13.2% 10.6% 21.8% 13.6% 10.1% 

Professional 

and Technical 

Services 

5.1% 8.7% 11.8% 5.6% 8.7% 12.1% 7.6% 10.1% 14.2% 

Administrative 

Support 
10.0% 6.6% 7.4% 10.5% 6.6% 7.5% 13.9% 7.4% 8.1% 

Education 0.0% 4.9% 7.1% 0.1% 4.9% 7.0% 0.2% 4.9% 7.1% 

Healthcare 5.1% 7.8% 13.8% 5.0% 8.0% 14.1% 6.7% 10.2% 16.6% 

Leisure and 

Hospitality 
6.9% 10.7% 9.0% 6.3% 10.6% 9.1% 6.2% 11.4% 9.4% 

Other Services 8.5% 6.8% 5.9% 8.0% 6.8% 5.8% 6.3% 6.3% 5.5% 

Public 

Administration 
1.3% 3.6% 3.3% 1.5% 3.6% 3.2% 1.5% 3.6% 3.1% 

(Source: SEMCOG) 

 

  



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-17 

 

Table 5.4: Unemployment Rate in Tyrone Township, Livingston County, 

State of Michigan, and United States 2006 - 2021 

 
Tyrone 

Township 

Livingston 

County 

State of 

Michigan 
United States 

2006 5.2% 5.2% 7.0% 4.6% 

2007 5.3% 5.3% 7.1% 4.6% 

2008 6.3% 6.3% 8.2% 5.8% 

2009 11.9% 11.9% 13.1% 9.3% 

2010 7.9% 10.8% 12.2% 9.6% 

2011 8.9% 8.7% 10.0% 8.9% 

2012 8.4% 7.8% 9.0% 8.1% 

2013 7.4% 7.4% 8.7% 7.4% 

2014 6.1% 6.3% 7.2% 6.2% 

2015 4.4% 4.6% 5.4% 5.3% 

2016 4.9% 4.1% 5.0% 4.9% 

2017 4.6% 3.4% 4.6% 4.4% 

2018 4.3% 3.3% 4.2% 3.9% 

2019 4.1% 3.2% 4.1% 3.7% 

2020 3.4% 8.6% 10.0% 8.1% 

2021  3.4%  4.2% 5.9% 5.3% 

(Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census) 

 

  



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-18 

 

Table 5.9.1: State Equalized Value in Tyrone Township 2006-2022 

Year Real Personal Total 

2006 $545,125,700  $14,888,987  $560,014,687  

2007 $567,180,500 4.0% $17,504,000 17.6% $584,684,500 4.4% 

2008 $563,987,900 -0.6% $19,295,557 10.2% $583,283,457 -0.2% 

2009 $494,915,300 -12.2% $17,165,600 -11.0% $512,080,900 
-

12.2% 

2010 $457,337,600 -7.6% $18,009,700 4.9% $475,347,300 -7.2% 

2011 $422,950,100 -7.5% $17,820,100 -1.1% $440,770,200 -7.3% 

2012 $380,641,800 -10.0% $25,879,200 45.2% $406,521,000 -7.8% 

2013 $392,798,000 3.2% $34,959,300 35.1% $427,757,300 5.2% 

2014 $423,015,200 7.7% $29,389,500 -15.9% $452,404,700 5.8% 

2015 $455,208,600 7.6% $42,819,500 45.7% $498,028,100 10.1% 

2016 $487,081,400 7.0% $46,641,500 8.9% $533,722,900 7.2% 

2017 $525,048,000 7.8% $48,291,500 3.5% $573,339,500 7.4% 

2018 $544,732,500 3.7% $49,955,800 3.4% $594,688,300 3.7% 

2019 $593,398,200 8.9% $51,206,800 2.5% $644,605,000 8.4% 

2020 $642,426,300 8.3% $51,239,700 0.1% $696,666,000 8.1% 

2021 $678,835,400 5.7% $50,729,500 -1.0% $729,564,900 4.7% 

2022 $732,239,213 7.9% $51,044,900 0.6% $783,284,113 7.4% 

(Source: Tyrone Township) 

 



Economic Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 5-19 

 

Table 5.9.2: Governmental Revenues Tyrone Township 2006-2022 

 Property 

Taxes 

State 
Revenue 

Sharing 

Fees, Fines, 
Licenses, 

Services Other Total 

2005 $354,691 $568,311 $255,776 $27,754 $1,206,532 

2006 $380,945 $580,651 $26,587 $33,944 $1,022,127 

2007 $393,901 $580,794 $303,192 $33,988 $1,311,875 

2008 $401,870 $573,815 $338,022 $50,501 $1,364,208 

2009 $421,135 $586,982 $324,540 $56,009 $1,388,666 

2010 $406,196 $508,511 $337,952 $36,119 $1,288,778 

2011 $365,341 $560,212 $387,136 $59,545 $1,372,234 

2012 $355,849 $787,886 $488,875 $38,251 $1,670,861 

2013 $353,238 $727,780 $319,925 $75,555 $1,476,498 

2014 $364,380 $740,933 $308,325 $50,186 $1,463,824 

2015 $373,485 $789,984 $346,830 $269,125 $1,779,424 

2016 $398,928 $780,269 $371,739 $80,892 $1,631,828 

2017 $425,196 $887,025 $378,255 $39,907 $1,730,383 

2018 $443,809 $850,976 $392,354 $135,062 $1,822,201 

2019 $445,624 $888,208 $400,146 $69,298 $1,803,276 

2020 $458,157 $933,055 $391,296 $376,596 $2,159,104 

2021 $473,151 $945,226 $394,460 $43,855 $1,856,692 

2022 $486,806 $1,401,248 $400,806 $97,534 $2,386,394 

 (Source: Tyrone Township) 

 

 

[End of Economic Analysis Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-1 

 

6.1. Overview 

The natural environment of Tyrone Township creates opportunities and limitations on 

the type and location of future development. The natural, rural character of the 
Township is one of the main attractions for residents. 

Several important natural environment conditions in the Township are: 

➢ There are significant surface waters, including lakes and rivers; 

➢ Residents and businesses rely primarily on groundwater for their 

drinking water; 

➢ There are records of elevated arsenic levels in some wells; 

➢ Wetland areas can be found throughout the Township but are located 
primarily along the waterways and lakes;  

➢ The significant areas of loamy soils are well-drained and do not pose 

significant challenges to development; 

➢ A majority of the soils support agricultural uses; and 

➢ There are significant woodland areas, including tree rows. 

 

6.2. Surface Water 

The most unique and significant natural features in Tyrone Township are its many 

lakes and rivers. They provide recreational opportunities for residents and unique 
residential areas. 

The Township is within the Shiawassee River watershed, with water flowing 

northwards where it converges with the Tittabawassee River and eventually emptying 
into the Saginaw Bay. 

See Watershed Map on page XX. 

Some of the notable lakes in the Township are Shannon Lake, Runyan Lake, Tyrone 
Lake, Denton Lake, Goodfellow Lake, Sullivan Lake, Lake Urban, Hoisington Lake, 

and Marl Lake. 

See Natural Feature Map on page XX. 

The level of development surrounding the lake varies. Lake Tyrone, Lake Shannon, 
and Runyan Lake are surrounded primarily by single-family houses. Sullivan Lake, 
Marl Lake, and Denton Lake have some single-family houses and some remaining 

undeveloped areas. The other lakes are primarily surrounded by undeveloped lands. 



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-2 

 

The northern side of Sterns Lake is an active gravel/sand pit. It is common for these 

operations to leave a waterbody or waterbodies following mining operations. It is 
likely that the area around this lake will expand in the future with continued mining 

activities. 

Limited areas along Shannon Lake, Hoisington Lake, and North Ore Creek are within 
a 1 percent (100 year) floodplain. The Township is not a participating community in 

the National Flood Insurance Program, so residents are unable to purchase flood 
insurance. 

There are four Livingston County Drain Districts in the Township. They are associated 
with managing stormwater for residential developments. 

See Drain District Map on page XX. 

In the community survey, 95 percent of respondents strongly supported (66 percent) 
or supported (29 percent) protection of surface water, including lakes and rivers. 

 

6.3. Groundwater 

Properties within Tyrone Township rely on on-site wells to provide drinking water. 

Because the Township is near the headwaters of the watershed and there are limited 

commercial or industrial uses in the Township, there is reduced risk of contamination 
to surface waters or groundwaters from upstream sources. Failed septic systems may 
pose a risk to groundwater quality because of the heavy reliance on these systems. 

According to the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, a 
significant number of wells within the Township have elevated levels of arsenic 

(greater than 10 parts per billion). These elevated levels are common in Michigan 
and could require special filtration or could limit development. 

Because of the reliance on individual wells due to the lack of a public water system, 

the protection of groundwater from contamination is of great importance. 

In the community survey, 94 percent of respondents strongly support (69 percent) 

or support (25 percent) protection of groundwater. 

 

6.4. Wetlands 

There are many wetlands in Tyrone Township, primarily along lakes or rivers.  

Wetlands that are connected with lakes or rivers are considered state-regulated 
wetlands.  There are smaller wetland areas that are not connected and are considered 
non-state-regulated wetlands. 

Wetland soils have a frequent presence of water saturation, when not drained or tiled.  
They also contain heavy concentration of organic material, such a peat, marl, or 

decomposed vegetation.  These soils are not suitable for development, but they are 
important for supporting wetland vegetation and a habitat for fish and wildlife.  They 

are also valuable for filtering sediment out of surface water runoff and as natural 
stormwater management. 



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-3 

 

State regulated wetlands are protected by Part 303 of the Natural Resources and 

Environmental Protection Act (PA 451 of 1994).  Certain activities within these 
wetlands, such as dredging, filling, grading, or removing vegetation, require review 

and approval by the State. 

The Township does not have a general law wetland ordinance, but the Zoning 
Ordinance does include some provisions to protect wetlands, such as minimum 

setbacks and preservation standards. 

Wetland areas have been generally identified by the Michigan Department of Natural 

Resources and the US Fish and Wildlife Services National Wetlands Inventory.  Exact 
location of wetlands should be determined by a wetland delineation. 

See Natural Features Map on page XX. 

In the community survey, 92 percent of respondents strongly supported (57 percent) 
or supported (34 percent) protection of wetlands. 

 

6.5. Woodlands 

Tyrone Township was once primarily covered by woodlands, but those woodlands 
were cleared to allow for agricultural fields at the time of settlement. 

Several large woodland areas and tree lines between fields remain and contribute to 
rural character of the Township.  These trees also provide environmental benefits, 
such as reducing stormwater runoff, reducing local temperature, creating wind blocks 

and reducing wind erosion, and providing habitat for wildlife. 

See Natural Features Map on page XX. 

The Township does not have a general law tree or woodland preservation ordinance, 
but the Zoning Ordinance does require some landscaping. 

In the community survey, 94 percent of respondents strongly supported (64 percent) 

or supported (30 percent) protection of woodlands. 

 

6.6. Soils 

Soils in Tyrone Township are primarily loam soils, including loamy sand, clay loam, 

and sandy loam.  These soils cover a significant majority of the Township and are 
relatively well-drained and do not present significant challenges to development. 

Muck soils are found in the Township primarily along waterways.  These soils are 
generally not well drained and present challenges to development.  Most of these 
areas are or have historically been wetlands. 

Areas with complex soils are found along waterways, in the southeastern portion of 
the Township, and in the northern portion of the Township.  Due to glacial action, 

these areas contain a variety of soil types in a small area and onsite investigation is 
necessary to determine the exact soil conditions. 

See General Soil Type Map on page XX. 



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-4 

 

Soils can also be classified with respect to their ability to support agriculture. 

PRIME FARMLAND.  These soils, as defined by the US Department of Agriculture, 
describe lands that have the best combination of physical and chemical characteristics 

for producing food, feed, forage, fiber, or oilseed crops and are available for those 
uses.  It includes cultivated land, pastureland, woodlands, or other lands but does 
not include urban or built-up land or water areas.  The soil quality and moisture 

supply are those needed to economically produce sustained high yields of crops when 
proper management and farming methods are used.  It has an adequate and 

dependable supply of moisture from precipitation or irrigation, a favorable 
temperature and growing season, acceptable acidity or alkalinity, and few or no 
rocks.  Prime farmland is permeable to water and air.  It is not excessively erodible 

or saturated with water for long periods and is either not frequently flooded during 
the growing season or is protected from flooding. 

PRIME FARMLAND IF DRAINED.  These soils describe lands that would be prime 
farmland if drained, with field tiles, for example.  They may be subject to a higher 
water table or contain soils that do not drain as well. 

FARMLAND OF LOCAL IMPORTANCE.  These soils describe lands that have been 
farmed for a significant period of time but do not have all of the characteristics of 

prime farmland.  As such, additional management techniques may be necessary, or 
crop yields may be reduced. 

NOT PRIME FARMLAND.  These soils describe lands that do not possess ideal physical 

or chemical characteristics for farming. 

A significant portion of the soils in the Township are considered prime farmland or 

prime farmland if drained.  The area with soils considered farmland of local 
importance is also significant.  The area with soils considered not prime farmland is 
somewhat limited, primarily due to topography or muck soils. 

See Farm Soil Type Map on page XX. 

In the community survey, 93 percent of respondents strongly support (56 percent) 

or support (37 percent) the protection of working farmlands. 

 

6.7. Slopes 

The surface geology of Tyrone Township was formed 10,000 to 12,000 years ago 

when glacial activity deposited soils that shaped the current topography. 

Most areas in the Township can be described as rolling hills, with several steep slope 

areas. 

The highest point in the Township is the old Kandahar Ski Club north of Foley Road 
and west of Hartland Road, with an elevation of roughly 1,250 feet above sea level.  

The lowest point in the Township is Hoisington Lake in the northwest, with an 
elevation of roughly 858 feet above sea level. 



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-5 

 

Steep slope areas are primarily located around the old Kandahar Ski Club and 

surrounding lake and river areas.  These areas can present challenges for agriculture 
use and for development. 

See Elevation and Slope Map on page XX. 

 

6.8. Dark Skies 

There is limited light pollution in Tyrone Township, due to the small number of 

commercial areas in the Township.  The darkness of the night sky is relatively free of 
interference from artificial light. 

Light from Fenton and Linden to the north and commercial areas along Old US-23 in 

Tyrone Township and M-59 in Hartland do contribute artificial light to the night sky. 

The naturally dark skies contribute to the rural character of the Township. 

The Township does not have a general law dark sky ordinance, but the Zoning 
Ordinance does include some provisions limiting light pollution for nonresidential 
developments. 

In the community survey, 68 percent of respondents strongly supported (41 percent) 
or supported (27 percent) protection of dark skies. 

 

6.9. Land Capacity 

Land capability provides a general indication of which areas are the most capable and 
the least capable of supporting development, based on natural resources. Land 

capacity is typically measured using soil, wetland, floodplain, and slope data. 

Development and use of these areas present challenges and could cause negative 
impacts on surrounding areas and the community in general.  These areas should be 

preserved to the extent possible. 

See Natural Features Map on page XX and Elevation and Slope Map on page XX. 

Although this study is useful for general planning purposes, detailed study and 
examination should be conducted for specific sites. 

 

[Balance of page intentionally blank.] 

 

  



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-6 

 

Watershed Map 

  



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-7 

 

Natural Features Map 

 

  



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-8 

 

Drain District Map 

  



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-9 

 

General Soil Type Map 

  



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-10 

 

Farm Soil Type Map 

  



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-11 

 

Elevation and Slope Map 

  



Natural Environment Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 6-12 

 

 

[End of Natural Environment Analysis Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-1 

 

7.1 Overview 

Transportation systems are an important element of every community. They facilitate 
movement within its boundaries and provide connections with other communities. 

They can facilitate or limit the potential types and nature of development. 

Several important transportation conditions and trends in the Township are: 

➢ The transportation system continues to remain primarily roads; 

➢ Most of the roads are public, maintained by the Livingston County Road 
Commission; 

➢ Most of the roads are considered local roads, with several classified as 
minor collectors or major collectors; 

➢ US-23 has the highest volume of traffic, followed by other paved roads 

primarily along US-23 or in the northern portion of the Township; 

➢ Roughly 32 percent of the public roads in the Township are considered 

good or fair condition, 26 percent are considered poor, and 40 percent 
are unrated (not paved); 

➢ There is not a cohesive nonmotorized transportation system (trails or 

pathways) within the Township; and 

➢ There are no airports, railroads, or water transportation within the 

Township. 

 

7.2 Roads 

The road network is the most important transportation system within Tyrone 

Township. 

Although the Township may participate in the maintenance of roads, it does not own 
and is not responsible for any roads. The Livingston County Road Commission or 

Michigan Department of Transportation are responsible for public roads.  
Homeowners’ associations or property owners are responsible for private roads. 

See the Road Ownership Map on page XX. 

There is a pretty even balance between paved and unpaved roads in the Township.  
Roughly 56 percent of the public roads are paved and 44 percent are unpaved.  

Private roads are also split between paved and unpaved. 

See the Road Surface Map on page XX. 

US-23 is the most important road in the Township and is an important transportation 
corridor in the State of Michigan. It connects the Township with major cities in 
southeastern Michigan and beyond, providing opportunities for residents to travel to 

work, shopping, and entertainment and access for businesses to markets, materials, 



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-2 

 

and potential employees. It also creates challenges, such as noise, visual instruction, 

and physical separation of the community.  There are two entrance/exit interchanges 
on US-23, at White Lake Road and Center Road. 

Other roads in the Township generally provide access to US-23, properties within the 
community, or nearby communities. 

In the community survey, most respondents had positive responses about the 

adequacy of the road network. Of the respondents, 68 percent strongly agreed (8 
percent) or agreed (60 percent) that the road system in general is adequate for 

current demand. 61 percent of respondents strongly agreed (8 percent) or agreed 
(53 percent) that the paved road system is adequate for current demand. 

 

ROAD CLASSIFICATION 

Roads are classified using the National Functional Classification (NFC) system, 

developed by the Federal Highway Administration. This system defines roads 
according to their function and determines which roads are eligible for federal aid.  
The Township also uses road classification to determine specific road types for certain 

land uses. Below is a summary of the categories in the National Functional 
Classification. 

INTERSTATE HIGHWAYS move people and goods over long distances at high speeds 
with limited and controlled access. The closest interstates are I-75, which is roughly 
12 miles north of the Township, and I-96, which is roughly 12 miles south of the 

Township. 

PRINCIPAL ARTERIALS generally move people and goods over long-distances with 

limited access. They also provide access to important traffic generators, such as 
major airports or regional shopping centers. Examples include certain freeways, state 
routes between large cities, and important surface roads in a community. US-23 runs 

north/south through the Township. 

MINOR ARTERIALS are similar in function to principal arterials, except they move 

people and goods over shorter distances and to lesser traffic generators. Examples 
include state routes between smaller cities, surface streets of medium importance in 
large cities, and important surface streets in smaller cities. Because of greater 

accessibility to adjacent land uses and controlled intersections, speeds are generally 
slower than principal arterials. There are no minor arterials in the Township. 

MAJOR COLLECTORS collect traffic from local roads and connect it with the 
surrounding arterial roads. They also funnel traffic from residential or rural areas to 

arterials.  Generally, they are not intended for through traffic, but may serve this role 
if arterials are congested or not available. There are several major collectors in the 
Township, including: Denton Hill; Bennet Lake, between Deerfield Township and Old 

US-23; and White Lake, between Bennet Lake and Denton Hill. 

MINOR COLLECTORS are similar to major collectors, collecting traffic from local roads 

and connecting it with major collectors and surrounding arterial roads. There are 
several minor collectors in the Township, including: Old US-23, north of Faussett and 



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-3 

 

between Center and Hogan; Parshallville, between Linden and Old US-23; and White 

Lake, between Denton Hill and Tipsico Lake. 

LOCAL ROADS primarily provide direct access to properties and connections to 

collectors but may also provide residents access to other properties in the immediate 
area.  The majority of roads in the Township, all those not otherwise identified above, 
are classified as local roads. 

Table 7.2.1A below lists the roads in Tyrone Township according to their National 
Functional Classification in 2022. 

 

Table 7.2.1A: National Functional Classification in Tyrone Township 2022 

Interstate Highways none 

Principal Arterials US-23 

Minor Arterials none 

Major Collectors 

Denton Hill 

Bennet Lake, between Deerfield Township and Old US-23 

White Lake, between Bennet Lake and Denton Hill 

Minor Collectors 

Old US-23, north of Faussett and between Center and 
Hogan 

Parshallville 

White Lake, between Denton Hill and Tipsico Lake 

Local Roads All other roads not mentioned above 

(Source: Livingston County Road Commission) 

 

URBAN AREAS 

The Federal Highway Administration has categorized roads based on the density of 
the population starting in 1991 to represent the different characteristics and uses of 

roads in urban versus rural areas.  In general, an Urban Area has a population of 
more than 5,000 people; a Small Urban Area has a population between 5,000 and 

49,999 people; an Urbanized Area has a population of more than 50,000 people. 

Roads and other transportation improvements within Urban Areas are eligible for 
urban area funding.  Roads and other transportation improvements not within Urban 

Areas are eligible for rural area funding. 

The northern portion of the Township is located within the Flint Urban Area. 

 

 

 

 



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-4 

 

TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

Traffic volumes can affect the quality of life and may have an impact on and be 
impacted by future developments.  Roads have capacity measures that describe the 

maximum number of vehicles that can pass based on different conditions. When a 
road reaches or exceeds its capacity, vehicles may experience delays, trips may move 
to other roads, or people may reduce the number or trips they take. 

The most common metric used for transportation planning is average annual daily 
traffic, which is the estimated mean daily (24 hour) traffic volume. Often, on-site 

traffic counts are taken for a limited period of time and adjustments are made to 
factor for seasonal and day-of-week differences. The Livingston County Road 
Commission and Michigan Department of Transportation conduct traffic counts at 

many locations in Tyrone Township. 

US-23 has the highest traffic volumes, with average annual daily traffic of 39,147 to 

61,364 trips, depending on the segment. White Lake Road between Carmer Road and 
Bennet Lake Road has between 4,950 and 6,170 trips. Sections of Bennet Lake and 
Linden Road have between 6,120 and 6,180 trips. Old US-23 between Center Road 

and Faussett Road has between 3,570 and 3,600 trips, depending on the segment.  
Faussett Road between Old US-23 and Linden Road has 3,080 trips. Most segments 

of Denton Hill Road have more than 2,000 trips. Unpaved roads have significantly 
fewer trips, with several having as few as 80 trips. 

See the Traffic Volume Map on page XX. 

Another common metric used for transportation planning is level of service (LOS), 
which describes the length of delays experienced at an intersection or road segment 

versus free-flowing conditions.  Level of service falls into one of six categories from 
A to F, with A representing no delay and F representing the greatest delay.  This is 
what most people experience because it increases the time required to complete a 

trip. 

Unfortunately, level of service information does not exist on a Township-wide basis.  

This information is generally prepared as part of traffic studies conducted for specific 
projects.  The Township could work with partners to develop this information in the 
future. 

 

TRUCK ROUTES 

The Township adopted a Truck Route Ordinance (Ordinance 38) in 1999 that 
designated truck routes in the Township.  This Ordinance has been amended several 

times since adoption, to add penalties for violations as well as additional routes. 

In order to enforce this ordinance, truck routes/non-truck routes need to be posted. 

Exceptions are allowed for fire trucks, farm equipment, road construction/repair 

equipment, waste haulers, and deliveries. 

Table 7.2.2 below lists the roads in Tyrone Township that are designated as truck 

routes. 



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-5 

 

Table 7.2.2: Designated Truck Routes in Tyrone Township 2022 

Bennett Lake, from the Township border to White Lake 

Denton Hill 

Foley, from the north/south half section line of Section 14 to Denton Hill 

Hogan, from US-23 to Township border 

Old US-23 

US-23 

White Lake, from Bennett to Denton Hill 

(Source: Tyrone Township) 

 

See the Truck Routes Map on page XX. 

 

COMMUTING 

Most of the Township’s residents commute to other communities for employment. 

In the community survey, 12 percent of respondents stated that they commuted to 

a location in Tyrone Township or Fenton for work, and 15 percent of respondents 
stated that they worked from home. 

According to the American Community Survey, the mean travel time to work for 

Township residents was 35 minutes. 

Fourteen percent of respondents in the community survey said their daily commute 

was 20 minutes or less; 16 percent of respondents said their daily commute was 21 
to 45 minutes; and 10 percent of respondents said their daily commute was 45 
minutes or longer. 

 

CARPOOL LOTS 

There are no Michigan Department of Transportation carpool parking lots in Tyrone 
Township. 

The closest carpool parking lot to the north is at Silver Lake Road, west of US-23, 

roughly one mile north of the Township.  The closest carpool parking lot to the south 
is at Old US-23, west of US-23 and north of M-59, roughly four miles south of the 

Township. 

Many residents informally use existing parking lots, such as the Tyrone Hills Golf Club 

on Center Road, west of US-23, as a carpool lot. 

In the community survey, 52 percent of respondents strongly supported (6 percent) 
or supported (46 percent) park and ride/commuter parking lots. 

 

 



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-6 

 

CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE 

The Livingston County Road Commission is responsible for construction, 
maintenance, and improvements of most public roads, excluding US-23, within 

Tyrone Township.  The Road Commission for Oakland County is responsible for a 
portion of Tipsico Lake Road.  The Genesee County Road Commission is responsible 
for a portion of Bennett Lake Road.  The City of Fenton is responsible for Shiawassee 

Avenue and Jayne Road. 

The Road Commission is funded primarily through the Michigan Transportation fund 

from fuel taxes and vehicle registration fees, based on miles of public roads.  Funding 
can also come from State and Federal grants, local special assessment districts, and 
contributions from local units of government.  There is a substantial gap between 

anticipated costs and anticipated funds for public roads, which may affect the Road 
Commission’s interest or ability to accept dedication of additional public roads in the 

future. 

There are no millages or special assessment districts dedicated to road or 
transportation construction or maintenance in the Township. 

The Township requires maintenance agreements when new private roads are 
established.  There are a number of existing private roads that do not have a recorded 

maintenance agreement. 

The Michigan Transportation Asset Management Council has developed a rating 
system to standardize evaluation of roads and development of maintenance plans.  

This PASER (Pavement Surface Evaluation and Rating) rating is used for asphalt and 
concrete roads.  New roads are rated a 10, and failed roads are rated a 1.  Roads 

with a rating of 8+ are considered good; roads with a rating of 5-7 are considered 
fair; and roads with a rating of 1-4 are considered poor.  Roads with a rating of 0 are 
not rated; this generally applies to unpaved roads. 

Table and Graph 7.2.3 below show the PASER ratings for public roads in the Township 
in 2022. 

 

Table 7.2.3: Road PASER Ratings 2022 

Condition 
Centerline 

Miles 

Percentage 

(including unrated) 

Percentage 
(excluding unrated) 

Good (8+) 15.485 17.3 percent 29.1 percent 

Fair (5-7) 13.807 15.4 percent 25.9 percent 

Poor (1-4) 23.915 26.8 percent  45.0 percent 

Unrated 0 (unpaved) 35.927 40.3 percent n/a 

(Source: Livingston County Road Commission) 

 

 



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-7 

 

Graph 7.2.3: Road PASER Ratings 2022 

(Excluding unrated roads) 

 

(Source: Livingston County Road Commission) 

 

Although 55 percent of the rated roads in the Township are rated good or fair, the 45 
percent of rated roads ranked as poor is notable. 

See the PASER Map on page XX. 

In the community survey, only 26 percent of respondents described the paved public 
roads as excellent (2 percent) or good (24 percent) condition. 17 percent of 

respondents described unpaved public roads as excellent (1 percent) or good (16 
percent) condition. 

The Township is not responsible for maintenance of public roads, but it could 

participate through the contribution of funds to road improvement projects through 
use of general fund monies, special assessments, or a dedicated millage.  In the 

community survey, 54 percent of respondents strongly support (11 percent) or 
support (43 percent) a millage dedicated to road improvements. 

 

7.3 Public Transportation 

Public transportation in Tyrone Township is available through Livingston Essential 
Transportation Services (LETS). LETS provides door-to-door service within the 
Township and Livingston County. Connections are available to destinations in other 

counties for medical purposes. 

LETS Transit Master Plan calls for improving connections with adjacent public 

transportation services, such as the Mass Transportation Authority to the north in 
Genesee County and the Ann Arbor Area Transportation Authority to the south in 
Washtenaw County. 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Good (8+) Fair (5-7) Poor (1-4)



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-8 

 

In the community survey, 53 percent of respondents strongly agreed (11 percent) or 

agreed (42 percent) that the public transportation system is adequate for current 
demand. 

 

7.4 Pedestrians and Bicycles 

Tyrone Township lacks a cohesive pedestrian or bicycle transportation system, typical 
amongst rural communities. Existing sidewalks in the Township are generally limited 

to individual developments. While it is possible to walk or bike along roads, that 
option is generally undesirable due to limited space, traffic volumes, and traffic 
speed. 

To the north, the LAFF Pathway runs through Argentine Township, along Silver Lake 
Road, eventually connecting with Linden. Future phases call for expansion through 

Fenton Township to the City of Fenton. 

Livingston County has long-term plans anticipating a trail running from Deerfield Hills 
Park south through Parshallville and a trail running east/west using an ITC corridor. 

In the community survey, 41 percent of respondents strongly agreed (6 percent) of 
agreed (35 percent) that the pedestrian or bicycle transportation system is adequate 

for current demand. 

When asked about support for pedestrian and bicycle improvements, 74 percent of 
respondents strongly support (31 percent) or support (43 percent) public, 

nonmotorized pathways.  47 percent of respondents strongly support (13 percent) or 
support (34 percent) a millage dedicated to nonmotorized pathway improvements. 

For new developments, 65 percent of respondents strongly support (17 percent) or 
support (48 percent) internal sidewalks for new developments, and 63 percent 
strongly support (18 percent) or support (45 percent) pathways along public roads 

for new developments. 

In the community visioning session, there was support for pedestrian and bicycle 

improvements, including wider shoulders and dedicated pathways. 

 

7.5 Air Transportation 

There are no commercial aviation, general aviation, or military airports within Tyrone 

Township.  

The largest airport in the region is Detroit Metropolitan Wayne County Airport (DTW), 
also known as Detroit Metro. It is located in Romulus, which is roughly 55 minutes 

from the Township via US-23 and I-94. The airport currently has 12 major carriers, 
is a hub for Delta and Spirit, and has many charter flight operators.  Direct flights are 

available to more than 140 destinations, including most major US cities and over 14 
international destinations. The airport also serves as an air cargo hub. 

Flint Bishop Airport (FNT) is located in Flint, roughly 15 miles north of the Township 
via US-23. The airport is currently served by 3 airlines and charter flight operations.  



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-9 

 

Direct flights are available to 13 destinations in the US. The airport also provides air 

cargo operations. 

Oakland County International Airport (PTK) is located in Waterford Township, roughly 

25 miles southeast of the Township. It does not have scheduled flights, but charter 
flights are available. 

Price’s Airport (9G2) is located in Fenton Township near Linden, roughly one mile 

north of the Township’s northern border. It does not have scheduled flights but 
provides hangar space for private aircraft and charter flights may be available. 

 

7.6 Railroads 

There are no railroads or railroad infrastructure in Tyrone Township. 

CN operates a freight rail line that runs through Rose Township, Holly Township, 

Fenton Township, and Fenton. This line connects with Detroit to the south and Durand 
to the north. 

CSX Transportation operates a freight rail line that runs through Rose Township, Holly 

Township, and Highland Township. This line connects with Toledo to the south and 
Flint to the north. 

Passenger rail service is available with Amtrak to the north in Flint on the Blue Water 
service, which connects with Port Huron to the east and Chicago to the west. Service 
is also available in Pontiac and Ann Arbor on the Wolverine service, which connects 

with Detroit to the east and Chicago to the west. 

 

7.7 Water 

There are no water transportation facilities or infrastructure in Tyrone Township. 

 

7.8 Complete Streets 

Tyrone Township recognizes the importance of a transportation system that 
lessens congestion and provides safe and efficient movement of people and 

goods by motor vehicles, bicycles, pedestrians, and other legal users. 

Improvements such as sidewalks, crosswalks, pathways, and accessible curb 

ramps should be encouraged in appropriate locations and consistent with the 
character of the surrounding area. 

 

7.9 Major Trip Generators or Attractors 

Compared with other communities, Tyrone Township does not have typical uses or 
locations that generate or attract a significant volume of trips, like a regional airport, 
medical center, or schools. 



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-10 

 

The largest trip generators in the Township are residential developments. The most 

notable of these are the mobile home parks, due to the high number of dwelling units. 

The cities of Linden and Fenton to the north of the Township attract trips for shopping, 

work, and schools. 

Although they do not generate or attract a large volume of trips, several industrial 
uses along Old US-23 require truck traffic to support the use. The sand/gravel pit on 

Bennet Lake, west of White Lake, and on Hogan just west of the Township also 
generates truck traffic. 

 

[Balance of page intentionally blank.] 

 

  



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-11 

 

Road Ownership Map 

  



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-12 

 

Road Surface Map 

  



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-13 

 

National Functional Classification Map 

  



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-14 

 

Traffic Volume Map 

  



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-15 

 

Truck Routes Map 

  



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-16 

 

PASER MAP 

 

 



Transportation Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 7-17 

 

 

[End of Transportation Analysis Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-1 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND 

8.1 Overview 

The quality of life, identity, and desirability of a community are related to the level 

and quality of public services available, such as education, recreation, public safety, 
and public utilities. The responsibility for providing these services and facilities in 
Tyrone Township is shared by many public and private entities, which is common for 

most townships. 

Changing population, demographics, and land uses may place different demands on 

community facilities and public services. This Article examines the current status of 
various community facilities and public services in the Township. 

Several important community facility and public services details in the Township are: 

➢ Fire and police services are provided through other agencies and paid 
for through a special assessment; 

➢ Enrollment in the school districts serving the Township has decreased 
over the past decade; 

➢ There are limited recreational opportunities in the Township, but there 
are additional opportunities in surrounding communities; 

➢ Utilities are available in the Township, but certain locations may have 

greater challenges accessing them; and 

➢ Sanitary sewer service is available in limited areas of the Township. 

 

8.2 Township Hall 

The Tyrone Township Hall is located at 8420 Runyan Lake Road, just south of Center 
Road in 2020. The property is 10-acres in size, includes a 10,500 square foot building, 

and has an additional accessory building. 

The Township Hall provides a home for the Township’s administration, including 
elected and appointed officials and employees. It includes a meeting hall for use by 

the Township Board, Planning Commission, Zoning Board of Appeals, other public 
bodies, and community groups. 

When searching for a new location, the Township desired a property large enough to 
accommodate future uses in a single campus location.  Police and fire services in the 
Township are currently contracted out with other agencies using remote facilities. 

The property is large enough to support service facilities if so desired in the future. 

The Township is working with the Tyrone Township Historical Society to move the 

Historic Town House from 1887 to the new site in the near future. 

 



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-2 

8.3 Fire  

Tyrone Township does not have its own fire department. The Township contacts for 

fire services with the City of Fenton, Fenton Township, and the Hartland-Deerfield 
Fire Authority. Each department covers a specific area of the Township, but mutual 
aid is provided as necessary. 

See Fire Coverage Map on page XX. 

The Insurance Services Office (ISO) has developed a Public Protection Classification 

(PPC) that is used by fire departments and insurance companies. This measure 
describes how well an area is prepared for fires and is based on the health of the fire 
department, the available water supply, emergency communication, and community 

risk reduction. The highest score is a 1; the lowest score is a 10. 

The ISO Public Protection Classifications in the Township range from a high of 3 along 

the northern border with the City of Fenton to a low of 10 in the southeastern portion 
of the Township. The largest area of the Township has a score of 5, with other areas 
having a score of 4 and 9. 

See ISO Map on page XX. 

A significant challenge for rural communities with respect to ISO Public Protection 

Classification is a greater reliance on volunteer firefighters and a lack of water supply.  
Few areas in the Township are served by a pressurized hydrant system. The Township 
has promoted or required installation of dry hydrant systems, which provide a 

connection to a waterbody that can be connected to a fire truck to provide water. 

Because the Township borders Oakland and Genesee Counties, mobile phone users 

near these borders may have their emergency 911 calls directed to a dispatch center 
in one of those counties, delaying response to the emergency. 

Funding for fire protection services comes from the Township’s Police and Fire Special 

Assessment. 

In the community survey, 42 percent of respondents described the current level of 

fire protection services as excellent (14 percent) or good (28 percent), with 34 
percent describing it as adequate. Of the 53 respondents who have had an interaction 
with the fire protection services in the past five years, 84 percent rated their 

experience as very satisfied (54 percent) or satisfied (30 percent). 

 

8.4 Police 

Tyrone Township does not have its own police department. The Township contracts 

for law enforcement services through the Livingston County Sheriff’s Department. 

The Sheriff’s Department provides eight hours of coverage seven days a week. The 

County Sheriff’s Department is located in Howell, with a satellite office in Hartland 
Township near M-59 and US-23, roughly four miles south of the Township. 

The Township also receives police coverage from the Michigan State Police. The 
closest State Police Post is in Brighton, roughly 10 miles south of the Township. 



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-3 

Similar to fire response, mobile phone users near these borders may have their 

emergency 911 calls directed to a dispatch center in Oakland or Genesee Counties,  
potentially delaying response to the emergency. 

Funding for police services comes from the Township’s Police and Fire Special 
Assessment. 

In the community survey, 43 percent of respondents described the current level of 

police services as excellent (15 percent) or good (28 percent), with 33 percent 
describing it as adequate. Of the 105 respondents who have had an interaction with 

the police services in the past 5 years, 87 percent rated their experience as very 
satisfied (41 percent) or satisfied (46 percent). 

 

8.5 Emergency Medical Services 

Emergency medical services in Tyrone Township are provided by Livingston County 
EMS, which is a part of the County government. 

In addition to emergency medical services, non-emergency transport services and 

educational programs are also provided. 

Service is provided out of a headquarter facility, located in Howell Township, and 

three additional bases. The closest base is the Hartland Fire Authority station on Old 
US_23, just south of the Township’s border. 

Emergency calls for dispatch from mobile users closest to Oakland and Genesee 

Counties may be directed from those respective counites thus delaying potential 
response times.  

 

8.6 Code Enforcement 

Tyrone Township’s Planning and Zoning Department is responsible for enforcing the 
Township’s planning and zoning-related ordinances. The Department includes three 

staff members, who are also responsible for other planning and zoning activities, 
such as staff support for the Planning Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals and 
reviewing zoning permit applications. 

Township staff do not actively search for properties that appear to be out of 
compliance.  Instead, they receive complaints from the public and investigate them, 

which is a common practice in rural communities. 

In the community survey, 76 percent of respondents strongly agreed (28 percent) or 
agreed (48 percent) that code enforcement is an important function of the Township, 

and 26 percent of respondents described code enforcement as excellent (5 percent) 
or good (21 percent), with 21 percent describing it as adequate. Of the 53 

respondents who have had an interaction with code enforcement in the past 5 years, 
48 percent rated their experience as very satisfying (15 percent) or satisfying (33 

percent). 

 



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-4 

8.7 Waste Management 

Tyrone Township does not manage its own waste management services. Residents 

or homeowners’ associations contract with private providers to collect waste and 
recycling. 

There are no landfills, incinerators, or material recovery facilities within the Township.  

All materials are transported out of the Township for disposal or processing. 

There are several characteristics and conditions that would make it difficult to 

establish a landfill or incinerator within the Township in the future. The Township has 
many surface waterbodies and is near the headwaters of the Shiawassee River.  The 
transportation system throughout the Township is not prepared to support the heavy 

truck traffic. There are established residential areas throughout the Township, which 
would be in close proximity to such a facility. There are few accessible areas with 

large parcels. 

Participants in the community survey were asked to describe their level of support 
for several different waste collection options. 68 percent of respondents strongly 

supported (35 percent) or supported (33 percent) having individuals remain 
responsible for their own waste collection; 38 percent strongly supported (9 percent) 

or supported (29 percent) a single waste hauler through the Township with 
individuals paying that company directly; and 45 percent of respondents strongly 
supported (13 percent) or supported (22 percent) a single waste hauler with the 

Township funding the service through some type of fee or assessment. 

The Township has begun early deliberations on the options of consolidating waste 

management services within the community under a single disposal provider. The 
goal is to streamline services without inserting Township personnel as intermediaries 
between residents and the selected provider.  

 

8.8 Schools 

Schools are an important part of communities, providing identity and potentially 
impacting property values. Tyrone Township is within three school districts: Fenton 

Area Public Schools, Hartland Consolidated Schools, and Linden Community Schools. 

See School Districts Map on page XX. 

Fenton Area Public Schools is based in the City of Fenton to the north and is within 
the Genesee County Intermediate School District. School buildings are located within 
the City of Fenton. This school district covers the northern and eastern portions of 

the Township. For the 2021-2022 school year, there were 3,180 students enrolled at 
all of the district’s schools.  It is designated as a school of choice district. 

Hartland Consolidated Schools is based in Hartland Township to the south and is 
within the Livingston County Intermediate School District. School buildings are 

generally located near the intersection of US-23 and M-59.  This school district covers 
the southern portion of the Township. For the 2021-2022 school year, there were 
5,234 students enrolled at all of the district’s schools. It is designated as a school of 

choice district. 



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-5 

Linden Community Schools is based in the City of Linden to the north and is within 

the Genesee County Intermediate School District. School buildings are located within 
the City of Linden and Argentine Township. This district covers the northwestern and 

western portions of the Township. For the 2021-2022 school year, there were 2,466 
students enrolled at all of the district’s schools.  It is designated as a school of choice 
district. 

All of the school districts serving the Township have experienced a trend of declining 
student enrollment, which is typical for most school districts in the State. Since the 

2012-2013 school year, student enrollment declined by 5.1 percent at Fenton Area 
Public Schools, 9.0 percent at Hartland Consolidated Schools, and 17.4 percent at 
Linden Community Schools. 

Graph 8.8 below shows student enrollment and the percent change for the school 
districts serving the Township from the 2012-2013 through the 2021-2022 school 

year. Table 8.8 is located in the Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Appendix. 

 

 Graph 8.8: Student Enrollment Fenton, Hartland, and Linden 2012-2013 
through 2021-2022 

 

(Source: State of Michigan) 

 

Primary educational opportunities are also available at private and parochial schools 

in the area. 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

Fenton Hartland Linden



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-6 

A portion of the Township, within the Genesee Intermediate School District, pays 

participates in a millage to support Mott Community College. Township residents, 
however, are not eligible for in-district tuition. The College’s main campus is in Flint, 

and there is a satellite campus in Fenton. 

8.9 Libraries  

Public libraries may play an important role in communities as a cultural center. They 
can provide books, computer access, music, movies, games, educational 

presentations, and meeting space.   

There are no libraries in Tyrone Township, but residents are served by several 
facilities in neighboring communities. The Fenton Winegarden Library is just north of 

the Township in the City of Fenton; it is part of the Genesee Library District. The 
Hartland Cromaine Library is several miles south of the Township in Hartland 

Township. 

 

8.10   Senior Centers 

There are no senior centers in Tyrone Township, but residents are served by two 

senior centers in adjacent communities. 

The Hartland Senior Center is located in Hartland Township to the south, on M-59 
west of US-23, roughly four miles from the Township. This senior center is sponsored 

by the Hartland Consolidated Schools. It provides a wide variety of activities and 
services, such as exercise classes, sports, cards, art classes, musical performance, 

entertainment, organized trips, and transportation. 

The Loose Senior Center is located in the City of Linden to the north, roughly one 
mile north of the Township. It provides services to residents and family members of 

eight townships, two cities, and one village. It is supported in part by Genesee County 
Senior Millage Funds and Southern Lakes Parks and Recreation Millage funds. It 

provides a wide variety of activities and services, such as meals, exercise classes, 
sports, cards, art classes, entertainment, and organized trips. 

 

8.11   Cemeteries  

There are three public cemeteries and two private cemeteries in Tyrone Township. 

The Township owns and operates Clough Hill Cemetery, Colwell Cemetery, and 
Gardner Cemetery. 

Clough Hill Cemetery, established in 1834, is roughly three acres in size and is located 
at the intersection of Turner and Linden Roads. It is surrounded on three sides by a 

residential development and golf course. 

Colwell Cemetery, established in 1834, is roughly one acres in size and is located on 
White Lake Road west of US-23. It is surrounded by another cemetery, Sunken 

Garden Cemetery, to the east and woodlands and agricultural fields to the south and 
west.  Runyan Creek is located to the south. 



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-7 

Gardner Cemetery, established in 1834, is roughly one and half acres in size and is 

located on Hartland Road south of Germany Road. It is surrounded by agricultural 
fields and woodlands on three sides. 

Tyrone Memory Garden, established in the 1930s, is a privately-owned cemetery. It 
is roughly 25 acres in size and is located on White Lake Road west of US-23. It is 
surrounded by another cemetery, Colwell Cemetery, to the west and woodlands, 

residential, and an event facility to the east and south. 

Yasin Cemetery, established in 2018, is a privately-owned cemetery dedicated to 

green burials. It is roughly 10 acres in size and is located on Denton Hill Road, south 
of Germany Road. It is surrounded by agricultural fields and residential. 

 

8.12   Parks and Recreation 

Tyrone Township does not own or operate any parks or recreational facilities.  
Additionally, there are no Livingston County or State Parks in the Township. Based 
on the Township’s population, the National Recreation and Parks. Association 

recommends roughly 150 acres of park lands to serve the Township. 

Demand for various types of parks and recreation varies based on characteristics of 

the population. The Township, for example, has an older population than many 
communities, which is likely to create interest in more passive parks and recreational 
options. The Township’s younger population will tend to have an interest in organized 

sports and active recreation. 

There are several private recreational facilities within the Township. 

➢ Tyrone Hills Golf Club is located on Center Road west of US-23. It is an 18-
hole course that is open to the public and has organized league play. 

➢ Coyote Preserve Golf Club is located on Linden Road north of Hogan Road. It 

is an 18-hole course that is a part of a clustered residential development and 
is open to the public. 

➢ Land-O-Lakes Bowmen is located on Hartland Road south of Center Road. It is 
an archery club with indoor and outdoor ranges, a clubhouse, and a primitive 
campground. 

➢ The Lyle and Mary Rizor Nature Sanctuary is located south of Faussett Road 
between Linden Road and Old US-23. It is a 30 acre nature sanctuary owned 

and maintained by the Michigan Nature Association. It has two marked trails 
with a total length of one mile that runs through pine forests planted in the 

1930s. 

➢ The Tyrone Sunken Garden is located south of White Lake Road west of Old 
US-23, behind the Tyrone Memory Garden Cemetery. It is an outdoor area 

with a collection of stones from across the country arranged in a Stonehenge-
like manner. 

There are public recreational facilities and programs in surrounding communities that 
are available for and frequently used by Township residents. 



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-8 

8.13   Post Office 

Tyrone Township is within the Fenton 48430 zip code. The Post Office is located just 

north of the Township in the City of Fenton. It offers post office boxes for rent, money 
orders, passport processing, and other services. Mail is delivered to residents in the 
Township by rural carriers. The Township is not large enough to warrant its own zip 

code or post office. 

 

8.14   Utilities 

Tyrone Township does not provide any utility services. Utilities are provided by 

utilities regulated by the Michigan Public Service Commission and public utility 
agencies. 

ELECTRICITY 

Consumers Energy provides electrical service throughout the Township. There are 
several electrical substations and ITC Transmission high-voltage electrical 

transmission corridors that run through the Township. 

NATURAL GAS 

Consumers Energy provides natural gas to areas within the Township. There are 
several gas transmission corridors that run through the Township.  A major natural 
gas pipeline runs along the western side of Old US-23. 

POTABLE WATER 

There are no public water systems in the Township. Potable water is provided by 

individual on-site wells. 

SANITARY SEWER 

Sanitary sewer is provided to limited areas of the Township through the Livingston 

Regional Sewer System, which was formed in 2003.   

This system provides sanitary sewer to properties along Lake Tyrone and Runyan 

Lake. Several subdivisions and mobile home communities are also connected. A 
pressurized line runs along Old US-23 and west along White Lake. 

The sanitary sewer system was intended to improve surface and ground water quality 

in the lakes areas and other environmentally-sensitive areas and to allow for more-
intensive land uses on the western side of US-23. 

The Township has purchased capacity of up to 1,500,000 gallons per day from the 
Genesee County water treatment facility. This is the equivalent of 5,760 Residential 
Equivalency Units (REUs). 

See Sanitary Sewer Map on page XX. 

 

 

 



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-9 

INTERNET 

Spectrum provides cable internet services throughout most of the Township though 
services vary based on location 

According to the Livingston County Broadband Data Collection (March 2022), the 
fastest internet speeds available in the Township is considered “broadband” by the 
Federal Communications Commission, with 25 Mbps download and 3 Mbps upload.  

No areas are shown as having 100 Mbps download and 20 Mbps upload, which is 
considered the threshold for “broadband” by industry experts.   

There are some areas in the Township that do not have cable internet coverage from 
Spectrum, primarily in the western portion of the Township. 

 

[Balance of page intentionally blank.] 

 

  



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-10 

Fire Coverage Map 

  



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-11 

ISO Map 

  



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-12 

School Districts Map 

  



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-13 

Sanitary Sewer Map 

  



Community Facilities and Public Services Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 8-14 

Table 8.8: Student Enrollment Fenton, Hartland, and Linden 2012-2013 

through 2021-2022 

Year 
Fenton Area Public 

Schools 

Hartland 

Consolidated 

Schools 

Linden Community 

Schools 

2012-2013 3,497  5,518  2,988  

2013-2014 3,464 -0.9% 5,548 0.5% 2,954 -1.1% 

2014-2015 3,414 -1.4% 5,562 0.3% 2,879 -2.5% 

2015-2016 3,380 -1.0% 5,537 -0.4% 2,848 -1.1% 

2016-2017 3,403 0.7% 5,523 -0.3% 2,812 -1.3% 

2017-2018 3,389 -0.4% 5,556 0.6% 2,802 -0.4% 

2018-2019 3,448 1.7% 5,482 -1.3% 2,713 -3.2% 

2019-2020 3,450 0.1% 5,468 -0.3% 2,685 -1.0% 

2020-2021 3,279 -5.0% 5,262 -3.8% 2,522 -6.1% 

2021-2022 3,180 -3.0% 5,234 -0.5% 2,466 -2.2% 

(Source: State of Michigan) 

 

[End of Community Facilities and Public Services Analysis Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 



Existing Land Use Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 9-1 

9.1 Overview 

Several important land use conditions in the Township are: 

• The vast majority of the land area is undeveloped. 75.7% of the total land area in 
Tyrone Township is either agricultural or vacant (17,260 acres). According to 
SEMCOG, 89% of land in Tyrone Township is either woodlands or open space.  

• When combined with single-family residential homes, 88.1% of land is used for low-
intensity purposes (20,080 acres). 

• Commercial and industrial establishments make up only 0.1% of land in the 
Township  (228 acres). 

 

9.2 Land Use Categories 

Eleven land use categories were established to describe and map existing land 
use throughout Tyrone Township. These categories are based on data 

extrapolated from SEMCOG and are as follows: 

Agricultural/Rural Residential. These lands include cultivated, crop-
producing fields, animal husbandry, dairying, farmer’s market, and horse 

stables. It may include large properties used for the above agricultural uses, 
including a single-family house.  It does not include uncultivated, open space 

or woodlands. 

Single-family Residential. Any land occupied by a dwelling unit which 

houses one family and is not attached to any other dwelling of which sizes 
may vary. 

Multiple-family Residential. These lands are occupied by dwelling units that 
house multiple families that may or may not be attached, such as duplexes, 

apartment complexes, and manufactured home communities. 

Commercial. Any land occupied by a business or retail establishment 

primarily for the sale of goods or services. This category includes offices. 

Industrial. Any land involved in the intensive production or assembly of 

goods used for export and lighter uses such as warehousing or distribution 

centers. Extractive operations that produce raw materials, such as mines, 
quarries, and oil and gas wells are also considered industrial uses. 

Institutional.  These lands are associated with a public body, such as the 
Township, County, or State, and public institutions, such as schools or 

libraries. Quasi-public institutions, such as private schools and places of 



Existing Land Use Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 9-2 

worship, are also considered institutional uses. 

Recreation/Open Space. These are publicly or privately-owned lands used 

for personal enjoyment and recreational purpose, such as parks, preserved 
woodlands, and golf courses. 

Transportation, Communications, and Utilities. These lands are used for 
roads, public infrastructure, communication facilities, and other transportation 

routes, such as a rail line. 

Vacant. These lands are open, uncultivated, undeveloped, uninhabited, and 

unused areas, such as wetlands, woodlands, scrublands, and open meadows. 

Mixed Use. Properties on which various uses such as office, commercial, 

institutional, or residential are combined in a single building or property in an 
integrated development project. This land use combination of land uses on a 

single property. Although this can include a mixture of any of the types of land 
mentioned, the most common form is a combination of commercial and 

residential use. 

Water. These areas include all bodies of water including lake, streams, ponds, 
drains, reservoirs, and other waterways 
 

9.3 Land Use Survey 

Land use in Tyrone Township has been documented by various entities for 

several decades. 

Previous master plans have included information based on a land use survey 
from the Township’s planning consultant and the Southeastern Michigan 

Council of Governments (SEMCOG). 

Land use information from SEMCOG is used for the current land uses. In some 

cases, corrections have been made based on local information or recent 

changes. 

Although it can be difficult to compare information generated by different 

entities at different times, looking at general changes over time helps provide 

a picture of land use trends in the Township. 

 

 

 

 

 



Existing Land Use Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 9-3 

Table 9.3: Land Use in Tyrone Township 2023 

 Tyrone Twp Oceola 
Twp 

Rose 
Twp 

Deerfield 
Twp 

Brighton 
Twp 

Marion 
Twp 

Hartland 
Twp  Acres % 

Agriculture Residential 12,892.9 56.5% 69.6% 70.6% 73.6% 31.9% 64.8% 45.0% 

Single-Family Residential 2,820 12.4% 11.4% 6.7% 4.0% 23.4% 13.2% 15.4% 

Multiple-Family Residential 20.3 0.1% 0.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.3% 

Commercial 24 0.1% 1.2% 0.1% 0.0% 3.1% 0.4% 1.8% 

Industrial 204.6 0.9% 0.3% 0.0% 0.7% 13.8% 0.3% 1.8% 

Institutional 76.4 0.3% 0.7% 1.2% 0.3% 1.5% 1.1% 2.7% 

Recreational/Open Space 395.4 1.7% 3.9% 5.7% 8.6% 6.2% 3.6% 6.9% 

TCU 414.7 1.8% 0.5% 1.5% 1.5% 0.6% 1.1% 0.7% 

Vacant 4,367.2 19.2% 8.0% 8.3% 6.8% 7.3% 11.0% 18.0% 

Mixed-Use 107.4 0.5% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 

Water 789.2 3.5% 1.7% 4.9% 3.9% 4.8% 2.6% 3.9% 

Not Parceled 692.3 3.0% 1.3% 1.3% 0.5% 7.5% 2.3% 3.1% 

Total 22,804.4 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

(Source: SEMCOG) 

9.4    Land Use Analysis

Like most communities in Livingston County, agriculture is not as prominent in Tyrone 
Township as in years past. Agricultural land use has declined by almost 10% in the 

last two decades due to residential growth and development. In spite of this, it 
remains the most prominent land use category in the township, accounting for over 
half of its total acreage (57.7%). The southeast quadrant of the Township has the 

most extensive, contiguous stretch of agricultural land. 

Tyrone Township primarily consists of low-density single-family residential lots, 

mainly farming residential followed by single-family residential. Single-family 
residential has smaller lots with the most density concentrated in the northern portion 
of the township, along the boundary of Fenton, primarily one-acre lots. Farming 

residential lots are dispersed throughout the Township and have a minimum of 3 
acres. The most significant housing increase in the Township has been in Multiple-

Family housing. Since 2008, the Township has experienced an increase in multiple-
family housing land use via 1.2 acres in 2015 to 20.3 acres in 2020. 

Commercial uses have mainly remained steady in the Township but are infrequently 

found. Commercial establishments are primarily concentrated along the US-23 
corridor and North Fenton Road. 
 

 

 

 



Existing Land Use Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 9-4 

9.5     Adjacent Communities Land Use Analysis 

Land uses can create benefits and impacts that extend beyond a community’s 
boundaries.  It is essential to consider and examine land uses in adjacent 

communities in order to plan appropriately. 

Land uses in the communities that share a border with Tyrone Township, including 
Fenton Township, City of Fenton, Rose Township, Hartland Township, and Deerfield 

Township, are examined.  The communities the township shares a limited boundary 
(corner) are not included in this examination because of the limited impacts those 

land uses are likely to create (Argentine Township, Holly Township, Highland 
Township, and Oceola Township). 

Fenton Township 

Fenton Township shares a boundary with the western portion of Tyrone Township’s 
northern border.  Bennet Lake Road forms a portion of this boundary. 

Land uses in Fenton Township along and near this border are primarily single-family 
dwellings, as individual lots or in subdivisions, small agricultural fields, and 
undeveloped woodlands. Marl Lake extends into Tyrone Township from Fenton 

Township and connects to Silver Lake, home of the Silver Lake Ski Team. Land uses 
on both sides of this border appear to be generally compatible. 

City of Fenton 

The City of Fenton shares a boundary with the eastern portion of Tyrone Township’s 
northern border.  Shiawassee Avenue and Jayne Road form a portion of this 

boundary. 

Land uses in the City of Fenton along and near this border are primarily single-family 

dwellings.  Lots in the City of Fenton are predominantly small, residential lots (62.5% 
of properties are between 8,000 to 13,999 square feet), and 37.5% of properties are 

1/3 to just under an acre in total size. There are several institutional uses, including 
schools.  There are also several undeveloped woodlands and agricultural fields.  
Significant commercial and industrial areas are roughly a mile north of this border, 

along Owen Road. 

Public water and sanitary sewers are available in the City of Fenton, which allows for 

noticeably smaller lot sizes for residential uses. 

Land uses on both sides of this border are generally compatible.  There are some 
locations with a significant difference in the size of single-family residential lots. 

Rose Township 

Rose Township shares a boundary with the eastern side of Tyrone Township.  Tipsico 

Lake Road forms most of this boundary, but the road alignment wanders in several 
locations because of its natural features. 

Land uses in Rose Township along and near this border are primarily single-family 

dwellings, on larger lots of 1-2.4 acres (23.2%) and smaller lake lots (22.8% of 
properties are between 1/3 of an acre to just under an acre), agricultural fields, and 

undeveloped woodlands. Tipsico Lake, with a DNR access site and 41-acre park, is 
just east of the border and in the northwest quadrant of the Township. 



Existing Land Use Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 9-5 

Land uses on both sides of this border are generally compatible.  The lake residential 
area and DNR access site in Rose Township are small in area but are more intensive 

than the uses immediately to the west in Tyrone Township. 

Hartland Township 

Hartland Township shares a boundary with the southern side of Tyrone Township.  
This border is defined by Allen Road, Parshallville Road, Parshall Road, and Holtforth 
Road. 

Land uses in Hartland Township along and near this border are primarily single-family 
dwellings, on larger and smaller lake lots, agricultural fields, and undeveloped 

woodlands.  There are limited commercial uses and a fire station/emergency medical 
services facility along this border.  The hamlet of Parshallville is along this border. 

Tyrone Lake extends into both Townships. 

Land uses on both sides of this border appear to be generally compatible.  The Cider 
Mill Mobile Home Park, at the northwest corner of Old US-23 and Parshallville Road, 

is a significantly more intense use than the adjacent residential uses immediately to 
the south in Hartland Township. 

Deerfield Township 

Deerfield Township shares a boundary with the western side of Tyrone.  This border 
is defined by McGuire Road and O’Connell Road. 

Land uses in Deerfield Township along and near this border are primarily single-family 
dwellings at nearly 50% of the total land area, on both larger and smaller lake lots, 

undeveloped woodlands, and agricultural fields.  There is an extraction operation just 
west of this border on the north side of Hogan Road. 

Lake Shannon and Hoisington Lake extend into both Townships. 

Land uses on both sides of this border appear to be generally compatible.  The 
extraction operation generates truck traffic that travels through Tyrone Township to 

access US-23. 

 

[Balance of page intentionally blank.] 

  



Existing Land Use Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 9-6 

Existing Land Use Map 

 



Existing Land Use Analysis Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 

  

 9-7 

[End of Existing Land Use Analysis Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 

 



Goals and Objectives Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 10-1 

10.1    Overview 

Goals and objectives identified by the Township and documented in this Master Plan 
establish the framework for public and private decision making.  Goals and objectives 

are directed to improving the quality, comfort, and vitality of the community.  They 
should remain valid into the future and provide a consistent basis for ongoing 
planning and zoning decisions and guide public investment and development. 

The goals and objectives are based on careful study of existing conditions in the 
Township and surrounding communities and collecting information and guidance from 

community members, including a community survey and community visioning 
sessions.  (See Appendix A for community survey details and results and Appendix B 
for community visioning session details and results.) 

Goals reflect broad statements that provide a focus for future decisions and describe 
the desired outcomes and end results of the planning process. 

Objectives are more specific planning statements that are used to qualify goals and 
provide more detailed and more focused direction for planning efforts and processes. 

Strategies are very specific, action-oriented statements that are intended to achieve 

the goals and objectives.  Actions and responsibilities are also defined in the 
Implementation Strategies Article. 

 

10.2    Community Character  

Goal 

Development, redevelopment, and other activities will contribute to the preservation 

and enhancement of the Township’s rural and natural character. 

 

Objective 1 

Preserve and enhance the Township’s scenic, rural character. 

1) Ensure adequate setbacks for developments from roads to preserve viewsheds 

and the natural character 

2) Limit impact of development on the visual character of the surrounding area 

3) Preserve tree rows and wooded areas 

4) Incorporate rural and natural features in new developments 

5) Preserve the natural topography 

6) Incorporate historical resources and features in new developments 

7) Encourage the continuation of agricultural operations 



Goals and Objectives Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 10-2 

8) Ensure any road improvements in agricultural areas are consistent with the 

character of the surrounding area 

 

Objective 2 

Preserve and enhance the traditional residential character in the lakes areas 

1) Promote development patterns and standards in these areas that are 

consistent with the established residential character 

2) Limit the intrusion of commercial activities in these areas 

3) Limit overcrowding or keyholing 

4) Reduce pollution in lakes resulting from residential uses, such as fertilizers and 
pesticides 

5) Encourage residential areas near lakes, rivers, and other environmentally-
sensitive areas with septic fields to connect to a public sanitary sewer system 

 

Objective 3 

Ensure that the US-23 Corridor provides an attractive appearance that promotes the 

Township’s desired rural and natural character. 

1) Limit the impact of visual intrusions from billboards 

2) Ensure landscaping and architectural design for commercial uses promote the 
desired character 

3) Ensure landscaping, setbacks, and buffering limit the visual impact of new 

residential developments 

4) Preserve important viewsheds, such as agricultural fields, and natural features, 

such as woodlands 

5) Direct commercial development to the western side of US-23 

6) Establish gateways, welcome signs, and wayfinding/directional signs 

 

Objective 4 

Establish service boundaries for future sewer and road improvements to encourage 
improvements in the desired areas and discourage development in other areas. 

1) Carefully evaluate areas adjacent to developed areas and in areas with public 

utilities and infrastructure to determine the limits of desired denser growth 

2) Discourage the extension of sanitary sewer outside of an established service 

boundary 

3) Consider traffic and level of service impacts for new development 

4) Focus future infrastructure investments and developments to service areas 

 



Goals and Objectives Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 10-3 

10.3    Residential Development and Housing 

Goal 

Promote well-planned residential opportunities that offer a balanced variety of 
options and prices. 

 

Objective 1 

Ensure an appropriate variety of housing options and opportunities. 

1) Promote lower-density housing in areas with fewer services or infrastructure 

2) Limit higher-density housing to areas with more services, infrastructure, and 
paved roads and areas near the City of Fenton 

3) Encourage the development of accessible housing options for seniors 

4) Explore opportunities to allow for accessory dwelling units 

5) Explore opportunities to allow smaller dwelling units 

 

Objective 2 

Ensure the character and design of housing is appropriate for the surrounding area 
and promotes the Township’s desired natural and rural character. 

1) Ensure developmental standard, such as setbacks and lot coverage, are 
consistent with the existing character of the surrounding area and the desired 
residential character 

2) Encourage or require preservation of natural features in new residential 
developments 

3) Mitigate haphazard land divisions that create difficult and unusual properties 

4) Limit overcrowding around lakes 

5) Ensure adequate buffering and screening between incompatible land uses 

 

Objective 3 

Discourage development of additional mobile home communities at this time. 

1) Continue to facilitate the build-out of the current mobile home communities 

2) Monitor mobile home community trends in surrounding communities to ensure 

the Township continues to provide its equitable share 

3) Limit future mobile home communities to areas with adequate infrastructure, 

including sanitary sewer and paved roads 

 

  



Goals and Objectives Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 10-4 

10.4    Nonresidential and Economic Development 

Goal 

Allow nonresidential development that is consistent with the Township’s character, is 
appropriate for the available infrastructure, and does not create a negative impact 
on the community. 

Objective 1 

Limit commercial development to areas capable of supporting the more intense land 

use. 

1) Focus higher-intensity commercial development to areas along the western 
side of US-23 

2) Encourage redevelopment of existing commercial properties 

3) Limit higher-intensity commercial development to paved, primary roads 

 

Objective 2 

Encourage commercial uses that are consistent with the Township’s natural and rural 

character and desired by residents. 

1) Encourage recreational uses and facilities 

2) Encourage home occupation uses that are consistent with the surrounding area 

3) Support agritourism uses that promote continued agricultural operations 

4) Allow for low-impact commercial uses, such as health care offices, small retail, 

and small restaurants 

5) Allow for high-tech and light manufacturing in a limited area where 

infrastructure is available 

6) Discourage heavy industry and similar commercial uses that manufacture, 
process, or handle hazardous materials 

 

Objective 3 

Ensure the character and nature of nonresidential development is appropriate for the 
area and promotes the Township’s desired natural and rural character. 

1) Require high-quality architectural design standards for commercial 

development 

2) Require landscaping that is consistent with the Township’s character 

3) Ensure the installation of adequate buffering and screening between 
commercial and residential uses 

4) Reduce the visual impact of parking lots 

5) Encourage the continued use of existing historic commercial uses 



Goals and Objectives Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 10-5 

10.5    Natural Environment and Features 

Goal 

Protect, preserve, and enhance the natural features and resources that contribute to 
the Township’s desired natural and rural character and provide economic and health 
benefits. 

 

Objective 1 

Protect and preserve the Township’s unique natural features. 

1) Preserve wetlands in their natural state 

2) Preserve woodlands, tree rows, and signature trees either in their natural state 

or through preservation regulations related to proposed development 

3) Limit and reduce the impact of artificial light pollution by considering “Dark 

Skys” ordinance language or other light pollution regulations 

4) Preserve important viewsheds and vistas 

5) Encourage consolidation of nonconforming lots 

6) Discourage parcel fragmentation that creates haphazard development and 
habitat fragmentation 

7) Require environmentally sensitive areas to be limited to low-density and low-
impact uses 

8) Encourage enrollment of agricultural land in Public Act 116 

9) Encourage preservation of natural areas and agricultural lands through 
enrollment in land conservancy programs 

10) Explore updating the Parks and Recreation Plan to support open space 
preservation and recreation facilities  

11) Explore creation of a purchase of development right ordinance 

12) Explore creation of a land preservation committee to identify high-priority 
areas for preservation 

13) Explore the potential for a millage to support purchase of development rights 

Objective 2 

Prevent pollution and hazardous materials from impacting the Township’s natural 

features and resources. 

1) Preserve surface water quality by limiting the impact of residential and 

agricultural stormwater runoff 

2) Educate the public and agricultural operations on the impact of stormwater 

runoff and other activities on water pollution 

3) Regulate and limit hazardous uses and uses of hazardous materials 



Goals and Objectives Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 10-6 

4) Encourage or require higher-intensity commercial uses to connect to a public 

sanitary sewer system 

5) Encourage residential areas near lakes, rivers, or environmentally-sensitive 

areas to connect to a public sanitary sewer system 

6) Limit the impact of harmful aquatic life and invasive species 

 

Objective 3 

Ensure new developments preserve and enhance natural features. 

1) Require incorporation or preservation of important natural features into new 
developments 

2) Encourage cluster development and planned unit developments 

3) Allow for noncontiguous planned unit developments that preserve 
significant natural features 

4) Explore creation of transfer of development rights from areas with 
desired natural features to areas capable of supporting more 
development 

 

10.6    Transportation 

Goal 

Ensure an adequate and appropriate transportation system for the Township’s needs 

in an economical manner. 

 

Objective 1 

Work with Livingston County Road Commission to maintain and improve the current 
public road system. 

1) Work with the Road Commission to identify maintenance and improvement 
priorities 

2) Review the impacts of land uses on the public road system 

3) Limit higher-impact land uses to paved roads 

4) Reevaluate the adopted truck routes and post the existing truck routes, as 

necessary 

5) Encourage or require access management techniques, such as cross access, 

shared drives, and access drives, to limit the impact of curb cuts 

6) Explore creation of a transportation committee to make recommendations on 

public road improvements 

7) Explore the potential for a millage to support the maintenance and 
improvement of public roads 



Goals and Objectives Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 10-7 

8) Explore the creation of a formal carpool lot 

 

Objective 2 

Ensure private roads provide adequate access and are maintained in a safe condition. 

1) Review current private road standards to ensure they require proper 
maintenance and are consistent with fire code and engineering standards 

2) Continue to require maintenance agreements for all new private roads and 
encourage creation of maintenance agreements for existing private roads 

3) Encourage improvements to private roads when possible to address safety and 
access concerns 

4) Consider requiring creation of special assessment districts when new private 

roads are developed 

5) Require new residential developments with private roads to budget for annual 

repairs and eventual replacement 

6) Encourage or require road connections between adjacent developments 

 

Objective 3 

Promote the development of appropriate non-motorized transportation options. 

1) Work with Livingston County and adjacent communities to coordinate 
development of trails 

2) Identify funding sources and grants for development of a trail system 

3) Require new developments to provide paths along the road 

4) Require new residential development to provide internal sidewalks and trails 

5) Ensure trails are barrier free and accessible 

6) Explore adoption of a trail plan to identify desired locations 

7) Encourage or require trail connections between adjacent developments 

8) Explore creation of a transportation committee to make recommendations on 
trail improvements 

9) Explore the potential for a millage to support the development of trails 

 

10.7    Community Facilities and Public Services 

Goal 

Provide appropriate, efficient public services and amenities to enhance the quality of 
life in the Township. 

 



Goals and Objectives Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 10-8 

Objective 1 

Monitor emergency services to ensure that fire, police, and emergency medical 
services are available and appropriate throughout the Township. 

1) Limit more-intense development to areas with better access to fire, police, and 
emergency medical services 

2) Encourage improvement in firefighting infrastructure, such as dry wells 

3) Work with the Sheriff’s Department to ensure adequate coverage is provided 

4) Work with county dispatches to identify and resolve issues with calls routing 

to the wrong county 

5) Maintain communication with the three Fire Departments that service the  
Township to ensure services are coordinated and reliable 

 

Objective 2 

Ensure adequate and appropriate recreational opportunities for Township residents. 

1) Identify specific park and recreation needs in cooperation with Livingston 
County 

2) Explore development of a parks and recreation plan 

3) Investigate development of river access sites 

4) Research grant opportunities for parks and recreation 

5) Work with Livingston County and ITC for development of trails 

6) Require new residential developments to provide recreation area, open space, 

or parks for residents 

7) Require new residential developments to provide trails and sidewalks 

 

Objective 3 

Encourage high-quality and efficient infrastructure and public services. 

1) Expand use of the existing public sanitary system to areas with sensitive 
natural features, such as lakes 

2) Encourage higher-density residential and commercial uses in areas serviced by 
the existing public sanitary system 

3) Limit expansion of the public sanitary system when necessary to remediate 

environmental hazards or when paid for by a development, provided capacity 
remains available for priority areas 

4) Explore consolidation of trash and recycling services 

5) Work with Livingston County and providers to advocate for expansion of high-

speed internet throughout the Township 

 



Goals and Objectives Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 10-9 

[End of Goals and Objectives Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 



Future Land Use Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 11-1 

 

11.1 Overview 

The Future Land Use plan for Tyrone Township outlines desired future development 
patterns over the next 10 to 20 years. Specific land use categories are described in 

this section and incorporated into the Future Land Use Map. 

The Future Land Use plan is based on consideration of a number of factors that have 
been documented and examined through the master planning process and in this 

Master Plan. Those factors include: 

➢ Population, including characteristics and trends 

➢ Infrastructure and utilities 

➢ Natural features and land capacity 

➢ Existing land uses, including within the Township and in surrounding 

communities 

➢ Existing zoning, including within the Township and in surrounding 

communities 

➢ Compatibility of uses 

➢ Community goals, objectives, and policies 

➢ Citizen opinions 

The Future Land Use plan identifies 10 different land use categories. The descriptions 

of these land use categories include general site conditions, design characteristics, 
and site amenities that are anticipated or are desirable. These descriptions are 
intended to provide guidance for future decisions and to guide adoption of Zoning 

Ordinance standards to support this Master Plan. 

 

11.2 Agricultural / Natural   

Agricultural / Natural Preservation areas are intended for small scale or commercial 

agricultural operations, preservation of important natural features, and extremely-
low density rural residential uses. 

These designations are proposed for areas with prime farmland soils, significant 
natural features, such as woodlands, wetlands, and waterbodies, and where the 
infrastructure is not able to support more-intensive uses. 

It is anticipated that these areas will remain dependent on individual on-site well and 
sanitary septic systems. 

Lots in Agricultural / Natural areas should be at least 4 acres in size. 

 

 



Future Land Use Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 11-2 

 

11.3 Low-Density Residential 

Low-Density Residential areas are intended for lower-density residential uses, such 

as large-lot single-family dwellings, and limited agricultural uses. 

They are proposed for areas with lower development pressures due to their location 
and lack of infrastructure, such as roads, water, and sanitary sewer. 

It is anticipated that these areas will remain dependent on individual on-site well and 
sanitary septic systems. 

Lots in Lower-Density Residential areas should be between 1.5 acres to 3 acres in 
size. 

 

11.4 Medium-Density Residential 

Medium-Density Residential areas are intended to provide for more-intense 
residential uses, such as single-family dwellings on moderate-sized lots and two-
family dwellings. 

They are proposed for areas with greater development pressures; areas with better 
access to infrastructure, such as roads, water, and sanitary sewer; and areas where 

it would be beneficial to provide a transition between higher-intensity uses and lower-
intensity residential uses. 

It is anticipated that most of these areas will remain dependent on individual on-site 

wells and sanitary septic systems, but some areas may connect with public sanitary 
sewer systems. 

Lots in Medium-Density Residential areas should be between 0.5 acres to 1.5 acres 
in size.  Lots with on-site sanitary septic systems should be at least 1 acre in size. 

 

11.5 High-Density Residential 

High-Density Residential areas are intended for more-intense residential uses, such 
as single-family dwellings on smaller lots, two-family dwellings, apartments, and 
building condominiums. 

They are proposed for areas with the greatest development pressures; areas with 
appropriate access to infrastructure, such as roads, water, and sanitary sewer; and 

areas with appropriate transitions to less-intense uses. 

It is anticipated that these areas are or will be connected to public sanitary sewer 
systems. These areas may be dependent on individual on-site wells or may be 

connected to public water systems. 

Higher-Density Residential areas should have between 4 dwelling units per acre to 8 

dwelling units per acre. 

 

 



Future Land Use Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 11-3 

 

11.6 Lake Residential 

Lake Residential areas are intended for medium to higher-density residential uses, 

with the goal of recognizing and supporting the unique character of these residential 
areas. 

They are proposed for established residential areas surrounding lakes and other 

waterbodies. 

Most of these areas are connected to public sanitary sewer systems.  Because of the 

environmentally-sensitive nature of these areas, it is preferred that public sanitary 
sewer would be extended throughout these areas. It is anticipated that these areas 
will remain dependent on individual on-site wells. 

Newly-created lot areas in Lake Residential areas should be at least 0.5 acres in size 
where public sanitary sewer systems are available and at least 1 acre in size where 

public sanitary sewer systems are not available. Many existing lots in Lake Residential 
areas are smaller than these desired sizes. 

 

11.7 Mobile Home Residential 

Manufactured Single Family Detached Residential areas are intended for mobile home 
park communities, with relatively high densities of residential units.   

They are proposed for the area of the 2 existing mobile home communities on Hogan 

Road and Old US-23. 

Additional Mobile Home Residential areas are not proposed at this time, as concerns 

exist about road capacity, public sanitary sewer capacity, and school financing. 

The Township believes it provides its fair share of mobile home residential 
opportunities and does not anticipate planning for additional areas in the near future 

without a demonstrated need, proof that suitable sites are not available in adjacent 
communities, and confirmation that adequate infrastructure exists. 

These areas are connected to public sanitary sewer systems. 

Any new Mobile Home Residential in the future should be limited to areas with 
appropriate access to infrastructure, such as roads, water, and sanitary sewer; and 

areas with appropriate transitions to less-intense uses. 

Mobile Home Residential areas should have between 4 dwelling units and 10 dwelling 

units per acre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Future Land Use Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 11-4 

 

11.8 Planned Commercial 

Planned Commercial areas are intended for smaller commercial uses that primarily 

serve the day-to-day needs of the Township’s residents, such as convenience stores, 
small medical offices, and small professional offices. Large commercial uses and 
drive-through uses are not compatible with these areas. These areas should be 

integrated with the surrounding neighborhoods and enhance the appearance and 
enjoyment of the area. 

They are proposed for areas with existing small commercial uses that are served by 
adequate road infrastructure.  It is anticipated that many of these areas will remain 
dependent on individual on-site wells and septic systems, but some may be served 

by public systems. 

Lots in Local Commercial areas should be at least 1.5 acres in size. Specific uses may 

require larger lot sizes. Improvements necessary for commercial uses, such as 
parking, landscaping, and stormwater management are also likely to require larger 
lot sizes for these uses.  Existing lots in these areas may be smaller than these desired 

sizes. 

 

11.9 Planned Industrial 

Planned Industrial areas are intended to allow for a mix of low intensity industrial 

uses, such as research laboratories, design studios, high-tech manufacturing or other 
light uses.  Some other uses, such as packaging, limited warehousing, and assembly 

may be appropriate in certain locations. Outdoor uses, such as outdoor storage, sales, 
or contractors yards, may be appropriate where adequate transitions are provided to 
non-industrial uses. 

They are proposed for areas with larger lots, primarily along Old US-23, with access 
to appropriate infrastructure, including public sanitary sewer. 

These uses should have adequate buffering and landscaping to mitigate any impacts 
on surrounding uses and to support the Township’s desired character along US-23. 

 

11.10 Public/Quasi-Public 

Public/Quasi-public areas are intended for public, quasi-public, and institutional uses, 
such as public facilities, public parks, schools, utilities, and places of worship, that 
primarily serve the Township’s residents but may draw users from outside of the 

Township. 

They are proposed for areas with existing or anticipated public, quasi-public, and 

institutional uses. 

There are no minimum lot dimensions, as needs may vary greatly depending on the 
type of public, quasi-public, and institutional use.  Specific uses may have minimum 

lot sizes. 

 



Future Land Use Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 11-5 

 

11.11 Commercial Recreational 

Commercial Recreational areas are intended for public and private recreational uses, 

such as golf courses, preserved open space, conservation easements, and parks. 
These uses may be limited to residents of a single development, such as a 
neighborhood park, or may be open to the general public, such as a golf course or 

public park. 

They are proposed for areas with existing private recreational uses and existing or 

potential public recreational uses. 

There are no minimum lot dimensions, as needs may vary greatly depending on the 
type of recreational use.  Specific uses may have minimum lot dimensions.  

Commercial indoor recreational uses should be at least 1 acre in size. Outdoor 
recreational uses should have larger lots to accommodate and manage any impacts 

of outdoor uses. 

This Master Plan recognizes that private recreation uses may be sold or closed due 
to economic conditions and may not be maintained or used as private recreational 

land in perpetuity. Therefore, alternate Future Land Uses are also provided for these 
areas, based on the surrounding area and compatibility of uses, in the event that 

land is sold or the use is ended. 

 

  



Future Land Use Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 11-6 

 

11.12 Zoning Plan 

Table 11.12 below describes the future land use areas and the corresponding current 

zoning districts and anticipated future zoning districts.  It also shows the future land 
use designation from the Township’s previous master plan. 

Table 11.12: Zoning Plan 

Master Plan 
Future Land Use 

Designation 

Previous Master 
Plan Future Land 

Use Designation 

Current Zoning 

District 

Agricultural / 

Natural 

Agricultural/ 

Residential 
FR Farming Residential 

Agricultural / 

Natural 

Residential/ Natural 

Resource Preservation 

RE Rural Estate 

Residential 

Low-Density 
Residential 

Low Density Single 
Family Detached 

Residential 

R-1 Single-family 
Residential 

Medium-Density 

Residential 

Medium Density 

Single Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 Single-family 

Residential 

High-Density 
Residential 

High Density Single 
Family Attached 

Residential 

RM-1 Multiple-family 
Residential 

Lake Residential 

Medium Density 

Single Family 
Detached Residential- 

Lakeside 

LK-1 Lake Front 
Residential 

Mobile Home 
Residential 

Manufactured Single 
Family Detached 

Residential 

MHP Mobile Home Park 

Planned Commercial 
Planned Commercial 

Services 

PCS Planned 

Commercial Services 

Planned Industrial 

Planned Office 

Planned Industrial 
Research Office 

Planned Commercial 
Industrial 

OS Office Service 

PIRO Planned 
Industrial Research 

Office  

Public/Quasi-public Public/ Quasi Public 
All, except EI 

Extractive Industrial 

Commercial 
Recreation 

Commercial 
Recreation 

- 



Future Land Use Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 11-7 

 

 

11.13 Area of Future Land Use Assignments 

Table 11.13 below describes the total acreage and percent of the Township 
designated for each of the future land use areas.  Area within rights-of-way and water 
is also included. 

Table 11.13: Area of Future Land Use Assignments 

Master Plan Future 

Land Use Designation 
Acreage Percent  

Agricultural / Natural  12,194 53% 

Low-Density Residential 4,565 19% 

Medium-Density 

Residential 
4,262 18% 

High-Density Residential 63 1% 

Lake Residential 535 2% 

Mobile Home Residential 298 1% 

Planned Commercial 189 1% 

Planned Industrial 165 1% 

Public/Quasi-public 466 2% 

Commercial Recreational 383 2% 

 

 

 

 

[Balance of page intentionally blank.] 

 

  



Future Land Use Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 11-8 

 

Future Land Use Map 

  



Future Land Use Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 11-9 

 

 

[End of Future Land Use Article.] 

 

[Page intentionally blank.] 



Implementation Strategies Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 12-1 

IMPLEMENTATION 

12.1    Overview 

The Master Plan is a statement of objectives and long term goals to facilitate future 

growth and redevelopment in a manner consistent with the communities vision. A 
Master Plan is an official adopted document that provides an outline and policy for 
the achievement of these goals. Its purpose is to balance the changing needs and 

demographics of a community so as to provide for appropriate and manageable 
growth. For these reasons, it should be referred to when considering zoning and land 

use decisions.  

A primary goal of the Master Plan is to prevent development and growth from being 

conducted in a vacuum. In order to ensure its full effectiveness, adequate 
implementation programs must be established. This section will identify such 
programs and policies for implementing the Plan.  

It should be noted that per Michigan Public Act 33 of 2008 (Michigan Planning 
Enabling Act) section 125.3845 part 2 states that the Planning Commission of a 

community shall review the Master Plan at least every five years to establish whether 
the plan is still relevant and/or requires amendments. Amendments may range from 
basic updates to complete rewrites.  

 

12.2    Master Plan Education 

The support and involvement of the Tyrone Township’s citizens and public officials is 
important for the successful implementation of this Master Plan. The Township should 

work to educate its officials and citizens on this Master Plan and to incorporate it into 
regular planning processes and day-to-day decision making processes. An ongoing 

program of discussion, education, and participation will help the Township achieve 
the goals, objectives, and policies in this Master Plan. 

Specific activities to promote education may include: 

➢ Posting this Master Plan in an easy to find location on the Township’s 
website. 

➢ Providing hard copies of this Master Plan for public libraries and public 
purchase. 

➢ Ensuring all elected and appointed officials have a copy of this Master 

Plan. 

➢ Preparing press releases or educational pieces on details of this Master 

Plan for distribution to local media, community organizations, and 
residents. 



Implementation Strategies Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 12-2 

➢ Preparing brochures or flyers highlighting specific elements of this 

Master Plan. 

➢ Conducting an annual open house for Township residents to meet with 

the Planning Commission to learn about this Master Plan, ask questions, 
and make suggestions. 

➢ Including references to the Master Plan in regular planning and zoning 

reports. 

 

12.3    Guide for Zoning Decisions 

Certain zoning decisions, such as special land uses, zoning map amendments, and 

planned unit developments should consider the land use plan and goals, objectives, 
and policies of this Master Plan. It should also be noted as to the age of the plan and 

if upcoming reviews are likely to provide context for considerations. 

Special Land Uses 

When considering a special land use application, consultation with the Future Land 

Use Map and the goals, objectives, and policies of this Master Plan provides guidance 
as to whether or not the special land use is appropriate and consistent with and what 

conditions may be appropriate to support the Township’s vision. It also provides the 
Township with legally-defensible decision making and provides an explanation for its 
decisions. 

Zoning Map Amendments 

When considering a zoning map amendment application (also known as a rezoning), 

some of the primary findings a community needs to make is if the request is 
consistent with the master plan, if there have been any changes in conditions since 
the master plan was adopted, and if there have been any changes in the master 

plan’s goals and objectives. Consultation with the Future Land Use Map and the goals, 
objectives, and policies of this Master Plan provides guidance as to whether or not 

the zoning map amendment would be consistent with the Township’s vision. 

Planned Unit Developments 

When considering a Planned Unit Development (PUD) project, it is important to note 

that they can occur in almost any location and may contain substantial flexibility in 
both design and use. Given these proposals typically include large portions of land 

that may cover several zoning designations, it is important to reference the Master 
Plan and Future Land Use Map to reference if the development fulfills any of the noted 

objectives.   

 

 

 

 

 



Implementation Strategies Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 12-3 

12.4    Special Purpose Ordinances 

Management of certain land use activities may also be addressed in a special-

purpose, general-law ordinance. These general-law ordinances can sometimes be 
more effective than a zoning ordinance in advancing the vision of this Master Plan. 

Tyrone Township currently has the following general-law ordinances that are related 

to land use or development: 

➢ Beautification (Ordinance 30B) 

➢ Cabarets; Licensing and Operation (Ordinance 18) 

➢ Extractive Industrial Regulatory (Ordinance 21) 

➢ Lake Tyrone Sewer (Ordinance 29) 

➢ Marihuana, Prohibition of Establishments (Ordinance 48) 

➢ Motorcycles and Terrain Vehicles (Ordinance 14) 

➢ Open Burning (Ordinance 44C) 

➢ Outdoor Gatherings (Ordinance 3) 

➢ Residential Outdoor Lighting (Ordinance 49) 

➢ Sewer Use and Rate (Ordinance 43A) 

➢ Snowmobiles and Terrain Vehicles (Ordinance 13) 

➢ Subdivisions (Ordinance 16) 

➢ Truck Route (Ordinance 38B) 

Examples of other common general-law ordinances that are related to land use or 

development include: 

➢ Anti-blight 

➢ Adult-oriented entertainment 

➢ Dangerous buildings 

➢ Natural features preservation for greenspace and/or new development 

➢ Private roads 

➢ Property maintenance 

➢ Purchase of development rights 

➢ Wetland protection 

➢ Signs 

➢ Dark Skys 

Following adoption of this Master Plan, the Township should review its existing 

general law ordinances related to land use and make any changes necessary to 
ensure consistency with and promote the vision of this Master Plan. Review should 



Implementation Strategies Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 12-4 

also focus on ensuring consistency with changes to state acts, recent case law, and 

other Township ordinances. 

The Township should also consider development of other general law ordinances 

related to land use, including removing certain parts from its Zoning Ordinance, that 
may help the Township better achieve the vision of this Master Plan. 

 

12.5    Partnerships and Coordination 

Partnering and coordinating with other agencies and entities ensures efficient use of 
resources and maximum benefit for Tyrone Township. The Township should continue 
to work closely with neighboring communities to understand regional demands and 

needs.  

The Township has established a record of working with other agencies, including 

federal, state, county, and local, to promote the orderly development and 
redevelopment of the community. That cooperation should continue into the future 
in order to implement and sustain the goals in this plan.  

Potential Housing Partners 

Residential development within the Township has been primarily by individual 

property owners or larger residential developers. Although this Master Plan does not 
propose any changes to this, there are potential partners that the Township can work 
with to maintain existing housing stock and improve access to various forms of 

residential development. 

➢ Michigan State Housing Development Authority 

➢ Oakland Livingston Human Services Agency 

➢ Private developers 

Potential Economic Partners 

In order to facilitate and incentives the unique types of development the township 
desires, it should engage and/or maintain communication with the agencies outlined 

below.  

➢ Economic Development Council of Livingston County 

➢ Ann Arbor Spark 

➢ SBDC in Ann Arbor 

➢ Michigan Economic Development Agency (MEDA) 

Potential Natural Resources Partners 

The Township should work with the Livingston County Drain Commissioner, lake 

associations, and the Shiawassee Conservation District to promote improvements to 
water quality. 

The Township should work with the Livingston Land Conservancy, Legacy Land 

Conservancy, Southeast Michigan Land Conservancy, and other land conservation 
entities to promote preservation of agricultural lands and undeveloped natural lands. 



Implementation Strategies Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 12-5 

➢ Environmental Great Lakes and Energy (EGLE) 

 

Potential Transportation Partners 

The Township should work with the Livingston County Road Commission and the 
Michigan Department of Transportation to plan and manage road maintenance and 
improvements and potential nonmotorized pathways and commuter parking lots. 

➢ Livingston County Road Commission 

➢ Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) 

➢ Livingston County  

➢ Flint Transportation (MTA) 

Potential Community Facilities Partners 

To help maintain quality services and amenities, the Township should work with the 
organizations listed to understand the current status of these organizations as well 

as their capacity to adjust as development and community needs change.  

➢ Fenton Area Public School District, Hartland Consolidated School District & 
Linden Community School District 

➢ Livingston County Parks 

➢ DTE / ITC 

➢ Livingston County Sheriff Department  

➢ Fenton Fire Department, Fenton Township Fire Department and Hartland 
Deerfield Fire Authority 

 

12.6    Capital Improvement Plan 

Capital improvement plans are a planning and fiscal tool that helps to coordinate the 
location, timing, and funding of major, non-recurring expenditures over a period of 6 

years. It helps facilitate the orderly planning of and investment in infrastructure and 
other significant improvements. 

The Goals, Objectives, and Policies of this Master Plan should be reflected in any 
capital improvement plan adopted by the Township. 

A capital improvement plan can have a significant impact on the extent, timing, and 

nature of development. For example, infrastructure improvements on sanitary sewer 
systems or roads support and encourage development in those areas and discourage 

development in other areas because of their absence. 

Potential areas to address or include in a capital improvement plan include the 

following: 

➢ Repair and paving of primary and local county roads 

➢ Gravelling, grading, dust control, and ditching of county gravel roads 



Implementation Strategies Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 12-6 

➢ New Non-Motorized Pathways 

➢ Public Access to Lakes 

➢ Maintenance and operation improvements to the sanitary sewer system 

➢ Expansion of the sanitary sewer system service area 

➢ Clean-out, maintenance, and repair of county drains 

➢ Improving fire and rescue, police, and emergency medical service capabilities 

➢ Assessing and increasing internet/broadband access 

➢ Park improvements 

Although the Township does not have full control over all of the above activities, it 
can partner with the responsible entities. Having a clear plan and available funding 
for a project can help that project qualify for additional funding and an expedited 

schedule. 

Funding for elements of a capital improvement plan can come from a variety of 

sources, including Township general funds, dedicated millages, assessments, user 
fees, or grants. 

 

12.7    Master Plan Updates 

This Master Plan should not become a static document. As referenced in the 
Overview, The Planning Commission should review it on an annual basis and identify 
portions that may need updating. The Planning Enabling Act requires communities to 

review their master plans within five years of adoption and determine whether or not 
amendments or a new master plan is necessary.   

Amendments to this Master Plan require a similar process as the original adoption, 
including notification of interested parties and a public hearing. In addition to any 
changes in the text or maps of this Master Plan, details of the amendment adoption 

process should also be documented. 

Updating Background Information 

This Master Plan is based on certain assumptions based on existing conditions and 
anticipated changes in the Township, which have been documented in the background 
articles. It is important to regularly review this background information to determine 

if it is still valid and accurate. 

If this background information has changed, the Planning Commission should 

determine what the changes mean for the goals, objectives, and policies of this 
Master Plan. 

Areas to pay special attention to include: 

➢ Population.  This Master Plan is based on population trends and 
characteristics that are documented in the Social Analysis Article.  

Changes in population trends or characteristics can impact the need and 
demand for different types of development and services. 



Implementation Strategies Article 
Draft 08.21.2023 
 

  

 12-7 

➢ Development Pressures.  This Master Plan assumes moderate 

development pressures for certain areas in the Township, primarily for 
residential and for certain types of commercial along the western side 

of US-23. 

➢ Residential Development.  This Master Plan assumes relatively stable 
growth in the number of dwelling units, primarily with single-family 

dwellings, as documented in the Housing Analysis Article. 

➢ Commercial Development.  This Master Plan assumes the need for 

most commercial development, including industrial development, is 
likely to be satisfied in surrounding communities. 

➢ Agricultural Uses.  This Master Plan assumes challenges for 

continuation of large-scale commercial agricultural operations, due to 
the limited number of large tracts of land and other development 

pressures. 

➢ Adjacent Communities.  This Master Plan assumes that adjacent 
communities will continue with the general vision outlined in their Future 

Land Use Maps. Significant deviations from these visions may create 
unanticipated impacts on and opportunities for the Township. 

➢ Transportation.  This Master Plan does not anticipate significant 
improvements to the road system or paving of unpaved roads.  Road 
system improvements could impact the ability of an area to support 

development. 

➢ Utilities.  This Master Plan does not anticipate expansion of sanitary 

sewer systems beyond what has previously been identified by the 
Township. Sanitary sewer system expansion could have a significant 
impact on the ability of an area to support development.   

➢ Community Facilities.  This Master Plan anticipates moderate 
expansion of community facilities and services as needs adjust. The 

expansion or increased facilitation of public service could have a 
significant impact on development interest in the community.  

 

 

[End of Implementation Strategies Article.] 

 

[Page left intentionally blank.] 



 

Benjamin R. Carlisle, President   Douglas J. Lewan, Executive Vice President   John L. Enos, Vice President 

David Scurto, Principal   Sally M. Elmiger, Principal   R. Donald Wortman, Principal 

Paul Montagno, Principal,   Megan Masson-Minock, Principal,    Laura Kreps, Senior Associate 

Richard K. Carlisle, Past President/Senior Principal 

 
 
TO:  Tyrone Township Board of Trustees & Tyrone Township Planning Commission 
 
FROM:   Doug Lewan, AICP, PCP, Megan Masson-Minock, AICP & Matteo Passalacqua 
 
DATE:   August 28, 2023 
 
RE:  Master Plan Review Session  

 
Tyrone Township Trustees and Planning Commissioners, 
 
Attached are the following materials for the upcoming Joint Master Plan Review Meeting Sept 5th, 2023: 
 

• Master Plan Draft 

• 2012 / 2023 Master Plan Review Notes 

• Process Timeline 
 
This information is to provide context for a conversation about the 2023 Master Plan update.  Please 
review in preparation for the upcoming meeting.  
 
We look forward to meeting with you. Thank you for your time and please do not hesitate to reach out if 
you have any questions. 
 

                                                     

 
 
 



TASK 

Month (2023) 
Comments 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
 

May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

1.1: Inventory Existing Land Uses         Completed 

1.2: Develop Future Land Use         Completed 

1.3: Develop Implementation Plan         Completed 

1.4: Prepare Initial Draft         Completed 

1.5: Prepare Distribution Draft         
Distribution draft to be approved by Planning Commission and Township 

Board. 

*Wait for Reviews*         
Surrounding communities and interested parties have 63 days to offer 

comments. 

1.6: Conduct Public Hearing         Planning Commission holds public hearing. 

1.7: Prepare Final Draft 
        

Final draft per Planning Commission revisions. 

1.8: Adoption! 

        
Adoption by Planning Commission or Township Board by resolution. 

*Based on Planning Commission input on sections to be completed. 



 

Benjamin R. Carlisle, President   Douglas J. Lewan, Executive Vice President   John L. Enos, Vice President 

David Scurto, Principal   Sally M. Elmiger, Principal   R. Donald Wortman, Principal 

Paul Montagno, Principal,   Megan Masson-Minock, Principal,    Laura Kreps, Senior Associate 

Richard K. Carlisle, Past President/Senior Principal 

 

2012 / 2023 Master Plan Review Notes 
 
To aid in the review of the 2023 Master Plan Draft, CWA has outlined some notable changes as it relates 
to the Goals & Objectives and Future Land Use sections of both plans. While all portions of each plan are 
important, these sections provide definitive actions and direction for Township Trustee’s and 
Commissioners to utilize when making decisions about the direction the Township is to proceed as it 
relates to planning, development, land use and several other important considerations. 
   
Goals and Objectives (2012 MP Sec. Goals and Objectives / 2023 MP Article 10) 
 

• Residential Development  
 

Both plans refer to the Township’s desire to maintain and promote low density quality housing. 
The 2023 plan bolsters this objective by bringing awareness to land division practices, enhanced 
setbacks, lot coverage ratios, buffer zones and preservation requirements. There is also additional 
information regarding the desire to limit overcrowding on lakes, selective infrastructure 
investment and varied dwelling unit sizes including provisions for senior housing.  
 
One item of importance is the addition of language relating to mobile home communities. This 
language outlines the Townships position to monitor mobile home demand in the region to 
ensure the Township is providing fair accommodations to the housing option in its land use 
planning practices. There is also mention of aligning mobile housing with infrastructure planning 
to ensure there is adequate services available to support the use.  
 

• Commercial, Industrial and Non-Residential Development 
 

US-23 remains the focus of the 2023 Master Plan as a corridor designated to facilitate commercial 
and industrial uses. In order to accommodate the changes in development over the past 10 years, 
the 2023 draft refers to the encouragement of redeveloping some existing commercial properties 
and keeping development focus and infrastructure improvements in step with community goals.  
 
Considerations for home occupations and agritourism are introduced as means to promote the 
preservation of the Township’s rural character. Traditional rural preservation techniques such as 
conducive landscaping, low intensity commercial and industrial uses and buffers are reinforced as 
important factors to consider for future development.  

 

• Natural Environment, Open Space and Recreation 
 

The 2012 Master Plan provides general practices and policy considerations regarding preservation 
and natural areas. These include securing or protecting natural wet and woodlands, promotion of 
pathways for non-motorized transit or recreation, clustering development and outreach to 
residents on the importance of these community features.  



 

2012 / 2023 Master Plan Review Notes 

1 

 

To aid in this important consideration, the current draft contains supplemental tools for 
preserving the natural environment and features. Some of the notable additions are the 
consideration of a “Dark Skys” ordinance, promotion of the consolidation of nonconforming lots, 
discouragement of parcel fragmentation, incorporation of natural features into new 
development, promotion of planned unit developments and the potential for the Township to 
consider purchasing development rights and/or land it seeks to shelter from development.  
 
When considering development rights, it should be noted that these endeavors require dedicated 
financial support to acquire and facilitate. If of interest to Township personnel and residents, 
further research should be conducted to assess the feasibility, capacity and overall support to 
establish this preservation mechanism.  
 

• Community Facilities and Services 
 

As a continuation of the goal to provide efficient and quality services to residents, both plans refer 
to emergency service delivery, water/sewer infrastructure and trash pickup services. The 2023 
draft adds detail and context to these items in the form of consideration for limiting intense 
development per critical service availability, inclusion of recreational facilities as part of new 
residential developments, streamlining of trash disposal services and consistent coordination 
between the varying external departments servicing the community.  
 

• Infrastructure / Transportation 
 

While its own section in the 2012 Master Plan, Infrastructure was broken out into all facets of the 
2023 draft as a tool to coordinate and direct the type of development the Township is seeking. 
There are various mentions of infrastructure being implemented in areas where development is 
desirable and/or should be limited. There is also reference to implementing infrastructure to 
protect above and below ground bodies of water. 
 
The 2023 draft expands on the infrastructure element by providing transportation considerations 
as a mechanism for sustainable development. Reference is made to concentrating high intensity 
development along paved roads and evaluating truck routes. There is also the recommendation 
of an official carpool lot to aid the commuting population.  

 
Future Land Use (2012 MP Sec. Future Land Use Plan / 2023 MP Draft Article 11) 
 

• Land Use Designations 
 
The 2012 Master Plan has 13 different land use designations. These zones are meant to define all 
types of uses ranging from residential, commercial, industrial, public, recreation, research and 
office accompanied by the amount of land dedicated to them. In an attempt to clarify and 
streamline the intent of these designations, the 2023 draft consolidated Planned Office, Planned 
Industrial Research Office, Planned Commercial Industrial and Planned Commercial Services into 
Planned Industrial and Planned Commercial. Agricultural/Residential and Residential/Natural 
Resource Preservation were consolidated into Agricultural/Natural for residential and farming 
considerations. This allowed for better defined direction for land use in the Township by removing 
different labels for similar uses.  

 



 

2012 / 2023 Master Plan Review Notes 

2 

 

• Future Land Use Map 
 

In determining the best way to apply these consolidated uses to the 2023 Future Land Use Map, 
zones were assigned using parcel boundaries as opposed to freeform delineations. The intent was 
to reduce confusion on the future use of the land in question and paint a broad but defined picture 
of how the Township plans to guide future development.   
 
Attached are the 2012 and 2023 Future Land Use Maps for reference.  
 

 
 

Thank you again for your time and the opportunity to assist in the updating of your Master Plan.     
 
           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

2012 / 2023 Master Plan Review Notes 

3 

 

2012 Future Land Use Map 

 



 

2012 / 2023 Master Plan Review Notes 

4 

 

2023 Future Land Use Map DRAFT 
 

 



NEW BUSINESS #2 
 

 Resolution confirming the Parkin Lane Seasonal Road 
Maintenance Special Assessment Roll. 

 



 

 

 

RESOLUTION #230901 

TYRONE TOWNSHIP, LIVINGSTON COUNTY 

 

PARKIN LANE SEASONAL ROAD MAINTENANCE PROJECT 2023 

 

RESOLUTION CONFIRMING SPECIAL ASSESSMENT ROLL 

 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has taken the necessary actions under Act No. 188, 

Public Acts of Michigan, 1954, as amended (“Act 188”) for the establishment of contractors for 

the seasonal snow clearing, road salting, and general road maintenance of Parkin Lane in the 

Township as described in Exhibit A (the “Project”), and for the establishment of the Tyrone 

Township Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Project (2023) Special Assessment District 

(the “Special Assessment District”); 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has determined that it is necessary to cause special 

assessments to be levied against the lands especially benefited by the Project to pay the 

Township’s obligations on the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has directed the Township Supervisor to prepare a 

proposed special assessment roll (the “Special Assessment Roll”) against the lands especially 

benefited by the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Township Supervisor has prepared the Special Assessment Roll and has 

filed the Special Assessment Roll with the Township Clerk; 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has scheduled a public hearing on the Proposed Roll 

and notice of the hearing has been properly provided; 

WHEREAS, the Township Board conducted the public hearing on the Proposed Roll on 

September 5, 2023. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

1. Roll Confirmed.  In accordance with Act No. 188 and the laws of the State of 

Michigan, the Township Board hereby confirms the special assessment roll for the Tyrone 

Township Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Project (2023) (the “Roll”). 

2. Future Installments - Principal.  The Township Board determines that each special 

assessment may be paid in ten (10) annual installments.  The first installment shall be due on 

December 1, 2023.  Each subsequent installment shall be due at intervals 12 months from the due 

date of the first installment.  



 

Resolution #230901 

Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Project 2023 

3. Future Installments - Interest.  All unpaid installments shall bear interest, payable 

annually on each installment due date, at a rate equal to [five] percent ([5]%) per annum.  

Interest on such unpaid installments shall accrue from its due date. 

4. Warrant.  The Township Clerk is hereby directed to attach a warrant (in the form 

of Exhibit B to this resolution) to the Roll and to deliver such warrant and the Roll to the 

Township Treasurer, who shall thereupon collect the special assessments in accordance with the 

terms of this resolution, the Clerk’s warrant and the statutes of the State of Michigan. 

5. Inconsistent Prior Resolutions.  All previously adopted resolutions that are in 

conflict with this resolution are repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

A vote on the foregoing resolution was taken and was as follows: 

RESOLVED BY: 

SUPPORTED BY: 

VOTE: 

ADOPTION DATE: September 5, 2023 

 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CLERK 
 

The undersigned, being the duly qualified and acting Clerk of Tyrone Township, Livingston 

County, Michigan, hereby certifies that (1) the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a 

resolution adopted by the Township Board at a regular meeting, held on September 5, 2023, at 

which meeting a quorum was present and remained throughout, (2) the original thereof is on file 

in the records in my office, (3) the meeting was conducted, and public notice thereof was given, 

pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act (Act No. 267, Public Acts of 

Michigan, 1976, as amended) and (4) minutes of such meeting were kept and will be or have 

been made available as required thereby. 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Pamela Moughler 

Township Clerk 



 

Resolution #230901 

Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Project 2023 

____________________________________________ 

Exhibit A 

Description of the Project 

____________________________________________ 

 

 

The project (the “Project”) will consist of the establishment of contractors for seasonal 

snow clearing, road salting, and general road maintenance of Parkin Lane in Tyrone Township. 



 

Resolution #230901 

Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Project 2023 

 

____________________________________________ 

Exhibit B 

Warrant 

____________________________________________ 

 

 

WARRANT 

 

 

TO: Treasurer 

Tyrone Township 

Livingston County, Michigan 

I certify that attached to this Warrant is a true copy of the special assessment roll for the 

Tyrone Township Parkin Lane Seasonal Road Maintenance Project (2023) confirmed by the 

Township Board on September 5, 2023 (the “Confirming Resolution”).  You are hereby directed 

to proceed to collect the amounts due on such roll in accordance with this Warrant, the 

Confirming Resolution and the statutes of the State of Michigan. 

       

____________________________ 

Pamela Moughler 

Tyrone Township Clerk 

 

 

 









NEW BUSINESS #3 
 

Request of the Clerk to attend the MTA Clerk’s 
Professional Development Retreat. 

 




